## Student Handbooks

(District Policies and Guidance)

2023-24



## **Lincoln Parish Schools**

#### **Vision Statement**

A Quality Education for a Quality Life

## **Mission Statement**

To ensure higher academic achievement for all students and prepare them to be effective citizens

This handbook is updated at www.lincolnschools.org as policies and procedures are approved.

Revised: August 2023

## **Table of Contents**

ABSENCES AND EXCUSES	4
ATTENDANCE	
STUDENT DRIVERS ATTENDANCE REPORTS	8
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH SERVICES FOR STUDENTS	
TEACHER BILL OF RIGHTS	12
BULLYING AND HAZING	13
CORPORAL PUNISHMENT	19
SCHOOL BUS STANDARDS OF SAFETY AND CONDUCT	19
LINCOLN PARISH SCHOOL CALENDAR	21
DIRECTORY INFORMATION	
ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN EMPLOYEES AND STUDENTS	23
ELECTRONIC TELECOMMUNICATION DEVICES	
ACCEPTABLE USE POLICY FOR SCHOOL COMPUTER SYSTEMS AND INTERNET USE	
STUDENT CONDUCT	
SEXUALLY RELATED STUDENT MISCONDUCT	
DETENTION	
DISCIPLINE	
DRESS CODE	
DRUG AND ALCOHOL USE	
DUE PROCESS	
EQUAL EDUCATION OPPORTUNITIES	
SECTION 504	
EXPULSION	
DANGEROUS WEAPONS	
GANG ACTIVITY	
GRADING PERIODS AND SCALES.	
HEALTH and MEDICAL	
ACCIDENTS and MEDICAL INSURANCE	
IMMUNIZATIONS	
COMMUNICABLE DISEASES	
ADMINISTRATION OF MEDICATION	
HOMELESS CHILDREN AND YOUTH	
HOMEWORK ASSISTANCE	
ILLNESS AND ACCIDENTS	
PARENT AND FAMILY ENGAGEMENT	
PARENTAL RIGHTS/STUDENT RIGHTS OF PRIVACY	
PUBLIC CONDUCT ON SCHOOL PROPERTY	
SAFETY	
EMERGENCY CRISIS MANAGEMENT	71
SCHOOL AND STUDENT SAFETY	
SEXUAL HARASSMENT EXAMPLES.	
TITLE IX SEXUAL HARASSMENT	
SEARCHES	
SERVICE ANIMALS IN SCHOOLS	
SERVICE ANIMALS IN SCHOOLS  STUDENT PRIVACY AND EDUCATION RECORDS	
STUDENT FRIVACT AND EDUCATION RECORDSSTUDENT FEES, FINES AND CHARGES	
SUSPENSION	
JUDI 11.101UI	91

TITLE IX	95
STUDENT USE OF TOBACCO PRODUCTS	
TRANSFER GUIDELINES	
TRUANCY	
VISITORS	
SIGNATURE PAGE	

## **ABSENCES AND EXCUSES**

The Lincoln Parish School Board recognizes that the fundamental right to attend the public schools places upon students the accompanying responsibility to be faithful in attendance. Regular attendance can be assumed to be essential for a student's successful progress in the instructional program.

The parent or legal guardian shall enforce the attendance of the student at the school to which the student is assigned.

The principal of a school, or his/her designee, shall notify the parent or legal guardian in writing on or before a student's *third* unexcused absence or unexcused occurrence of being tardy, and shall hold a conference with such student's parent or legal guardian. This notification shall include information relative to the parent or legal guardian's legal responsibility to enforce the student's attendance at school and the civil penalties that may be incurred if the student is determined to be habitually absent or habitually tardy. The student's parent or legal guardian shall sign a receipt for such notification.

Each school shall attempt to provide verbal notification to a child's parent, tutor, or legal guardian, and, if such verbal notification cannot be provided, then the school shall provide written notification to a child's parent, tutor, or legal guardian when that child has been absent from school for five (5) school days in schools operating on a semester basis, and for ten (10) days in schools not operating on a semester basis. The accumulation of days absent need not be consecutive.

No public elementary or secondary school student shall be permitted for any reason to absent himself/herself from school attendance during the school day upon his/her own authority, unless legally emancipated. The principal or designee shall make all reasonable efforts to verbally notify the parent or other person responsible for the student's school attendance of any such prohibited absence by a student.

#### TYPES OF ABSENCES

The days absent for elementary and secondary school students shall include *non-exempted excused absences*, *exempted excused absences*, and *suspensions*.

- 1. *Non-exempted excused absences* are absences incurred due to personal illness or serious illness in the family (documented by acceptable excuses, including a parental note) which are not considered for purposes of truancy, but which are considered when determining whether or not a student is eligible to make up work and tests, receive credit for work completed, and receive credit for a course and/or school year completed.
- 2. Exempted excused absences are absences which are not considered for purposes of truancy and which are not considered when determining whether or not a student is eligible to make up work and tests, receive credit for work completed, and receive credit for a course and/or school year completed.
- 3. Unexcused absences are any absences not meeting the requirements set forth in the excused absences and extenuating circumstances definitions, including but not limited to absences due to any job (including agriculture and domestic services, even in the student's own home or for their own parents or tutors) unless it is a part of an approved instructional program. Students shall be given failing grades for those days missed and shall not be given an opportunity to make up work.
- 4. *Suspensions* are non-exempted absences for which a student is allowed to make up his/her work and is eligible for consideration for credit provided it is completed satisfactorily and in a timely manner. The absence shall be considered when determining whether or not a student may or may not be promoted, but shall not be

considered for purposes of truancy. Students absent from school as a result of any suspension shall be counted as absent.

### **EXTENUATING CIRCUMSTANCES**

Exceptions to the attendance regulation shall be the enumerated extenuating circumstances below that are verified by the Supervisor of Child Welfare and Attendance or the school principal/designee where indicated. These exempted absences do not apply in determining whether a student meets the minimum minutes of instruction required to receive credit.

- 1. Extended personal physical or emotional illness as verified by a physician or nurse practitioner licensed in the state.
- 2. Extended hospital stay in which a student is absent as verified by a physician or dentist.
- 3. Extended recuperation from an accident in which a student is absent as verified by a physician, dentist, or nurse practitioner licensed in the state.
- 4. Extended contagious disease within a family in which a student is absent as verified by a physician or dentist licensed in the state.
- 5. Quarantine due to prolonged exposure to or direct contact with a person diagnosed with a contagious, deadly, disease, as ordered by state or local health officials.
- 6. Observance of special and recognized holidays of the student's own faith.
- 7. Visitation with a parent who is a member of the United States Armed Forces or the National Guard of a state and such parent has been called to duty for or is on leave from overseas deployment to a combat zone or combat support posting. Excused absences in this situation shall not exceed five (5) school days per school year.
- 8. Absences as verified by the principal or his/her designee as stated below:
  - A. Prior school system-approved travel for education;
  - B. Death in the immediate family (not to exceed one week); or,
  - C. Natural catastrophe and/or disaster.
- 9. Expectant and parenting high school students shall be granted excused absences as delineated in policy *JOE*, *Expectant and Parenting Students*.

For any other extenuating circumstances, the student's parents or legal guardian must make a formal appeal in accordance with the due process procedures established by the school system.

Students who are verified as meeting extenuating circumstances, and therefore eligible to receive grades shall not receive those grades if they are unable to complete makeup work or pass the course.

#### MENTAL OR BEHAVIORAL HEALTH ABSENCES (added 2023-24)

A student may be absent for up to three (3) days in any school year related to the student's mental or behavioral health, and such absences shall be excused if certification is provided in writing in accordance with the student handbook. The student shall be given the opportunity to make up any school work missed during such absences. Following the second day of absence in any school year, the student shall be referred to the

appropriate school support personnel for help addressing the underlying issue, which may include referral to medical services outside of the school setting.

#### SCHOOL-APPROVED ACTIVITIES

Students participating in school-approved field trips or other instructional activities that necessitate their being away from school shall be considered to be present and shall be given the opportunity to make up work.

#### **CHILD PERFORMERS**

Minors employed to perform or render artistic or creative services under a contract or employment arrangement for two (2) or more days within a 30-day period must receive instruction pursuant to statutory provisions.

#### WRITTEN EXCUSES

For a student to be eligible to receive credit and make up work following an absence, the student shall be required in each instance to submit parental confirmation of the reasons for the absence. If a student is tardy or absent, the parent or guardian must submit a written excuse, signed and dated, to school authorities upon the student's return to classes, stating the reason for the student's absence from school. A doctor's, dentist's, or nurse practitioner's written statement of student's incapacity to attend school shall be required for those absences for three (3) or more consecutive days due to illness, contagious illness in a family, hospitalization, or accidents. All excuses for a student's absence, including medical verification of extended personal illness, must be presented within five (5) school days of the student's return to school, or the student's absence shall be considered unexcused and the student not allowed to make up work missed.

#### REPORTING ABSENCES

The attendance of all school students shall be checked each school day and at the beginning of each class period and shall be verified by the teacher keeping such record, which shall be open to inspection by the Supervisor of Child Welfare and Attendance or duly authorized representative at all reasonable times. All schools shall immediately report to the Supervisor of Child Welfare and Attendance any unexplained, unexcused, or illegal absence, or habitual tardiness.

The Supervisor of Child Welfare and Attendance shall, after written notice to the parent or legal guardian of a child, or a personal visit of notification, report any such child who is habitually absent or who is habitually tardy to the family or juvenile court of the parish as a truant child, there to be dealt with in such manner as the court may determine.

#### APPEAL OF ABSENCES

When a student exceeds the maximum number of absences allowed the parents or student may make a formal appeal to the principal if they feel any of the absences are because of extenuating circumstances. If they feel that the decision is unfavorable, they shall appeal to the Superintendent or his/her designee. After a review by the Superintendent or his/her designee, a decision shall be made and communicated to the parents or legal guardian by letter.

High school students in danger of failing due to excessive absences may be allowed to make up missed time in class sessions held outside the regular class time. The make-up sessions must be completed before the end of the current semester and all other applicable policies must also be met.

#### **TARDINESS**

A student shall be considered tardy to class if the student is not in the classroom when the bell to begin class ceases. A student shall be considered tardy to school if the student is not in his/her homeroom/first period class when the bell to begin homeroom/class ceases. Tardy shall also mean leaving or checking out of school unexcused prior to the regularly scheduled dismissal. Habitual tardiness on the part of students shall not be tolerated.

Students who exhibit habitual tardiness shall be subject to disciplinary action, appropriate under the circumstances. Parents of students who continue to be tardy shall be notified for a conference with the principal, and the student may be subject to suspension from school and the parent/legal guardian subject to court fines or community service.

#### **ATTENDANCE**

In accordance with state law, it is the responsibility of every parent, tutor, or legal guardian of a child between the ages of seven (7) and eighteen (18) to enforce the attendance of his or her child at the school to which the student is assigned. Once a pupil arrives at school, he/she is expected to remain and attend each class throughout the day.

A student is considered to be in attendance when he or she is physically present at a school site or is participating in an authorized school activity and is under the supervision of authorized personnel. This definition for attendance would extend to students who are homebound, assigned to and participating in drug rehabilitation programs that contain a state-approved education component, participating in school-authorized field trips or other school-approved activities, or taking a state-approved virtual course.

- *Half-day attendance* A student is considered to be in attendance for one-half day when he or she (1) is physically present at a school site or is participating in an authorized school activity and (2) is under the supervision of authorized personnel for more than 25% but not more than half (26%-50%) of the student's instructional day.
- Whole-day attendance A student is considered to be in attendance for a whole day when he or she (1) is physically present at a school site or is participating in an authorized school activity and (2) is under the supervision of authorized personnel for more than 50% (51%-100%) of the student's instructional day.

Compulsory attendance laws and Louisiana Board of Elementary and Secondary Education (BESE) regulations require high school students to be in attendance a minimum of 30,060 minutes (equivalent to 83.5 six-hour school days) per semester or 60,120 minutes (equivalent to 167 six-hour school days) a school year for schools not operating on a semester basis in order to be eligible to receive credit for courses taken.

Elementary students shall be in attendance a minimum of 60,120 minutes (equivalent to 167 six-hour days) a school year in order to be eligible to receive credit for courses taken.

Students in danger of failing due to excessive absences may be allowed to make up missed time in class sessions held outside the regular class time. The make-up sessions must be completed before the end of the current semester and all other applicable policies must be met.

#### ATTENDANCE FOR REMOTE OR HYBRID INSTRUCTION

During remote or hybrid instruction, students are considered to be in attendance when attendance is checked and recorded on each school day at the beginning of each class period in accordance with La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:232, and Bulletin 741, *Louisiana Handbook for School Administrators*, and one of the following requirements is met:

- The student logs into synchronous online instruction at the designated time for the course in which the student is enrolled.
- Evidence exists that the student accessed a planned asynchronous instructional activity.

*Remote instruction* is an educational model in which the student and educator are not physically present in a traditional classroom environment where instruction may be facilitated by the use of computers, technology, and the internet.

Hybrid instruction is instruction provided via a combination of face-to-face and remote models.

#### **JURISDICTION**

All students shall be under the jurisdiction of the school during normal school hours, from the time the student arrives at school each day until he or she leaves the school campus in the afternoon. In case a student rides a bus, he or she shall be under the jurisdiction of the school from the time he or she boards the bus until the student exits the bus in the afternoon. Students shall be under the jurisdiction of the school while attending any school sponsored activity either at school or away from school. This shall apply to all students, including athletic teams, pep clubs, band and other student organizations. In disciplinary matters, the School Board's authority may extend beyond the limits set forth above, in accordance with state law.

#### File: JBH

### ATTENDANCE REPORTS FOR STUDENT DRIVERS

In accordance with state law, students are obligated to attend school regularly, and be in attendance a minimum number of days during the school year. In order for a minor to obtain or renew a driver's license or learner's permit for the operation of a motor vehicle, the minor shall present evidence to the *Office of Motor Vehicles* that the minor is enrolled and is attending school or a recognized program or has completed the required minimum units of credit for graduation. Upon request of any minor who is enrolled and attending a school and who is eligible to apply for a driver's license, the Superintendent, principal, or appropriate designee shall provide to him/her documentation of his/her meeting the required attendance requirements.

A student who does not meet the required minimum school attendance provisions may be subject to denial or suspension of his/her driver's license or learner's permit. It is the policy of the Lincoln Parish School Board to provide written notification of a minor student who has been determined by the principal to be a dropout or habitually absent or tardy to the Louisiana *Office of Motor Vehicles* for denial or suspension of driving privileges.

In addition, a minor student's driver's license or permit may also be suspended when written notification is received by the *Office of Motor Vehicles* from the principal that the minor student has been expelled or suspended from school or assigned to an alternative educational setting for ten (10) or more consecutive school days. Such disciplinary action shall be limited to expulsions, suspensions, or alternative educational

assignments for infractions involving the sale or possession of drugs, alcohol, or any other illegal substance, the possession of a firearm, or an infraction involving assault or battery of a member of the school faculty or staff.

The School Board, through the principal, shall provide written notification to any minor whom the principal has determined to be a dropout or habitually absent or tardy and his/her parent or guardian that the principal intends to subject the minor to driver's license denial or suspension. The written notification shall advise the minor of his/her right to seek a hearing of the School Board of such determination or to make a request of the School Board to obtain a hardship waiver within fifteen (15) days of the mailing of the notification. The principal shall send a copy of the notification to the School Board.

If the School Board is notified of a request for a hearing or a request for a hardship license within fifteen (15) days after the date of mailing the written notification, a hearing shall be held before the Superintendent or his/her designee(s). If no such request is received by the School Board, or if it is determined after a hearing that such student is a dropout or is habitually absent or tardy and is not entitled to a hardship waiver, then the School Board shall provide written notification to the *Office of Motor Vehicles* that the minor's license should be suspended or denied.

#### HARDSHIP WAIVER

The School Board may waive the attendance requirements for any minor for whom a personal, family, or economic hardship requires the minor to have a driver's license for his/her own, or his/her family's employment or medical care as provided in La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:226. The minor or his/her parent or legal guardian may present other evidence that indicates compliance with attendance requirements outlined in state law at the waiver hearing.

The School Board shall notify the *Office of Motor Vehicles* of the outcome of the minor's hardship waiver hearing within twenty-four (24) hours after conducting the hearing.

#### **DEFINITIONS**

Dropout, for purposes of this policy, means a person fifteen (15) years of age or older but less than eighteen (18) years old, who was enrolled in a school and withdrew or who was enrolled at the end of the previous school year and is not enrolled on October first of the following school year or who has more than ten (10) consecutive days of unexcused absences from school or fifteen (15) days total unexcused absences during a single semester.

*Dropout* does not mean a person who:

- 1. is temporarily absent due to illness, suspension, or expulsion;
- 2. is attending or has graduated or completed another educational program approved by the Louisiana Board of Elementary and Secondary Education;
- 3. transferred to a nonpublic school, a correctional institution, or an approved home school program or moved out of state.

Habitually absent or tardy is when either condition continues to exist after all reasonable efforts by a principal or other appropriate authority have failed to correct the condition after the fifth (5<sup>th</sup>) unexcused absence or fifth (5<sup>th</sup>) unexcused occurrence of being tardy within any month or if a pattern of five (5) absences a month is established or as otherwise provided in La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:233.

*Minor* means an unemancipated child who is at least fifteen (15) years of age but less than eighteen (18) years of age.

#### BEHAVIORAL HEALTH SERVICES FOR STUDENTS

The Lincoln Parish School Board recognizes the connection between a student's social, emotional, and mental well-being and the student's academic success. The School Board desires to assist students in developing the social and emotional skills needed for participation in the educational environment and society at large. In addition to any support services provided by the School Board, the School Board shall allow behavioral health providers to provide behavioral health services to a student at school during school hours if the student's parent or legal guardian provides a written request for such behavioral health provider and services to the Superintendent or Superintendent's designee, and all other requirements of La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§17:173 and 17:3996, this policy, and any administrative procedures are met.

A behavioral health provider who provides services according to this policy shall:

- 1. Maintain general liability insurance coverage in an amount not less than \$1,000,000.00 per occurrence and \$1,000,000.00 per aggregate and provide a certificate of insurance naming the public school as the certificate holder.
- 2. Complete a criminal background check conducted by the Louisiana State Police and shall pay all related costs.

Behavioral health services shall be permitted during school hours if the student's parent or legal guardian presents a behavioral health evaluation performed by an evaluator chosen by the parent or legal guardian and the evaluation indicates that the services are necessary during school hours to assist the student with behavioral health impairments that the evaluator determines are interfering with the student's ability to thrive in the educational setting. A behavioral health evaluation presented by the parent or legal guardian of a student shall not be construed as an independent educational evaluation for purposes of determining if a student meets the criteria established for eligibility for special education and related services.

In addition, the parent or legal guardian of a student receiving services from a behavioral service provider shall be required to execute a *consent to release information* form between the provider and the School Board.

Behavioral health services may be provided during instructional time in English, reading, mathematics, and science if the School Board and the behavioral health provider mutually agree that it is in the best interest of the student.

The School Board shall not enter into a contract or an exclusive agreement with a behavioral health provider that prohibits the parent or legal guardian from choosing the behavioral health provider for the student. However the provisions of this paragraph shall not impair any existing contract on the effective date of this policy, or the renewal thereof.

The cost of all behavioral health services provided to a student shall be the sole responsibility of the parent or legal guardian, individually or through an applicable health insurance policy, Medicaid, or other third-party payer, other than the School Board, that has made funds available for the payment for the services provided.

While on a school campus, a behavioral service provider shall comply with, and abide by, the terms of any *Individualized Education Plan, Individualized Accommodation Plan, Section 504 Plan, Behavior Management Plan*, or *Individualized Health Plan* applicable to a student who is a patient of the provider. The services furnished by a provider shall be incorporated into a written treatment plan applicable to a student.

The School Board shall establish reporting requirements for a behavioral health provider related to the student's progress and student and school safety concerns as related to the student's educational program.

The Superintendent shall approve administrative procedures to provide for student safety and effective implementation of this policy.

The School Board may establish sanctions, including termination of a provider's authorization to provide services on any school campus, against a behavioral health provider for failure to comply with the provisions of this policy and associated procedures and/or any other School Board policy and procedures.

#### **DEFINITIONS**

Applied behavior analysis provider shall mean a provider who is licensed, certified, or registered by the Louisiana Behavior Analyst Board and is in good standing to provide applied behavior analysis services.

Applied behavior analysis services shall include the design, implementation, and evaluation of systematic instructional and environmental modifications by an applied behavior analysis provider to produce socially significant improvements in behavior as described in the *Behavior Analyst Practice Act*.

Behavioral health evaluation shall include but not be limited to the following criteria:

- Diagnosis.
- Type of intervention.
- Length of intervention.
- Identification of a student's goals.
- Identification of impact of student behavior on a student's educational program.
- Recommendations for applied behavior analysis services.

Behavioral health provider shall mean a provider who is licensed by the Louisiana Department of Health or a health profession licensing board and is in good standing to provide behavioral health services in Louisiana including but not limited to a psychiatrist, psychologist, medical psychologist, licensed specialist in school psychology, marriage and family therapist, professional counselor, clinical social worker, applied behavioral analysis provider, or a behavioral health provider organization licensed to provide health services in Louisiana.

Behavioral health services shall include but not be limited to individual psychotherapy, family psychotherapy, psychotropic medication management, community psychiatric support and treatment, crisis intervention, and medically necessary applied behavior analysis services.

*Evaluator* shall mean a licensed psychiatrist, psychologist, medical psychologist, licensed specialist in school psychology, professional counselor, marriage and family therapist, or clinical social worker who is certified by the respective board of examiners in Louisiana to provide necessary evaluations and who is not an employee of the School Board or the Louisiana Department of Education.

No provisions of this policy shall be construed to supersede any of the following:

- 1. The authority of a student's Individualized Education Program Team or Section 504 Committee to determine appropriate services for a student pursuant to applicable federal and state.
- 2. The provisions of the Behavioral Health Services Provider Licensing Law or any regulation promulgated by the Louisiana Department of Health pursuant to that law.

3. The provisions of the *Behavior Analysis Practice Act*.

# TEACHER BILL OF RIGHTS (LSA—R.S. 17:416.18)

Respecting the authority of teachers is essential to creating an environment conducive to learning, effective instruction in the classroom, and proper administration of city, parish and other local public schools. To maintain and protect that authority, it is important that teachers, administrators, parents and students are fully informed of the various right conferred upon teachers. Those rights, the Teacher Bill of Rights, are established as follows:

- 1. A teacher has the right to teach free from fear of frivolous lawsuits, including the right to qualified immunity and to a legal defense, and to indemnification by the employing school board, pursuant to R.S. 17:416.1(C), 416.4, 416.5 and 416.11, for actions taken in the performance of duties of the teacher's employment.
- 2. A teacher has the right to appropriately discipline students in accordance with R.S. 17:223 and through 416.6 and any city, parish, or other local public school board regulation.
- 3. A teacher has the right to remove any persistently disruptive student from his classroom when the student's behavior prevents the orderly instruction of other students or when the student displays impudent or defiant behavior and to place the student in the custody of the principal or his designee pursuant to R.S. 17:416(A)(1)(c).
- 4. A teacher has the right to have his or her professional judgment and discretion respected by school and district administrators in any disciplinary action taken by the teacher in accordance with school and district policy and with R.S. 17:416(A)(1)(c).
- 5. A teacher has the right to teach in a safe, secure, and orderly environment that is conducive to learning and free from recognized dangers or hazards that are causing or likely to cause serious injury in accordance with R.S. 17:416.9 and 416.6.
- 6. A teacher has the right to be treated with civility and respect as provided in R.S. 17:416.12.
- 7. A teacher has the right to communicate with and to request the participation of parents in appropriate student disciplinary decisions pursuant to R.S. 17:235.1 and 416(A).
- 8. A teacher has the right to be free from excessively burdensome disciplinary paperwork.
- 9. A beginning teacher has the right to receive leadership and support in accordance with R.S. 17:3881, including the assignment of a qualified, experienced mentor who commits to helping him become a competent, confident professional in the classroom and offers support and assistance as needed to meet performance standards and professional expectations.

\*No city, parish or other local public school board shall establish policies that prevent teachers from exercising the rights provided herein. The provisions of the Teacher Bill of Rights shall not be construed to supersede any other state law, BESE Policy, or city, parish or other local public school board policy enacted or adopted relative to the discipline of students.

#### **BULLYING AND HAZING**

The Lincoln Parish School Board is committed to maintaining a safe, orderly, civil and positive learning environment so that no student is subject to bullying, hazing, or similar behavior while in school or participating in school-related activities. Students and their parents or legal guardians shall be notified that the school, school bus, and all other school environments are to be safe and secure for all. Therefore, all statements or actions of bullying, hazing, or similar behavior made on campus, at school-sponsored activities, or events, on school buses, at school bus stops, and on the way to and from school shall not be tolerated. Even if made in a joking manner, these statements or actions of bullying, hazing, or similar behavior towards other students or school personnel shall be unacceptable.

All students, teachers, and other school employees shall take responsible measures within the scope of their individual authority to prevent violations of this policy.

#### **BULLYING**

Bullying shall mean:

- 1. A pattern of any one or more of the following:
  - A. Gestures, including but not limited to obscene gestures and making faces.
  - B. Written, electronic, or verbal communications, including but not limited to calling names, threatening harm, taunting, malicious teasing, or spreading untrue rumors. *Electronic communication* includes but is not limited to a communication or image transmitted by email, instant message, text message, blog, or social networking website through the use of a telephone, mobile phone, pager, computer, or other electronic device.
  - C. Physical acts, including but not limited to hitting, kicking, pushing, tripping, choking, damaging personal property, or unauthorized use of personal property.
  - D. Repeatedly and purposefully shunning or excluding from activities.
- 2. Where the pattern of behavior as enumerated above is exhibited toward a student, more than once, by another student or group of students and occurs, or is received by, a student while on school property, at a school-sponsored or school-related function or activity, at any designated school bus stop, in any other school bus or any other school or private vehicle used to transport students to and from schools, or any school-sponsored activity or event.
- 3. The pattern of behavior as provided above shall have the effect of physically harming a student, placing the student in reasonable fear of physical harm, damaging a student's property, placing the student in reasonable fear of damage to the student's property, or shall be sufficiently severe, persistent, and pervasive enough to either create an intimidating or threatening educational environment, have the effect of substantially interfering with a student's performance in school, or have the effect of substantially disrupting the orderly operation of the school.

Each elementary and secondary school shall institute a program to prohibit and prevent bullying. The program shall:

1. Define bullying as provided above.

- 2. Ensure each student, each student's parent or legal guardian, and each school administrator, teacher, counselor, bus operator, school employee, and volunteer is aware of his/her duties and responsibilities relative to preventing and stopping bullying.
- 3. Provide for a process for reporting and investigating alleged incidents of bullying.
- 4. Provide for appropriate discipline of a student found guilty of bullying.
- 5. Provide for appropriate remedies for a student found to have been bullied.
- 6. Provide for procedures for investigating and reporting each school administrator, teacher, counselor, bus operator, and school employee for failure to act as provided.

#### HAZING

Hazing shall mean any knowing behavior, whether by commission or omission, of any student to encourage, direct, order, or participate in any activity which subjects another student to potential physical, mental, or psychological harm for the purpose of initiation or admission into, affiliation with, continued membership in, or acceptance by existing members of any organization or extracurricular activity at a public elementary or secondary school, whether such behavior is planned or occurs on or off school property, including any school bus and school bus stop. Hazing does not mean any adult-directed and school-sanctioned athletic program practice or event or military training program.

Any solicitation to engage in hazing, and the aiding and abetting another person who engages in hazing shall be prohibited. The consent, stated or implied, of the hazing victim shall not be a defense in determining disciplinary action.

#### NOTICE TO STUDENTS AND PARENTS

The School Board shall inform each student, orally and in writing, at the required orientation conducted at the beginning of each school year, of the prohibition against bullying, hazing, or similar behavior of a student by another student; the nature and consequences of such actions; including the potential criminal consequences and loss of driver's license, and the proper process and procedure for reporting any incidents involving such prohibited actions. A copy of the written notice shall also be delivered to each student's parent or legal guardian.

#### REPORTING

The principal or his/her designee shall be authorized to receive complaints alleging violation of this policy. All employees, parents, volunteers, or any other school personnel shall report alleged violations to the principal or his/her designee. Any written or oral report of an act of bullying, hazing, or similar behavior shall be considered an official means of reporting such act(s). Complaints, reports, and investigative reports of bullying, hazing, or similar behavior shall remain *confidential*, with limited exception of state or federal law.

The reporting of incidents of bullying, hazing, or similar behavior shall be made on the *Bullying Report* form, which shall include an *affirmation of truth*. Any bullying, hazing, or similar behavior report submitted, regardless of recipient, shall use this form, but additional information may be provided. The form shall be available on the website of each public elementary and secondary school.

#### Students and Parents

Any student who believes that he/she has been, or is currently, the victim of bullying, hazing, or similar behavior, or any student, or any parent or legal guardian, who witnesses bullying, hazing, or similar behavior or has good reason to believe bullying, hazing, or similar behavior is taking place, may report the situation to a school official, who in turn shall report the situation to the principal or his/her designee. A student, or parent or legal guardian, may also report concerns regarding bullying, hazing, or similar behavior to a teacher, counselor, other school employee, or to any chaperone supervising a school function or activity. Any report shall remain *confidential*.

#### School Personnel

Any school employee, whether full- or part-time, and any chaperone supervising a school function or activity, who witnesses or learns of bullying, hazing, or similar behavior, immediately shall report the incident to the principal or his/her designee. Verbal reports shall be submitted by the employee or chaperone on the same day as the employee or chaperone witnessed or otherwise learned of the incident, and a written report shall be filed no later than two (2) days thereafter.

All other members of the school community, including students, parents or legal guardians, volunteers, and visitors shall be encouraged to report any act that may be a violation of this policy to the principal or his/her designee.

## False Reports

Intentionally making false reports about bullying, hazing, or similar behavior to school officials shall be prohibited conduct and shall result in appropriate disciplinary measures as determined by the School Board.

## INVESTIGATION PROCEDURE

Investigations of any reports of bullying, hazing, or similar behavior of a student shall be in accordance with the following:

#### 1. Timing

The school shall begin an investigation of any complaint that is properly reported and that alleges the prohibited conduct the next business or school day after the report is received by the principal or his/her designee. The investigation shall be completed as expeditiously as possible, but not later than ten (10) school days after the date the written report of the incident is submitted to the principal or his/her designee. If additional information is received after the end of the ten-day period, the school principal or his/her designee shall amend all documents and reports required to reflect such information.

## 2. Scope of Investigation

An investigation shall include documented interviews of the reporter, the alleged victim, the alleged bully or offender, and any witnesses, and shall include obtaining oral, visual or written evidence, including, but not limited to statements, writings, recordings, electronic messages, and photographs. Interviews shall be conducted privately, separately, and confidentially. Unless necessary for the purpose of the investigation, the alleged offender and alleged victim shall not be interviewed together.

The principal or his/her designee shall collect and evaluate all facts using the *Bullying Investigation* form.

#### 3. Parental Notification

Upon receiving a report of bullying, hazing, or similar behavior, the school shall notify the parent or legal guardian of each involved student no later than the following business or school day. Delivery of notice to the parents or legal guardians by an involved student shall **not** constitute the required parental notice.

Before any student under the age of eighteen (18) is interviewed, his/her parent or legal guardian shall be notified by the principal or his/her designee of the allegations made and shall have the opportunity to attend any interviews with their child conducted as part of the investigation.

All meetings with the parents or legal guardians of the alleged victim and the parents or legal guardians of the alleged perpetrator shall be in compliance with the following:

- A. Separate meetings shall be held with the parents or legal guardians of the alleged victim and the parents or legal guardians of the alleged perpetrator.
- B. Parents or legal guardians of the alleged victim and of the alleged perpetrator shall be informed of the potential consequences, penalties, and counseling options.

In any case where a teacher, principal, or other school employee is authorized to require the parent or legal guardian of a student who is under the age of eighteen (18) and not judicially emancipated or emancipated by marriage to attend a conference or meeting regarding the student's behavior and, after notice, the parent, or legal guardian willfully refuses to attend, the principal or his/her designee shall file a complaint, pursuant to Louisiana Children's Code, Article 730 or Article 731, with a court exercising juvenile jurisdiction. The principal may also file a complaint on the grounds the student is a truant or has willfully and repeatedly violated school rules, or any other applicable ground when, in his/her judgment, doing so is in the best interests of the student.

#### 4. Documentation

At the conclusion of an investigation of bullying, hazing, or similar behavior, and after meeting with the parents or legal guardians of each involved student, the principal or his/her designee or School Board shall:

- A. Prepare a written report containing the findings of the investigation, including input from the involved students' parents or legal guardians, and the decision by the principal or his/her designee or school system official. The document shall be placed in the school records of each involved student.
- B. Promptly notify the reporter/complainant of the findings of the investigation and whether remedial action has been taken, if such release of information does not violate the law.
- C. Keep reports/complaints and investigative reports confidential, except where disclosure is required to be made by applicable federal laws, rules, or regulations or by state law.
- D. Maintain reports/complaints and investigative reports for three (3) years.
- E. As applicable, provide a copy of any reports and investigative documents to the School Board for disciplinary measures, or to the Louisiana Department of Education, as necessary.
- F. As applicable, provide a copy of any reports and investigative documents to the appropriate law enforcement officials.

During the pendency of an investigation, the school district may take immediate steps, at its discretion, to protect the alleged victim, students, teachers, administrators or other school personnel pending completion of the investigation.

### **Handling Evidence**

Whenever an employee/administrator receives notice of a bullying or hazing, or similar behavior, any physical evidence of the act/communication shall be secured in the building administrator's office with as little physical contact as possible. If the act/communication is in the form of graffiti, the area shall be sealed off by the building administrator. Photographs shall be taken as soon as possible. Student/public exposure shall be as minimal as possible. Graffiti shall not be removed until law enforcement has properly examined the area.

## **APPEAL**

If the school principal or his/her designee does not take timely and effective action in any bullying incident, the student, parent or legal guardian, or school employee may report, in writing, the incident to the School Board. The School Board shall begin an investigation of any properly reported complaint that alleges prohibited conduct the next business day during which school is in session after the report is received by the School Board.

If the School Board does not take timely and effective action, the student, parent or legal guardian, or other school employee may report any bullying incident to the Louisiana Department of Education.

#### DISCIPLINARY ACTION

Once a report has been received at a school, and a school principal or his/her designee has determined that an act of bullying, hazing, or similar behavior has occurred, and after having met with the parent or legal guardian of the student involved, the principal or his/her designee, or applicable school official shall take prompt and appropriate disciplinary action against the student, and report criminal conduct to law enforcement. Counseling and/or other interventions may also be recommended.

Students may be disciplined for off-campus bullying, hazing, or similar behavior the same as if the improper conduct occurred on campus, if the actions of the offender substantially interfere with the education opportunities or educational programs of the student victim and/or adversely affects the ability of the student victim to participate in or benefit from the school's education programs or activities.

#### PARENTAL RELIEF

If a parent, legal guardian, teacher, or other school official has made four (4) or more reports of separate instances of bullying, and no investigation pursuant to state law or this policy has occurred, the parent or legal guardian of the alleged victim may request that the student be transferred to another school operated by the School Board.

Such request shall be filed with the Superintendent. Upon receipt of the request to transfer the student to another school, the School Board shall make a seat available at another school under its jurisdiction within ten (10) school days of the parent or legal guardian's request for a transfer. If the School Board has no other school under its jurisdiction serving the grade level of the alleged victim, within fifteen (15) school days of receiving the request, the Superintendent shall:

1. Inform the student and his/her parent or legal guardian and facilitate the student's enrollment in a statewide virtual school.

- 2. Offer the student a placement in a full-time virtual program or virtual school under the School Board's jurisdiction.
- 3. Enter into a memorandum of understanding with the Superintendent or director of another governing authority to secure a placement and provide for the transfer of the student to a school serving the grade level of the student, in accordance with statutory provisions.

If no seat or other placement is made available within thirty (30) calendar days of the receipt of the request by the Superintendent, the parent or legal guardian may request a hearing with the School Board, which shall be public or private at the option of the parent or legal guardian. The School Board shall grant the hearing at the next scheduled meeting or within sixty (60) calendar days, whichever is sooner.

At the end of any school year, the parent or legal guardian may make a request to the School Board to transfer the student back to the original school. The School Board shall make a seat available at the original school that the student attended. No other schools shall qualify for transfer under this provision.

## FAILURE TO ACT

Any teacher, counselor, bus operator, administrator, or other school employee, whether full- or part-time, who witnesses bullying or who receives a report of bullying from an alleged victim, and who fails to report the incident to a school official shall be investigated by the School Board. Upon finding a reasonable expectation that the individual failed to act, the School Board shall suspend the individual without pay. The length of the suspension shall be determined by the School Board based on the severity of the bullying inflicted on the victim. The School Board shall report each finding of a failure to report and the length of suspension issued to each employee who failed to report to the State Department of Education.

Any school administrator or official who fails to notify a parent or legal guardian of a report of bullying, timely investigate a report of bullying, take prompt and appropriate disciplinary action against a student that was determined to have engaged in bullying, or report criminal conduct to the appropriate law enforcement official shall be investigated by the School Board. Upon finding a reasonable expectation that the individual failed to act, the School Board shall suspend the individual without pay. The length of the suspension shall be determined by the School Board based on the severity of the bullying inflicted on the victim. The School Board shall report each finding of a failure to report bullying and the length of suspension issued to the employee who failed to report to the State Department of Education. The report shall be submitted by August first annually.

#### **TRAINING**

The School Board shall provide a minimum of four (4) hours of training for all new employees who have contact with students and two (2) hours of training each subsequent year for all school employees who have contact with students, including bus operators, with respect to bullying, in accordance with state statutory provisions.

#### RETALIATION

Retaliation against any person who reports bullying, hazing, or similar behavior in good faith, who is thought to have reported such conduct, who files a complaint, or who otherwise participates in an investigation or inquiry concerning allegations of bullying, hazing, or similar behavior is prohibited conduct and subject to disciplinary action.

#### **CHILD ABUSE**

The provisions of this policy shall not be interpreted to conflict with or supersede the provisions requiring mandatory reporting pursuant to Louisiana Children's Code, Art. 609 and as enforced through La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §14:403

#### CORPORAL PUNISHMENT

The Lincoln Parish School Board shall prohibit the use of corporal punishment by all its employees. Students shall not be paddled, spanked, forced to kneel or otherwise physically disciplined for infractions of student conduct regulations. Furthermore, no other person (including parents or guardians) shall be allowed to administer corporal punishment to a student while on school grounds.

Nothing contained herein shall be interpreted as prohibiting an employee from using physical force, reasonable and appropriate under the circumstances, in defending himself or herself against a physical attack by a student, or from using physical force to restrain a student from attacking another student or employee, or to quell a disturbance, or to protect school property.

#### SCHOOL BUS STANDARDS OF SAFETY AND CONDUCT

The privilege of all students riding school buses in Lincoln Parish is conditional, based upon their behavior regarding observance of prescribed safety regulations and rules of conduct. Rules that apply at school also apply on the school bus. The driver is in full charge of the bus and occupants at all times and has the authority to make necessary adjustments to maintain proper control, such as assigning seats if necessary. Students will be expected to follow guidelines listed below and show proper respect toward the driver and duty personnel assigned to supervise the loading and unloading of buses. Students may not be assigned to more than ONE bus. If a student must ride a bus other than his assigned bus, their parent/guardian must write a note requesting permission to ride and the note must be signed by the principal or authorized school personnel. Students must give the signed note to the bus driver. NO ADDITIONAL RIDERS WILL BE ALLOWED ON OVERCROWDED BUSES.

#### WHILE WAITING FOR AND BOARDING SCHOOL BUSES:

- Arrive at bus stop prior to the designated time for the bus to arrive. Allow a 10 minute window (5 min. before or after the designated time) for the bus to arrive.
- Wait on the sidewalk or stand well back from the road while waiting for the bus.
- Avoid pushing and shoving and other forms of horseplay.
- Respect private property and avoid unnecessary noise that might disturb others.
- Form a single line and avoid pushing and breaking in line.
- Use caution while boarding the bus watch for slippery steps and use handrails when available.
- Do not enter the bus with any type of food or drink.
- Locate a seat promptly and sit down.
- Follow same dress code as required at school; i.e. no p.e. clothes, cheerleader clothes, etc.
- Do not bring cell phones on the bus

#### WHILE RIDING SCHOOL BUSES:

- Remain seated at all times while the bus is in motion.
- Do not mar or deface the bus in any way.
- Keep all aisles clear of feet, books, and other objects that might obstruct passage.
- Keep head, hands, arms and body inside the bus; no objects should be thrown inside, outside, or at the bus.

- Avoid unnecessary noise or activities that might distract the driver.
- Be courteous, mannerly, and understanding of others.
- Do not bring alcoholic beverage, drugs or tobacco on the bus.
- Accept responsibility for the bus cleanliness do not eat or drink on the bus.
- Report to the bus driver any behavior which is unsafe, harmful or obscene.
- Exhibit the same behavior on the bus that is expected in classrooms.
- Show proper respect toward the bus driver, occupants of other vehicles, pedestrians encountered on the bus route, as well as other students on the bus.

#### WHILE EXITING SCHOOL BUSES:

- Remain seated until the bus comes to a complete stop.
- Leave the bus promptly and orderly at the bus stop do not run.
- Cross the road in front of the bus so the driver can easily see the smallest child. (Students should wait for the driver to motion them across the road)
- Watch for traffic in both directions.
- Walk directly home by the safest route students will always be picked up and dropped off ONLY at their designated stop.
- Avoid trespassing on private property.

#### **EMERGENCY SITUATIONS WHILE ON SCHOOL BUSES:**

- Report any emergency to the school bus driver.
- Beware of drivers and pedestrians exhibiting unusual behavior and report this to the bus driver.
- Remain seated until the driver tells you what to do or until you are sure of the safest move to make in case of an
  accident.
- Do not touch emergency equipment or safety releases unless told to do so by the bus driver, except in an extreme emergency.
- Remain calm and encourage others to do the same.
- Never move injured persons unless absolutely necessary.

#### **EVACUATION SITUATIONS WHILE ON SCHOOL BUSES:**

- Know where emergency exits are that could be used.
- Passengers closest to the door should exit first.
- Duck your head as you go out.
- Kick windows out if the doors are stuck.
- Wrap loose clothing around you so you won't get snagged or caught by rough metal edges.
- Keep your hands free leave everything behind.
- Bend your knees to cushion the jump if you must exit the back of the bus.
- Assist younger students when exiting.
- Clear the exit area so others can follow.
- Get off the roadway or street after exiting.
- Seek help if the driver or riders are injured.

## Riding the school bus is a privilege!

Students who do not cooperate are subject to disciplinary action including suspension from the bus, school, or removed from the bus for the remainder of the school year.

## 2023-24 LINCOLN PARISH SCHOOL CALENDAR

EVENT	2023-24
STAFF DEVELOPMENT – DETAILS TO BE ANNOUNCED FULL DAY FOR ALL EMPLOYEES – <b>NO STUDENTS</b>	MONDAY, AUGUST 14, 2023 – THURSDAY, AUGUST 17, 2023
FIRST DAY FOR STUDENTS - FULL DAY	FRIDAY, AUGUST 18, 2023
LABOR DAY – CLOSED	MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 4, 2023
STAFF DEVELOPMENT DAY - NO STUDENTS	FRIDAY, OCTOBER 6, 2023
FALL BREAK - CLOSED	MONDAY, OCTOBER 9, 2023 – FRIDAY, OCTOBER 13, 2023
END OF 1 <sup>ST</sup> NINE WEEKS	FRIDAY, OCTOBER 27, 2023
THANKSGIVING BREAK – CLOSED	MONDAY, NOVEMBER 20, 2023 – FRIDAY, NOVEMBER 24, 2023
LAST DAY BEFORE CHRISTMAS BREAK – HALF DAY	THURSDAY, DECEMBER 21, 2023
CHRISTMAS AND NEW YEAR'S BREAK – CLOSED	FRIDAY, DECEMBER 22, 2023 – THURSDAY, JANUARY 4, 2024
STAFF DEVELOPMENT DAY - NO STUDENTS	FRIDAY, JANUARY 5, 2024
MARTIN LUTHER KING, JR. DAY – CLOSED	MONDAY, JANUARY 15, 2024
END OF 2 <sup>ND</sup> NINE WEEKS AND 1 <sup>ST</sup> SEMESTER	FRIDAY, JANUARY 19, 2024
PRESIDENTS' DAY – CLOSED	MONDAY, FEBRUARY 19, 2024
STAFF DEVELOPMENT DAY – NO STUDENTS	TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 20, 2024
END OF 3 <sup>RD</sup> NINE WEEKS	FRIDAY, MARCH 22, 2024
SPRING AND EASTER BREAK – CLOSED	MONDAY, MARCH 25, 2024 - MONDAY, APRIL 1, 2024
LAST DAY FOR STUDENTS - FULL DAY END OF 4 <sup>TH</sup> NINE WEEKS	THURSDAY, MAY 23, 2024
LAST DAY FOR TEACHERS - FULL DAY	FRIDAY, MAY 24, 2024

<sup>\*</sup>THESE DATES MAY BE CHANGED DEPENDING ON NUMBER OF INSTRUCTIONAL MINUTES COMPLETED.\* Approved 2/7/23

#### DIRECTORY INFORMATION

The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), a Federal law, requires that Lincoln Parish, with certain exceptions, obtain your written consent prior to the disclosure of personally identifiable information from your child's education records. However, Lincoln Parish may disclose appropriately designated "directory information" without written consent, unless you have advised the District to the contrary in writing. The primary purpose of directory information is to allow Lincoln Parish to include this type of information from your child's education records in certain school publications. Examples include:

A playbill, showing your student's role in a drama production;

The annual yearbook;

Honor roll or other recognition lists;

Graduation programs; and

Sports activity sheets, such as for wrestling, showing weight and height of team members.

Directory information, which is information that is generally not considered harmful or an invasion of privacy if released, can also be disclosed to outside organizations without a parent's prior written consent. Outside organizations include, but are not limited to, companies that manufacture class rings or publish yearbooks. In

<sup>\*\*</sup>This calendar may be adjusted based on the number of instructional minutes completed.

addition, two federal laws require local educational agencies (LEAs) receiving assistance under the *Elementary* and Secondary Education Act of 1965 (ESEA) to provide military recruiters, upon request, with three directory information categories - names, addresses and telephone listings - unless parents have advised the LEA that they do not want their student's information disclosed without their prior written consent.

If you do not want Lincoln Parish School Board to disclose directory information from your child's education records without your prior written consent, you must notify the LPSB in writing before Labor Day. Please send your written notice to John Young, Assistant Superintendent, 410 South Farmerville Street, LA 71270.

Lincoln Parish has designated the following information as directory information: [Note: an LEA may, but does not have to, include all the information listed below.]

- Student's name
- Participation in officially recognized activities and sports
- Address
- Telephone listing
- Weight and height of members of athletic teams
- Electronic mail address
- Photograph
- Degrees, honors, and awards received
- Date and place of birth
- Major field of study
- Dates of attendance
- Grade level
- The most recent educational agency or institution attended
- Student ID number, user ID, or other unique personal identifier used to communicate in electronic systems but only if the identifier cannot be used to gain access to access education records except when used in conjunction with one or more factors that authenticate the user's identity, such as a PIN, password, or other factor known or possessed only by the authorized user. etc. (A student's SSN, in whole or in part, cannot be used for this purpose.)
- A student ID number or other unique personal identifier that is displayed on a student ID badge, but only if the identifier cannot be used to gain access to educational records except when used in conjunction with one or more factors that authenticate the user's identity, such as a pin, password, or other factor known or possessed only by the authorized user.
  - These laws are: Section 9528 of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (20 U.S.C. 7908), and 10 U.S.C. 503(c).

## ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN EMPLOYEES AND STUDENTS

The Lincoln Parish School Board shall require that all communications between employees and students be appropriate and in accordance with state law. All electronic or any other communications by employees to students at any time shall be expected to be professional, acceptable in content to any reasonable person, and limited to information that is school-related or is acceptable to both student and parent.

All electronic communication, including electronic mail, by an employee to any student enrolled in a public school in this school district relative to the educational services provided to the student shall use a means provided by or otherwise made available by the school system for this purpose and the School Board shall prohibit the use of all such system means to electronically communicate with a student for a purpose not related to such educational services, except communication with an immediate family member if such communication is specifically authorized by the School Board.

Any electronic communication made by an employee to any student enrolled in a public school in this school district or that is received by an employee from any student enrolled in a public school in this school district using a means other than one provided by or made available by the school system shall be reported by the employee in a manner deemed appropriate by the School Board. Records of any such reported communication shall be maintained by the School Board for a period of at least one (1) year.

The School Board may authorize a school principal, or his/her designee, to permit an employee at the school to contact one or more specifically identified students enrolled at the school and be contacted by such student or students using a means other than one provided by or made available by the school, provided the employee has requested and received permission from the principal, or his/her designee, to do so and has provided documentation in writing to the principal, or his/her designee, stating the purpose or purposes for such contact. Such purposes may include but need not be limited to necessary communications relative to extracurricular activities, student athletic activities, community-based youth activities such as scouting, and faith-based activities such as a youth group sponsored by a religious organization.

## **DEFINITIONS**

- 1. *Electronic Communication* includes any direct communication facilitated by voice or text-based telecommunication devices, or both, computers, as well as those devices that facilitate indirect communication using an intermediate method, including but not limited to Internet-based social networks. It shall also include transfer of signs, signals, writing, images, sounds, data, or intelligence of any nature in whole or in part by wire, radio, electromagnetic, photoelectric, or photo-optical system and pertains to both personal and School Board issued devices.
- 2. *Electronic mail* the transmission of text-based information or communication by use of the Internet, computers, a facsimile machine, a pager, a cellular telephone, a video recorder, or any other electronic device or means sent to a person identified by a unique address or address number and received by that person.
- 3. *Computers* pertains to any and all computers.
- 4. *Social networks* locations on the Internet where users may interact with other users -- examples are Facebook, My Space, YouTube, and other social networks sites available on the internet.
- 5. *Improper or inappropriate communications* any communication between employee and student, regardless of who initiates the communication, that may be viewed as derogatory, sexual or lewd in content, threatening or harassing, discriminatory, simple fraternization, or suggestive in nature.
- 6. *Proper communications* any verbal, written, or wireless communication that would be viewed by any reasonable person to be harmless, wholesome, and void of wording that may be considered questionable in content.

#### **NOTIFICATION**

The School Board shall ensure that at the beginning of each school year each employee, student, and parent, or other person responsible for a student's attendance, be notified of the provisions of this policy and any related procedures or practices regarding communications between employees and students.

The parent or other person responsible for a student's attendance shall also be notified of his/her right to request that his/her child not be contacted through electronic communication by any school employee unless the purpose of such communication is directly related to the child's educational services and is sent to and received by more than one student at the school.

## INAPPROPRIATE COMMUNICATIONS

The Lincoln Parish School Board is aware that changes in technology have revolutionized the methods and devices now available to communicate with others. While these changes have expanded the ability to communicate, the Lincoln Parish School Board is concerned about inappropriate use of these communication devices between school employees and students. The School Board is aware that the reputations and careers of students and educators across the nation have been destroyed due to inappropriate communications. Therefore, it is the intent of the Lincoln Parish School Board to make all employees and students aware of the expectations and procedures of the school system and the School Board in regard to proper use of all telecommunication devices and computers if used to communicate with one another. The policy is not intended to limit the use of technology as an effective teaching tool.

In addition to reporting communication to or from students not made through the means provided by the school system, employees must report to their supervisor at the first opportunity available, *any* student-initiated communication that may be construed as inappropriate.

Employees shall be required to comply with all policies, procedures, and practices established by the School Board regarding direct communications with a student, and any failure to do so may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment. Extreme circumstances may constitute willful neglect of duty. Should an employee's failure to comply also violate state or federal law, the Superintendent or his/her designee shall report such violation to the proper authorities.

## **REGULATIONS**

- 1. All electronic or other communications by employees to students at any time shall be expected to be professional, acceptable in content to any reasonable person, and limited to information that is school-related or is acceptable to both student and parent.
- 2. Employees shall be required to have a clear understanding of Board policy concerning the use of personal and/or Board-issued cell phones and computers, as well as any other telecommunication or electronic device.
- 3. Employees are required to report to their supervisor at the first opportunity available, any <u>student-initiated</u> communication that may be construed as inappropriate in content as outlined in this policy.
- 4. Any employee who has a legitimate need to communicate with students by any means of electronic and/or telecommunication devices shall be required to request from their supervisor the necessary form for approval. The supervisor shall approve or deny the written request as indicated on the form with his/her signature. If permission is denied, the supervisor shall retain the denied request for documentation.
- 5. If approved, the employee shall be given the approved form. The employee shall then make a copy for each student he/she is approved to contact and shall proceed with securing the required signatures from students and parents. The signatures indicate that all parties who sign are in agreement with the stipulations listed on the form. The completed forms are to be kept on file by the supervisor for the duration of the school year in which it is signed.

## **ELECTRONIC TELECOMMUNICATION DEVICES**

Students shall be allowed to possess a cell phone on school campus during the instructional day. This includes the school buildings, grounds thereof, school buses, and/or while participating in extracurricular activities. However, the use of cell phones shall be strictly prohibited unless authorized by the principal or school designee. Cell phones are to be turned off at all times and not displayed in any way; they are to be stowed in the student's locker, school bag, purse, or pants pocket. It is not allowed for the phone to be left hanging on the outside of a pocket on a clip or holster. Possession and/or use of other electronic and telecommunication devices such as iPods, iPads, MP3, CD players, by students shall be strictly prohibited unless authorized by the principal of school designee. The school will not be responsible for lost or stolen cell phones or electronic devices.

A violation of these provisions may be grounds for disciplinary action, including but not limited to suspension from school.

Nothing shall prohibit the use and operation by any person, including students of any electronic telecommunication device in the event of an emergency. *Emergency* shall mean an actual or imminent threat to public health or safety which may result in loss of life, injury, or property damage.

## ACCEPTABLE USE POLICY FOR SCHOOL COMPUTER SYSTEMS AND INTERNET USE

In an effort to provide students the vast resources accessible through a computerized information resource system such as the Internet, the Lincoln Parish School Board believes it is necessary for all persons to become aware of acceptable uses of computers. The academic benefit of having access to resources from all over the world must be weighed against objectionable materials found on the Internet.

Age and grade appropriate classroom instruction shall be provided regarding Internet and cell phone safety. Such instruction shall include appropriate online behavior, interacting with other individuals on social networking websites and in chat rooms, and cyberbullying awareness and response, as well as areas of concern as authorized in state and federal law.

#### INTERNET SAFETY

The Lincoln Parish School Board shall incorporate the use of Internet protection measures, either hardware or software, that are designed to restrict or filter access to specific areas or sites on the Internet. Such measures provide protection against access by minors or adults to Internet resources that are or contain obscene, pornographic, pervasively vulgar, excessively violent, or sexually harassing, or material harmful to minors (with respect to Internet access by minors), or are otherwise inappropriate in an educational environment.

It is the policy of Lincoln Parish School Board that all Internet access from within Board facilities be filtered with no exceptions. In the case of Internet access by minors, the filtering mechanism may not be disabled for any reason. However, the School Board does not prohibit employees or students from having unfiltered or unrestricted access to Internet or online services, including online services of newspapers with daily circulation of at least 1000, for legitimate scientific or educational purposes approved by the Board. For access by adults, the filtering mechanism may be, but is not required to be, disabled to enable bona fide research.

The Board recognizes that filtering or blocking technology is not 100% effective. School administrators may request the blocking of additional sites that are deemed inappropriate for their students. This request shall be in writing to the district technology coordinator. The possibility exists that all inappropriate content may not be

blocked or that a determined person may find a method to partially or completely circumvent the filtering or blocking method.

If a person feels an Internet site has been blocked in error, a written request from the school or central office department head must be submitted to the District Technology Coordinator, who will review the site in question. If it is deemed that the site is wrongly blocked, the site will be opened. If there is any question about the appropriateness of the site, the Coordinator shall make a recommendation to the Superintendent for a final decision.

In addition to filtering requirements, the Board shall maintain regulations which:

- o Prohibit access by minors to inappropriate matter on the Internet and World Wide Web;
- o Address the safety and security of minors when using electronic mail, chat rooms, and other forms of direct electronic communications, such as *Instant Messaging*;
- o Prohibit unauthorized access, including what is now known as *hacking*, and other unlawful online activities by minors online;
- o Prohibit unauthorized disclosure, use, and dissemination of personal information regarding minors; and
- o Institute measures designed to restrict minors' access to materials harmful to minors.

Guidelines are provided so that Internet users are aware of the responsibilities they are about to assume. Responsibilities include efficient, ethical, and legal utilization of network resources. All users, including students, employees, or any other users of School Board computers, hardware, and Board network shall abide by all policies of the School Board and any applicable administrative regulations and procedures.

The student and parent or guardians shall sign an *Acceptable Use of Computers and Internet Agreement*, which shall be required before any student shall be allowed to use school system computers. The student and/or parent/guardian signatures shall be **legally binding** on all parties and shall indicate they have read the terms and conditions carefully and understand their significance.

#### ACCOUNTABILITY

Student use of school computers or the School Computer System (SCS) shall be reserved for **academic purposes** only. All students using a school computer or a computer network located on school property, or computers accessing the Internet shall be accountable for its use. This shall include, but not be limited to (a) unauthorized use resulting in expenses to the school; (b) equipment damage; (c) use of unauthorized software; (d) privacy and copyrights; (e) tampering; (f) accessing obscene and objectionable materials; (g) sending or soliciting inflammatory, abusive, harassing, vulgar, or obscene messages or language; and (h) any action that is deemed inappropriate by the supervisory personnel. Student or class files on the network are analogous to school lockers, that is, these accounts will be treated as district property subject to control and inspection, rather than private property which cannot be searched without just cause. Access codes or passwords shall be assigned by the teacher if and/or when it is needed.

The teacher shall keep a record of these accounts in case an inspection is warranted. Use of the Internet and/or the SCS is considered a privilege and any inappropriate use may result in appropriate disciplinary action and loss of privileges to use the Internet and the SCS. No student will be allowed to use the Internet and/or the SCS unless a signed consent form is on file.

#### UNAUTHORIZED AND ILLEGAL USE

Students must be under the supervision of a teacher, monitor, principal, librarian, or supervisor while using the School Computer System (SCS) or any school computer. Tampering with selection menus, procedures, or icons for the purpose of misleading or confusing other users shall be prohibited. Any use by any person of the SCS

that incurs expenses to the school other than the monthly user fees and rates shall be strictly prohibited. Furthermore, the computer system shall not be used for commercial, political or religious purposes.

Use of the network for any illegal activities shall also be prohibited. Illegal activities include (a) tampering with computer hardware or software, (b) unauthorized entry into computers and files, (c) knowledgeable vandalism or destruction or equipment, and (d) deletion of computer files. Such activity is considered a crime under state and federal law.

Students shall not use any wired or wireless network (including third party internet service providers) with equipment brought from home. Example: The use of a netbook, IPod, IPhone, IPad, etc. on the network or accessing the internet from any device not owned by the school district.

#### PRIVACY AND COPYRIGHTS

All students must adhere to the Copyright Law of the United States (P.L. 94-553), and to the Congressional Guidelines that delineate it regarding software, authorship, and copying information. The unauthorized copying or transfer of copyrighted materials may result in the loss of network privileges. Reposting personal communications without the original author=s prior consent shall be prohibited. To do this is a violation of the author's privacy. All persons who willfully violate copyright laws do so without the sanction of the Board and at their own risk and assume all liability and responsibility. However, all messages posted in a public forum such as news groups or list serves (a means of broadcasting an E-mail message for the purpose of maintaining a discussion list) may be copied in subsequent communications, so long as proper attribution is given.

The School Board directs that:

- 1. Unlawful copies of copyrighted materials shall not be produced on Board-owned equipment or within Board-owned facilities.
- 2. Unlawful copies of copyrighted materials shall not be used on Board-owned equipment, within Board-owned facilities, or at Board sponsored functions.
- 3. Information about copyright law and guidelines shall be made available to all employees.

#### INSTALLING PRANK SOFTWARE

Students should avoid the knowing or inadvertent spread of computer viruses and/or worms. *Computer viruses and/or worms* are programs that have been developed as pranks, and can destroy valuable programs and data. To reduce the risk of spreading a computer virus and/or worm, students shall not import files or programs from home or from unknown or disreputable sources. If a student obtains software or files from remote sources, proper procedures should be followed to check for viruses and/or worms before use. Deliberate attempts to degrade or disrupt the system or the performance of the network or any spreading of computer viruses and/or worms shall be considered criminal activity under state and federal law. No software shall be loaded without the permission of the administration.

#### **OBJECTIONABLE MATERIALS**

Profanity or obscenity shall not be tolerated on the network. All users should use language appropriate for school situations as indicated by school codes of conduct. Offensive or inflammatory speech should be avoided. The rights of others must be respected both in the local network and the Internet at large. Personal attacks are an **unacceptable** use of the network. If a user is the victim of a *flame*, a harsh critical or abusive statement, the user should bring the incident to the attention of a teacher or system administrator. It is usually better not to respond. Furthermore, retrieving and/or viewing pornographic or obscene materials shall not be allowed.

The SCS shall be used for academic purposes only. Conduct that is in conflict with the responsibilities outlined in this document will be subject to loss of network privileges.

Special restrictions by the school or district may be implemented in order to meet special needs provided that School Board policy is not violated.

#### USE OF THE INTERNET

The Internet is a vast global computer network that provides access to major universities, governmental agencies, other school systems, municipalities, commercial providers of data banks, and marketing services. Acceptable use of these resources shall be consistent with the philosophy, goals, and objectives of the Lincoln Parish School Board. Any person using computers or other electronic information resources shall be required to use such equipment and resources in a responsible, legal manner and must have a consent form on file. The Board retains the right to monitor all computer usage and files for compliance to all regulations and/or procedures. Accordingly, regulations for participation by anyone on the Internet shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

- 1. Appropriate language and manners which demonstrate honesty, ethics and respect for others shall be required.
- 2. Individual students shall not be permitted to have E-mail accounts. Only classes as a whole or teachers and administrators may be permitted to have an E-mail account. Only appropriate teacher or class messages shall be allowed.
- 3. No personal addresses, personal phone numbers, or last names shall be permitted on the Internet. Photographs shall be posted provided that parental permission is obtained prior to posting the photograph. Only first names and last initials shall be used to identify students in photographs posted on the Internet. Pseudonyms, impersonations, and anonymity are not permitted.
- 4. Illegal activities, including copyright or contract violations, shall not be permitted on the Internet.
- 5. Students shall not be allowed access to online instant messenger programs, chat rooms and/or other forms of online communication.
- 6. The Internet shall not be used for commercial, political, illegal, financial, or religious purposes. Violations shall be reported to a teacher or an administrator immediately.
- 7. Threatening, profane, harassing, or abusive language shall be forbidden.
- 8. Use of the network for any illegal activities is prohibited. Illegal activities include (a) tampering with computer hardware or software, (b) unauthorized entry into computers and files, (c) knowledgeable vandalism or destruction of equipment, and (d) deletion of computer files. Such activity is considered a crime under state and federal law.
- 9. No user is permitted to knowingly or inadvertently load or create a computer virus and/or worm or load any software that destroys files and programs, confuses users, or disrupts the performance of the system. No third party software shall be installed without the consent of the assigned administrator.
- 10. Resources offered by the Internet and paid for by the Board may not be willfully wasted.
- 11. A student may not attempt to access any Internet resource without the prior consent of the teacher.
- 12. Invading the privacy of another user, using another=s account, posting personal messages without the author's consent, and sending or posting anonymous messages shall be forbidden.

- 13. Accessing pornographic or obscene materials, or using or sending profanity in messages shall be forbidden.
- 14. Perusing or otherwise accessing information on manufacturing bombs or other incendiary devices shall be forbidden.
- 15. Any subscription to list serves, bulletin boards, or on-line services shall be approved by the Superintendent or his/her designee prior to any such usage.

Use of the Internet is a privilege, and any inappropriate use may result in appropriate disciplinary action and loss of privileges to use the Internet. Disciplinary action may include but is not limited to loss of computer use, monetary reimbursement, suspension, detention, or suspension room assignment. This shall apply to all students.

#### STUDENT CONDUCT

The Lincoln Parish School Board expects students to be well behaved while attending school or any school activity and conduct themselves in an appropriate manner at all times. Every teacher and every other school employee shall be authorized to hold every student to a strict accountability for any disorderly conduct, and discipline policies shall be applicable, in school or on the playgrounds of the school, on the street or road while going to or returning from school, on any school bus, during intermission or recess, or at any school-sponsored activity or function.

Students have the responsibility to know and respect the rules of the school system. Students shall comply with all School Board policies and school regulations, student codes of conduct, and directions of principals, teachers, and other authorized school personnel during any period of time when the student is under the authority of school personnel.

The School Board shall demand reasonable student behavior and administer discipline with fundamental fairness without regard to gender, race, ethnic origin, religion or political belief. All students shall be afforded the basic rights of citizenship recognized and protected for persons of their age and maturity. Students shall exercise their rights and responsibilities in accordance with rules established for orderly conduct of the school's mission. Students who violate the rules of conduct shall be subject to disciplinary measures designed to correct the misconduct so that an environment conducive to learning can be maintained.

Moreover, the School Board reserves the authority to discipline students for behavior that may constitute a material disruption of the educational process such as audio, video, or other materials/information that may appear on the Internet or be transferred over electronic devices.

#### STUDENT CODE OF CONDUCT

While the School Board cannot reasonably be expected to develop a *Student Code of Conduct* in such detail as to anticipate every type of misconduct that could possibly occur, the Board shall develop and maintain a *Student Code of Conduct*, which shall enumerate the necessary discipline action to be taken against any student who violates the *Code of Conduct*. It shall be in compliance with all existing policies, rules, and regulations of the Louisiana Board of Elementary and Secondary Education and all state laws relative to student discipline.

The School Board's *Code of Conduct* shall include progressive levels of minor through major infractions and identify corresponding minor through major interventions and consequences. Before an initial referral for a student's expulsion, the *Code of Conduct* shall require the prior administration of interventions in accordance

with the minor tiers in the *Code of Conduct*, except in instances where the expulsion referral is the result of accumulated minor infractions in accordance with the *Code of Conduct*, or the underlying incident threatens the safety and health of students or staff. Expulsions shall be reserved for the major tier of behavioral infractions involving weapons or drugs, or when the safety of students and staff has been put in jeopardy.

The *Code of Conduct* shall also include information detailing the appeal process for expulsion as included in policy *JDE*, *Expulsion*.

Prior to the beginning of each school year, all schools of the Lincoln Parish School District shall provide each student, and his/her parent, tutor, or legal guardian with a *Student Handbook* or similar document that identifies and explains discipline policies, rules or regulations, and procedures that are parish-wide and/or specific to that school, as well as outline the consequences for students who violate the *Student Code of Conduct* or any school policy, regulation, or procedure. Such consequences may include, but may not be limited to, oral or written reprimands, parental contact, removal of the student from the classroom, detention, corporal punishment, inschool suspension, suspension from school, assignment to an alternative school, recommending expulsion from school, or any other disciplinary measure authorized by the principal in conjunction with state law and/or Board policy.

## **ORIENTATION/NOTICE**

Students shall be informed by school authorities that violations of School Board policy and school rules or regulations may result in a range of disciplinary actions including suspension or expulsion. Each school shall plan and conduct an orientation and other meetings within the first five (5) days of school each year to fully inform all employees and students of all discipline policies, provisions of the *Student Code of Conduct* applicable to such students, and rules and regulations necessary for the safe and orderly operation of the public schools. The orientation shall also include information on the consequences of failure to comply with disciplinary rules and requirements of the *Student Code of Conduct*, particularly bullying and similar prohibited conduct, including suspension, expulsion, the possibility of suspension of student's driver's license, and the possible criminal consequences of violent acts committed on school property, at a school-sponsored function, or in a firearm-free zone, as well as the contents of the *Teacher Bill of Rights*. Meetings shall also be held throughout the school year as may be necessary to inform new employees and new students of such discipline policies, and regulations, contents of the *Student Code of Conduct*, and pertinent school rules.

The orientation instruction shall be age appropriate and grade appropriate and take into consideration whether the student is in a regular or special education program.

Any student who does not receive the orientation during the first five (5) days of the school year shall be provided an orientation during the first five (5) days of the student's attendance.

#### STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

Each student in grades 4-12 and each parent or guardian of a student in grades 4-12, shall annually sign a *Statement of Compliance*. For students, the *Statement of Compliance* shall state that the student agrees to attend school regularly, arrive at school on time, demonstrate significant effort toward completion of homework assignments, and follow school and classroom rules. For parents, the *Statement of Compliance* shall state that the parent or legal guardian agrees to ensure his/her child's daily attendance at school, ensure his/her child's arrival at school on time each day, ensure his/her child completes all assigned homework, and attend all required parent/teacher/principal conferences. Failure by a student and/or parent or guardian to sign the respective *Statement of Compliance* may result in disciplinary action.

## SEXUALLY RELATED STUDENT MISCONDUCT

The Lincoln Parish School Board disapproves of and does not tolerate sexual misconduct by employees to students, by students to employees, or by one student to another student. No employee or student, either male or female, should be subject to unsolicited and unwelcome sexual overtures or conduct, either verbal or physical. Sexual misconduct does not refer to occasional compliments of a socially acceptable nature. It refers to behavior that is not welcome, that is personally offensive, and therefore interferes with the purposes of the employee and/or student in the academic, extracurricular, and co-curricular atmosphere, but that does not rise to the level of sexual misconduct as defined by Title IX and Part 106 of Title 34 of the United States Code of Federal Regulations. Sexual misconduct includes any type of sexually coercive conduct, including, but not limited to, threats, comments, jokes or overtures of a sexual nature.

#### **COVERAGE**

This policy applies to all employees and volunteers, to the elected members of the School Board, and to all students of the Lincoln Parish School District. It applies at school, school sponsored events on or off school grounds, and in situations which are related to operations of the school.

#### COMPLAINT PROCEDURE

Complaints of sexual misconduct which take place at school or at a school related function or arising out of the school setting should be made to the principal of the school or other designated administrative personnel. Should the claim of sexual misconduct be brought against the principal of the school, the complaint should be brought directly to the Supervisor of Child Welfare and Attendance or his/her designee or the Title IX Coordinator. The complaint need not be in writing, but students are encouraged to do so. Such reports should include the nature of the complaint, recording the specific act or acts which constitute the misconduct complained of, the person or persons who the complainant alleges committed the misconduct, witnesses to the acts complained of, and the date and time of the alleged act or acts.

After notification of the complaint, a confidential investigation shall immediately be initiated by the Superintendent or his/her designee to gather all facts about the complaint. The investigation may use some or all of the investigation procedures outlined policy *JCDAF*, *Bullying and Hazing*.

After the investigation has been completed, a determination shall be made regarding the resolution of the complaint. If warranted, disciplinary action shall be taken up to and including involuntary termination of an employee and/or expulsion of a student. Any disciplinary action regarding an employee shall be placed in the employee's personnel file which shall reflect the action taken and the grounds therefor. Any disciplinary action taken in regard to a student shall be maintained as any other student disciplinary violation.

#### **NONRETALIATION**

Retaliation against any employee or student who brings sexual misconduct charges or who assists in investigating such charges shall be prohibited. Any employee or student bringing a sexual misconduct complaint or assisting in the investigation of such a complaint shall not be adversely affected, discriminated against or punished because of the complaint.

#### SUSPECTED CHILD ABUSE

If the victim of the alleged sexual misconduct is a minor student and if the alleged misconduct falls within the definition of *abuse* as found in School Board policy *JGCE*, *Child Abuse*, then all school employees with knowledge shall be considered *mandatory reporters* and the allegations shall be reported to child protection or law enforcement as provided by state law and School Board policy. Such reporting shall be made in addition to any procedures for handling sexual misconduct complaints.

#### **DETENTION**

Detention is defined as activities, assignments, or work held before the normal school day, after the normal school day, or on weekends. Students who refuse to participate or fail to attend assigned detention shall be subject to immediate suspension. Assignments, activities, or work which may be assigned during detention include but are not limited to counseling, homework assignment, behavior modification programs, or other activities, aimed at improving self-esteem and behavior of the student.

#### **RULES FOR DENTENTION**

- 1. Detention will be held before or after school or on Saturday at times prescribed by the school with input from the central office administration
- 2. Detention must be served at the time assigned.
- 3. Students must arrive on time.
- 4. Students may leave only for designated breaks.
- 5. Students must come prepared to do their assignments. A student may not sit and do nothing.
- 6. There will be no talking or any form of communication from student to student.
- 7. There will be no eating, drinking, or sleeping.
- 8. Failure to report may result in an out-of-school suspension.
- 9. Deviations from these rules due to extenuating circumstances may be made at the discretion of the principal.

#### **DISCIPLINE**

It is the purpose of the Lincoln Parish School Board to operate the schools in a manner that will provide an orderly process of education and that will provide for the welfare and safety of all students who attend these schools. The school's primary goal is to educate, not discipline; however, when the behavior of the individual student comes in conflict with rights of others, corrective actions may be necessary both for the benefit of that individual and the school as a whole.

The Lincoln Parish School Board shall endeavor to address student behavior with a focus on evidence-based interventions and supports, and to prioritize classroom- and school-based interventions in lieu of out-of-school disciplinary removals to address student misconduct in order to minimize the loss of academic instructional time. Every teacher and other school employee shall endeavor to hold each accountable for his/her behavior in school, or on the playgrounds of the school, on any school bus, on the street or while going to or returning from school, during intermission or recess, or at any school sponsored activity or function.

To assist the teacher, the School Board shall establish regulations for the use of disciplinary measures within the schools and continually monitor and appraise their usefulness. Discipline shall be administered uniformly, consistently, and in a nondiscriminatory manner, in accordance with the School Board's *Student Code of Conduct*.

Principals shall have both the authority and the duty to take disciplinary action whenever the behavior of any student (s) materially interferes with or substantially disrupts the maintenance of a proper atmosphere for learning within the classroom or other parts of the school. However, no student shall be disciplined in any manner by the School Board or school administrator, teacher, or other school employee for the use of force upon another person when it can be reasonably concluded that the use of such force more probably than not was committed solely for the purpose of preventing a forcible offense against the student or a forcible offense

provided that the force used must be reasonable and apparently necessary to prevent such offense. A student who is the aggressor or who brings on a difficulty cannot claim the right stated above to defend himself/herself.

Each teacher may take disciplinary action to correct a student who violates school rules, or who interferes with an orderly education process. The disciplinary action taken by the teacher shall be in accordance with such regulations and procedures established by the School Board.

Disciplinary action by a school employee may include, but is not limited to:

- 1. Oral or written reprimands.
- 2. Referral for a counseling session which shall include but shall not be limited to conflict resolution, social responsibility, family responsibility, peer mediation, and stress management.
- 3. Written notification of parents of disruptive or unacceptable behavior, a copy of which shall be provided to the principal.
- 4. Other disciplinary measures approved by the principal and faculty of the school and in compliance with School Board policy.

#### STUDENT REMOVAL FROM CLASSROOM

When a student's behavior prevents the orderly instruction of other students, poses an immediate threat to the safety of students or the teacher, or when a student violates the school's code of conduct-the teacher may have the student immediately removed from his/her classroom and placed in custody of the principal or his/her designee.

Any student removed from class in kindergarten through grade five shall not be permitted to return to class for at least thirty (30) minutes unless agreed to by the teacher. A student removed from class in grades six through twelve shall not be permitted to return to class during the same class period, unless agreed to by the teacher initiating the disciplinary action.

Whenever a teacher is struck by a student, the student, in addition to any other discipline given, shall be permanently removed from the teacher's classroom, unless the teacher objects, or unless the principal, with the concurrence of the building level committee, finds the striking incident to be entirely inadvertent.

Upon the student being removed from class and sent to the principal's office, the principal or designee shall advise the student of the particular misconduct of which he is accused as well as the basis for such accusation, and the student shall be given an opportunity at that time to explain his/her version of the facts. The principal or his/her designee then shall conduct a counseling session with the student as may be appropriate to establish a course of action, consistent with School Board policy to identify and correct the behavior for which the student is being disciplined.

Once removed, the student shall not be readmitted to the classroom until the principal has implemented at least one of the following disciplinary measures:

- 1. Conferencing with the principal or his/her designee.
- 2. Referral to counseling.
- 3. Peer mediation.
- 4. Referral to the school building level committee.
- 5. Restorative justice practices.

- 6. Loss of privileges
- 7. Detention
- 8. In-school suspension
- 9. Out-of-school suspension
- 10. Initiation of expulsion hearings
- 11. Referral for assignment to an alternative setting
- 12. Requiring the completion of all assigned school and homework that would have been assigned and completed by the student during the period of out-of-school suspension.
- 13. Any other disciplinary measure authorized by the principal with the concurrence of the teacher or building level committee.

#### Parental Notification

The principal or his/her designee shall provide oral or written notification to the parent or legal guardian of any student removed from the classroom. Such notification shall include a description of any disciplinary action taken.

When a student has been removed from a classroom, the teacher or the principal or his/her designee may require the parent, or legal guardian of the student to have a conference with the teacher or the principal or his/her designee before the student is readmitted. Such conference may be in person or by telephone or other virtual means.

Upon the student's *third* removal from the same classroom, the teacher and principal shall discuss the disruptive behavior patterns of the student and the potentially appropriate disciplinary measure before the principal implements a disciplinary measure. In addition, a conference between the teacher or other appropriate school employee and the student's parent, or legal guardian may be required prior to the student being readmitted to that same classroom. Such conference may be in person or by telephone or other virtual means. If such conference is required by the school, the school shall give written notice to the parent.

For students who experience multiple behavioral incidents or disciplinary referrals, a principal or his designee shall consider a referral of the matter to an appropriate school building level committee. If the disruptive behavior persists, the teacher may request that the principal transfer the student into another setting.

#### PARENT CONFERENCES

In any case where a teacher, principal, or other school employee is authorized to **require** the parent or legal guardian of a student to attend a conference or meeting regarding the student's behavior, and after notice, the parent or legal guardian willfully refuses to attend, the principal, or his/her designee, shall file a complaint, in accordance with statutory provisions, with a court exercising juvenile jurisdiction. *Notice* of the conference, specifying the time and date of the conference, shall be given by contacting the parent or legal guardian by telephone at the telephone number shown on the student's registration card or by sending a certified letter to the address shown on the student's registration card.

#### REPORTS TO PRINCIPAL

Any teacher or other school employee may report to the principal any student who acts in a disorderly manner or is in violation of school rules, or any misconduct or violation of school rules by a student who may or may not be known to the teacher or employee. Incidents of alleged discipline violations shall be reported on the *School Behavior Report/School Bus Behavior Report* form provided by the Louisiana Department of Education. The forms shall be submitted in accordance with procedures outlined by the School District, the Superintendent,

and school system personnel. The principal shall review and act upon such information submitted, to determine if suspension or other disciplinary action is necessary.

Should the principal fail to act on any report of misconduct or school violation, he/she shall explain the reasons for doing so to the Superintendent or his/her designee and to the teacher or school employee, student, parent, or legal guardian reporting the violation.

#### **DELINQUENT STUDENTS**

Students who regularly disrupt the normal school environment shall be considered as delinquent, and may be reported by appropriate school personnel to the juvenile court. Any student that exhibits disruptive behavior, an incorrigible attitude, or any other discipline problems in general may be recommended by the principal for expulsion, assignment to an appropriate alternative educational placement, or transfer to adult education if the student is:

- 1. Seventeen (17) years of age or older with less than five (5) units of credit toward graduation;
- 2. Eighteen (18) years of age or older with less than ten (10) units of credit toward graduation; or
- 3. Nineteen (19) years of age or older with less than fifteen (15) units of credit toward graduation.

#### RECUSAL OF ADMINISTRATOR IN DISCIPLINE MATTERS

Any school administrator or administrator's designee who is required to make a recommendation, decide an issue, or take action in a matter involving the discipline of a student shall recuse himself/herself whenever a member of the immediate family of the administrator or administrator's designee is involved in any manner in the discipline matter. In case of recusal, the action to be taken shall be done so by the Superintendent or an impartial designee of the Superintendent.

*Immediate family* means the individual's children, brothers, sisters, parents, and spouse and the children, brothers, sisters, and parents of the spouse.

## DISCIPLINE OF STUDENTS WITH DISABILITIES OR EXCEPTIONALITIES

Discipline of students with disabilities or exceptionalities, or an Individualized Education Program or Section 504 Individualized Accommodation Plan, shall be to the extent allowed by applicable state or federal law and regulations or the provisions of the student's specific plan.

## **DISCIPLINE OF STUDENTS ENGAGED IN VIRTUAL INSTRUCTION**

The School Board's disciplinary measures that define the rules of conduct and expectations of students engaged in virtual instruction, are included in policy *JDF*, *Virtual Discipline*.

#### **DEFINITIONS**

Out-of-school suspension means the removal of a student from all classes of instruction on public school grounds and all other school-sponsored activities.

*In-school suspension* means removing a student from his/her normal classroom setting but maintaining him under supervision within the school. Students participating in in-school suspension shall receive credit for work

performed during the in-school suspension. However, any student who fails to comply fully with the rules for in-school suspension may be subject to immediate out-of-school suspension.

Detention shall mean activities, assignments, or work held before the normal school day, after the normal school day, or on weekends. Failure or refusal by a student to participate in assigned detention may subject the student to immediate out-of-school suspension. Assignments, activities, or work which may be assigned during detention include, but are not limited to, counseling, homework assignments, behavior modification program, or other activities aimed at improving the behavior and conduct of the student.

*Expulsion* (unless otherwise defined as a permanent expulsion by law) shall mean the removal of a student from school for at least one school semester. During an expulsion the Superintendent shall place the student in an alternative school or in an alternative educational placement.

Firearm means any pistol, revolver, rifle, shotgun, machine gun, submachine gun, blackpowder weapon, or assault rifle that is designed to fire or is capable of firing fixed cartridge ammunition or from which a shot or projectile is discharged by an explosive.

*Virtual instruction* means instruction provided to a student through an electronic delivery medium, including, but not limited to, electronic learning platforms that connect to a student in a remote location to classroom instruction.

#### VIRTUAL DISCIPLINE

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Lincoln Parish School System has made virtual classes available to students. Students may also be required to attend school virtually when schools are closed due to inclement weather or other unanticipated emergencies. The Lincoln Parish School Board adopts this *Virtual Discipline* policy in order to clarify expectations for student conduct in the virtual classroom and to provide notice of the possible consequences of inappropriate conduct in the virtual classroom.

Regardless of the model of instruction, student conduct is governed at all times by La. Rev. Stat. Ann. 17:416 and the *Student Code of Conduct*. Conduct that is unacceptable in the physical classroom is, under most circumstances, equally unacceptable in the virtual classroom. While students and parents normally have an expectation of privacy in their home, conduct that occurs in front of a camera and in view of peers and teachers in the virtual classroom may subject students to disciplinary action.

The context in which student behavior occurs is important, however, and will be taken into consideration by School and District administrators in determining whether there has been a violation of the *Code of Conduct*, the severity of the infraction, and the appropriate penalty, if any, under the circumstances.

#### PRIVACY AND THE VIRTUAL CLASSROOM

Students and parents, typically, have a reasonable expectation of privacy with regard to what takes place in their home *outside of the view of teachers and peers in the virtual classroom*. In order to ensure that students and teachers are able to work and learn in a safe and orderly virtual environment, it is imperative that students have a quiet, well-lit "classroom" space – free, to the extent possible, from toys, images, messages, personal property, or other items that may distract from teaching and learning or that may subject the student to disciplinary action if possessed on school busses, in the regular classroom, or on school property.

Students should be cautioned that the virtual classroom is for instruction and for engaging with peers and teachers for educational purposes. Students must not handle or display items, toys, messages, images, or personal property or engage in conduct unrelated to the lessons taking place. Students who engage in conduct in

the virtual classroom that violates the *Student Code of Conduct* and this Virtual Discipline policy may be subject to discipline in accordance with the *Student Code of Conduct* and this policy.

School and/or district officials may be required, as mandatory reporters, to alert local law enforcement and/or the Department of Children and Family Services if they observe conduct, messages, images, or objects that raise legitimate concern for the safety and well-being of students in the virtual classroom. This may include students handling weapons in the virtual classroom, even if it is subsequently learned that the weapon is a toy or facsimile, as it is not always possible to determine remotely whether the weapon is real or not.

# CONDUCT IN THE VIRTUAL CLASSROOM

Students are responsible for all content posted through their online account. Students are prohibited from sharing their online account username or password or using the username or password of another student. Students are required to have their computer camera turned on when virtual classes are in session.

Following is a *non-exclusive* list of behaviors that are prohibited in the virtual classroom and that may result in disciplinary action in accordance with the *Student Code of Conduct* and this policy:

- Antagonistic, harassing, or discriminatory language of any kind with regard to race, color, religion, sex, gender, intelligence, age, orientation, disability, socioeconomic status or any other legally protected characteristic or activity This includes visible signs, verbiage, language on clothing, etc.\*
- Bullying and/or cyberbullying
- Use of obscene, degrading or profane language (written, verbal, pictures, drawings, audio, video)
- Displaying pornography, nudity or images of nudity
- Committing lewd or sexual acts
- Handling or displaying weapons, including toy or facsimile weapons\*
- Any criminal or other illegal activity encouraging the unlawful use, possession, manufacture or distribution of tobacco, drugs or alcohol\*
- Illegal posting, distribution, upload or download of copyrighted work of any kind
- Sharing assignments, questions/answers, or any other action that would violate any expectations or rules relative to academic honesty
- Posting personally identifiable information in any format other than via private message
- Indecent dress or disrobing
- Interference with the instructional audio or video
- Creation of photos or videos involving teachers or students\*
- Use or display of illegal drugs, alcohol, tobacco or tobacco products, or vaping devices\*
- Violations of the Board's/School's *Acceptable Use* policy or *Device Contract*

## CONSEQUENCES OF INAPPROPRIATE ONLINE CONDUCT

Parents and students must be aware that conduct that is unacceptable and disruptive in the regular classroom environment is, typically, unacceptable in the virtual classroom. The School Board recognizes, however, that virtual learning is a new experience for students and families, and that the context in which student conduct occurs must be taken into account in determining the appropriate penalty, if any, imposed for violations of the *Student Code of Conduct* in the virtual classroom.

Student conduct that occurs in the virtual classroom may be subject to progressive discipline which, *depending* on the seriousness of the conduct at issue, will include an initial verbal warning and consultation with the student's parent or guardian prior to any formal disciplinary action. The seriousness of the conduct at issue will dictate the actions of administrators and the nature of the penalty ultimately imposed. For example, a student may be subject to a severe penalty, even for a first offense, depending on the seriousness of the conduct at issue.

Some factors that administrators will take into account in determining the penalty to be imposed, if any, for conduct that occurs in the virtual classroom will include:

- Age of the student
- Whether the conduct disrupted learning in the virtual classroom
- Whether the conduct was violent or threatening in any way
- Whether the conduct was illegal
- Whether the conduct interfered with the rights of teachers and/or students to work and learn in a safe and orderly environment free from inappropriate images, messages, language or behavior
- Whether the student has been disciplined for any conduct in the past
- Whether the student has received prior warnings or discipline for similar conduct

\*Conduct in the virtual classroom related to the display or handling of weapons or drugs, or other conduct that raises legitimate concerns about the safety and welfare of a student, must be reported immediately to the School Principal and/or School Resource Officer in order to assess whether the matter must be reported to local law enforcement and/or the Department of Children and Family Services.

# **DRESS CODE**

The policy of the Lincoln Parish School Board shall be that no mode of attire will be considered proper for school wear that disrupts the classroom and/or the school's positive learning environment. The principal or his/her designee of each school shall make the final decision as to what is considered proper or improper dress according to the guidelines provided.

The Board's position is that it wants to teach each student to use good judgment in his/her total appearance so that the attention of others is not distracted from the purpose of the school. Cleanliness and the values of the community shall be a basic consideration.

# DRESS AND PERSONAL GROOMING

Student dress and grooming are not to adversely affect the students' participation in classes, school programs, and other school-related activities or detract from the learning environment of the school. Extremes in style and fit in student dress and extremes in style of grooming will not be permitted. Administrators are authorized to use their discretion in determining extremes in styles of dress and grooming and what is appropriate and suitable for school wear. No student shall wear, possess, use, distribute, display or sell any clothing, jewelry, emblem, blade, symbols, sign or other things which are evidence of affiliation with drugs, alcohol, violence or gang related activities or exhibits profane or obscene language/gestures. Policies regarding dress and grooming stress the importance of reducing distractions that inhibit learning and are addressed as an attempt to enhance the learning environment.

## **BODY ARMOR**

It shall be unlawful and against School Board policy for any student or non-student to wear or possess on his/her person, at any time, body armor on any School Board property, school campus, at a school-sponsored function, on a school bus or other school transportation, or in a firearm-free zone, with limited exception as enumerated in La. Rev. Stat. Ann.  $\S \underline{14:95.9}$ . School-sponsored functions shall include, but not be limited to, athletic competitions, dances, parties, or any extracurricular activities. A firearm-free zone means any area within one thousand feet of any school campus and within a school bus.

*Body armor* shall mean bullet-resistant metal or other material intended to provide protection from weapons or bodily injury.

# SCHOOL UNIFORMS

The School Board may require students to wear uniforms to school as designated. The School Board shall notify, in writing, the parent or guardian of each school student of the dress code and any uniform specifications and the effective date.

## STUDENT ALCOHOL AND DRUG USE

The Lincoln Parish School Board is dedicated to providing a drug-free learning environment for the students attending public schools. The Board directs that each student shall be specifically prohibited from being under the influence of, bringing on, consuming, or having in his/her possession on a school bus, on school premises, or at a school function away from the school, any alcoholic beverages, intoxicating liquors, narcotic drugs, prescription medications, marijuana, inhalants, imitation or counterfeit controlled substances, or other controlled substance as defined by state statutes, unless dispensed by a licensed physician as allowed by law. The Superintendent shall be responsible for maintaining appropriate procedures for the detection of alcohol, drugs, or any imitation or other controlled substances. Any student found in violation of the above shall be suspended.

Any violations of criminal laws, state or federal, committed on school property shall be prosecuted as provided by law. School officials, teachers and/or Board employees shall report all violators to the principal, who in turn, shall notify the proper law enforcement agency and shall cooperate with the prosecuting attorney's office in the prosecution of charges. Any student who distributes, sells or dispenses in any manner or form whatsoever a controlled dangerous substance as defined by state law to another student or anyone else while on the school premises shall be expelled pursuant to the provisions and guidelines as set forth in state law.

The principal shall immediately notify the parents or legal guardian, by telephone, of any student found in violation of this policy. If the parents or legal guardian cannot be reached by phone, the principal shall then notify them of the action by sending a letter within twenty-four (24) hours. Care shall be given to afford due process to all students.

## REPORTS OF SUBSTANCE ABUSE

State law mandates that teachers and other school employees report suspected substance abuse in school. These cases shall be reported to the principal and the Student Assistance Team in the school. The principal must report each case of possession, distributing, sales or manufacturing to the proper law enforcement authority. Reports shall also be made to the Student Assistance Team at each school, who shall investigate, research, and report on instances or reports of possession of prohibited substances or beverages. Designated personnel shall report its findings along with the recommendation for treatment, counseling or other appropriate action to the principal.

# Referral of Student Required

Any student arrested for possession of, or intentional distribution of, or possession with intent to distribute any illegal narcotic, drug, or other controlled substance on school property shall be referred by the school principal or his/her designee, within five (5) days after such arrest, for testing or screening by a qualified medical professional for evidence of abuse of alcohol, illegal narcotics, drugs, or other controlled dangerous substances.

If evidence of abuse is found, the principal or his/her designee shall refer the student to an alcohol and drug abuse treatment professional chosen by the student's parent or legal guardian. If it is determined by the professional that the student needs treatment, and if the student agrees to cooperate in the recommended treatment as certified in writing by the medical professional, such documentation may be used to initiate reopening the student's disciplinary case. The School Board shall take into consideration the student's agreement to receive treatment as a positive factor in the final decision relative to any final disciplinary action.

# **DRUG FREE ZONES**

It is unlawful for anyone to use, distribute, be under the influence of, manufacture or possess any controlled substances as defined by statute on or around school property or an area within 2,000 feet of any property used for school purposes by any school, or on a school bus. These areas shall be designated as *Drug Free Zones*. The Lincoln Parish School Board, in cooperation with local governmental agencies, and the Louisiana Department of Education, shall designate and mark *Drug Free Zones* which surround all schools and school property.

# **DUE PROCESS**

Prior to any suspension, the school principal, or his/her designee, shall advise the pupil in question of the particular misconduct of which he or she is accused as well as the basis for such accusation, and the pupil shall be given an opportunity at that time to explain his or her version of the facts to the school principal or his/her designee. A student whose presence in or about a school poses a continued danger to persons or property of an ongoing threat of disruption to the academic process may be immediately removed from the school premises without the benefit of the procedure described hereinabove; providing that the necessary procedure shall follow as soon as is practicable. Notice in writing of the suspension and the reasons therefore shall be given to the parent or parents of the pupil suspended. Any parent, tutor or legal guardian of a pupil suspended shall have the right to appeal to the parish Superintendent of schools, who shall conduct a hearing on the merits. The decision of the Superintendent of schools on the merit of the case, as well as the term of suspension, shall be final, reserving the right to the Superintendent of schools to remit any portion of the time of suspension. A pupil suspended for damages to any property belonging to the school system shall not be readmitted until payment in full has been made for such damage or until directed by the Superintendent of schools.

# **EQUAL EDUCATION OPPORTUNITIES**

It shall be the policy of the Lincoln Parish School Board that the school district shall place an equal emphasis upon the nondiscriminatory provision of educational opportunities for children and no person shall be denied the benefits of any education program or activity on the basis of race, color, handicap, religion, creed, national origin, age, or sex. All programs offered by schools within the school district shall be open to all students in compliance with statutory and judicial requirements.

Any person who has inquiries, concerns, or complaints related to issues involving students with disabilities and/or compliance with disabilities rights laws should contact the Lincoln Parish School Board's Section 504 Coordinator. Contact information is as follows:

Lincoln Parish School Board 504 Coordinator Emery Wilkerson 1428 Arlington Street. Ruston, LA 71270 (318) 255-8451 The name of the current 504 Coordinator can be found on the district website and in student handbooks.

Any person who has inquiries, concerns, or complaints related to issues involving sex discrimination should contact the Lincoln Parish School Board's Title IX Coordinator. Contact information is as follows:

Lincoln Parish School Board, Title IX Coordinator John Young, Assistant Superintendent 410 South Farmerville St. Ruston, LA 71270 (318) 255-1430

The name of the current Title IX Coordinator can be found on the district website and in student handbooks. All other inquiries, concerns, or complaints the non-discrimination of students on the basis of race, color, religion, creed, national origin or age should contact:

Lincoln Parish School Board, Title IX Coordinator John Young, Assistant Superintendent 410 South Farmerville St. Ruston, LA 71270 (318) 255-1430

# **SECTION 504**

Section 504 is a federal Civil rights Statue enacted to ensure non-discrimination against persons with disabilities. It states that no otherwise qualified disabled individual... shall, solely by reason of disability, be excluded from the participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination by any program or activity receiving federal financial assistance. The Lincoln Parish School Board provide accommodations to meet the needs of disabled students who are covered by Section 504 and enrolled in our school system. Students who demonstrate characteristics of Dyslexia, and may or may not be covered by Section 504 are provided instruction in a Multisensory Structured Language Program

Any person who has inquiries, concerns, or complaints related to issues involving students with disabilities and/or compliance with disabilities rights laws should contact the Lincoln Parish School Board's Section 504 Coordinator. Contact information is as follows:

Emery Wilkerson 1435 1428 Arlington Street Ruston, LA 71270 (318) 255-8451 emery.wilkerson@lincolnschools.org

# **EXPULSION**

The Lincoln Parish School Board may expel a student from school if an offense committed by the student is serious enough to warrant such action or is in violation of state law or the School Board's code of conduct. Prior to any expulsion the school principal or his/her designee shall advise the student of the particular misconduct of which he/she is accused as well as the basis for such accusation, and the student shall be given an opportunity at that time to explain his/her version of the facts. The principal/designee shall contact the parent or legal guardian of the student to notify them of the expulsion, and establish a date and time for a conference with the principal or designee as a requirement for readmitting the student. Notice shall be given by contacting the parent or legal guardian by telephone at the telephone number shown on the student 's registration card, or by

electronic communication and additionally by a certified letter sent to the address shown on the student's registration card. If the parent or legal guardian fails to attend the required conference within five (5) school days of notification, the truancy laws shall be effective.

Upon the recommendation for expulsion of a student by the principal a hearing shall be conducted by the Superintendent or his/her designee within fifteen (15) school days to determine the facts of the case and make a finding of whether or not the student is guilty of conduct warranting a recommendation of expulsion. The School Board must provide written notice of the hearing to the student and his/her parent or legal guardian, and the notice shall advise the student and his/her parent or legal guardian of their rights. Notification of the time, date, and place of the expulsion hearing shall be mailed to the parents. Following the hearing, the Superintendent or his/her designee shall notify the parents of the decision rendered.

At the hearing, the principal and/or teacher concerned may be represented by any person appointed by the Superintendent and the concerned teacher shall be permitted to attend and present any relevant information. Until the hearing, the student shall remain suspended with access to classwork and the opportunity to earn academic credit. A student who is expelled for longer than ten (10) days shall be provided with academic instruction at an alternative setting in accordance with La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:416.2.

Upon the conclusion of the hearing and upon finding the student guilty of conduct warranting expulsion, the Superintendent shall determine whether such student shall be expelled and the specified period of expulsion, or if other disciplinary action shall be taken. Unless otherwise stipulated by state statutes, the period of expulsion shall not be less than one school semester and may carry over into the next school year, if necessary. During an expulsion, the Superintendent shall place the student in an alternative school or in an alternative educational placement.

## APPEALS

The parent or legal guardian of the student who has been recommended for expulsion in accordance with state law may, within five (5) days after the decision to expel has been rendered, submit a request to the School Board to review the findings of the Superintendent or designee at a time set by the School Board; otherwise the decision of the Superintendent shall be final. If requested, as herein provided, and after reviewing the findings of the Superintendent or his/her designee, the School Board may affirm, modify, or reverse the action previously taken. The parent or legal guardian of the student shall have such right of review even if the recommendation is reduced to a suspension.

The parent or legal guardian of the student who has been recommended for expulsion in accordance with state law may, within ten (10) school days, appeal to the district court for the parish in which the student's school is located, an adverse ruling of the School Board in upholding the action of the Superintendent or his/her designee. The court may reverse or revise the ruling of the School Board upon a finding that the ruling of the School Board was based on an absence of any relevant evidence in support thereof. The parent or legal guardian of the student shall have such right to appeal to the district court even if the recommendation for expulsion is reduced to a suspension.

## **EXPULSION INVOLVING FIREARMS**

Any student, age sixteen (16) or older, or under sixteen (16) and in grades six (6) through twelve (12), who is found guilty of being in possession of a firearm on school property, on a school bus or in actual possession at a school-sponsored event, pursuant to a hearing, shall be expelled from school for a minimum period of four (4) complete school semesters and shall be referred to the district attorney for appropriate action.

Any student in kindergarten through grade five (5) who is found guilty of being in possession of a firearm on school property, on a school bus, or in actual possession at a school-sponsored event, pursuant to a hearing, shall be expelled from school for a minimum period of two (2) complete school semesters and shall be referred to the district attorney for appropriate action.

However, the Superintendent, may modify the length of the minimum expulsion required in the above paragraphs on a case-by-case basis, provided such modification is in writing.

# **EXPULSION INVOLVING DRUGS**

Any student, sixteen (16) years of age or older, found guilty of possession of, or knowledge of and intentional distribution of or possession with intent to distribute any illegal narcotic, drug, or other controlled substance on school property, on a school bus or at a school-sponsored event, pursuant to a hearing, shall be expelled from school for a minimum period of four (4) complete school semesters.

Any student who is under sixteen (16) years of age and in grades six (6) through twelve (12) and who is found guilty of possession of, or knowledge of and intentional distribution of or possession with intent to distribute any illegal narcotic, drug, or other controlled substance on school property, on a school bus, or at a school-sponsored event pursuant to a hearing shall be expelled from school for a minimum period of two (2) complete school semesters.

Any case involving a student in kindergarten through grade five (5) found guilty of possession of, or knowledge of and intentional distribution of or possession with intent to distribute any illegal narcotic, drug, or other controlled substance on school property, on a school bus, or at a school-sponsored event, pursuant to a hearing, shall be referred to the School Board through a recommendation for action from the Superintendent.

# **VIRTUAL INSTRUCTION**

The provisions related to mandatory recommendation for expulsion shall not be applied to virtual instruction received by a student in the student's home.

## ADDITIONAL REASONS FOR EXPULSION

Students may also be expelled for any of the following reasons:

- 1. Any student, after being suspended for committing violations of any discipline policies or other rule infractions, depending on the severity of the behavior, may be expelled upon recommendation to the Superintendent by the principal and after an appropriate hearing is held by the Superintendent or designee.
- 2. Any student who is found carrying or possessing a knife with a blade which equals or exceeds two and one-half (2 ½) inches in length.
- 3. In accordance with federal regulations, a student determined to have brought a weapon to a school under the School Board's jurisdiction shall be expelled for a minimum of one calendar year. The Superintendent may modify the expulsion requirement on a case-by-case basis. A *weapon*, in accordance with federal statutes, means a firearm or any device which is designed to expel a projectile or any destructive device, which in turn means any explosive, incendiary or poison gas, bomb, grenade, rocket, missile, mine or similar device.

- 4. Any student, *after being suspended on three (3) occasions* for committing drugs or weapons offenses during the same school year, **shall**, *upon committing the fourth offense*, be expelled from all the public schools of the system until the beginning of the next regular school year, and the student's reinstatement shall be subject to the review and approval of the School Board.
- 5. The conviction of any student of a felony or the incarceration of any student in a juvenile institution for an act which had it been committed by an adult, would have constituted a felony, may be cause for expulsion of the student for a period of time as determined by the School Board; such expulsions shall require the vote of *two-thirds* % of the elected members of the School Board, shall not be for a period of time longer than the student's period of adjudication as determined by the applicable court presiding over the student's criminal matter, and shall run concurrent to the student's period of disposition. If the student was serving an expulsion period when the student was incarcerated for a separate offense and the student completes the period of incarceration with time left in the expulsion period, the Superintendent or his/her designee may require the student to serve the time left in the expulsion period.

# **EXPULSION NOT APPLICABLE**

Expulsion shall not apply to the following:

- 1. A student carrying or possessing a firearm or knife for purposes of involvement in a school class, course, or school approved cocurricular or extracurricular activity or any other activity approved by appropriate school officials.
- 2. A student possessing any controlled dangerous substance that has been obtained directly or due to a valid prescription or order from a licensed medical provider. However, the student shall carry evidence of the prescription or medical provider's order on his/her person at all times when in possession of any controlled dangerous substance which shall be subject to verification. Evidence of the prescription or medical provider's order includes possession of the controlled dangerous substance in its original packaging as received from the pharmacy.

In addition, school officials, in accordance with statutory provisions, shall have total discretion and shall exercise such discretion in imposing on a student any disciplinary actions authorized by state law for possession by a student of a firearm or knife on school property when such firearm or knife is stored in a motor vehicle and there is no evidence of the student's intent to use the firearm or knife in a criminal manner.

# DRESS CODE VIOLATIONS

A student enrolled in grades prekindergarten through five shall not be expelled from school for a uniform violation that is not tied to willful disregard of school policies.

## READMITTANCE FOLLOWING EXPULSION

# Required Parent Conference

In each case of expulsion, the school principal, or his or her designee, shall contact the parent or legal guardian of the student to notify them of the expulsion, and establish a date and time for a conference with the principal or designee as a requirement for readmitting the student. Notice shall be given by sending a certified letter to the address shown on the student's registration card. Also, additional notification may be made by contacting the parent or legal guardian by telephone at the telephone number shown on the student's registration card.

If the parent, or legal guardian fails to attend the required conference within five (5) school days of notification, the student may be considered a truant and dealt with according to all applicable statutory provisions. On not more than one occasion each school year when the parent or legal guardian refuses to respond, the principal may determine whether readmitting the student is in the best interest of the student. On any subsequent occasions in the same school year, the student shall not be readmitted unless the parent or legal guardian, court, or other appointed representative responds.

In any case where a teacher, principal, or other school employee is authorized to require the parent or legal guardian of a student to attend a conference or meeting regarding the student's behavior and after notice, the parent or legal guardian willfully refuses to attend, the principal or his or her designee shall file a complaint, in accordance with statutory provisions, with a court exercising juvenile jurisdiction.

# Readmittance After All Expulsions

Any student expelled may be readmitted to school on a probationary basis at any time during the expulsion period on such terms and conditions as may be stipulated by the School Board. Readmission to school on a probationary basis shall be contingent on the student and legal guardian or custodian agreeing in writing to the conditions stipulated. Any such agreement shall contain a provision for immediate removal of the student from school premises and returned to the school system's alternative school setting without benefit of a hearing or other procedure upon the principal or Superintendent determining the student has violated any term or condition of the agreement. Immediately thereafter, the principal or designee shall provide proper notification in writing of the determination and reasons for removal to the Superintendent and the student's parent or legal guardian.

# Readmittance After Expulsion for Firearms, Knives, Weapons, or Drugs

In addition to the readmittance provisions for all expulsions stated above, a student that has been expelled for possessing on school property or on a bus, a firearm, knife, or other dangerous weapon, or possessing or possession with intent to distribute or distributing, selling, giving, or loaning while on school property or a school bus any controlled dangerous substance shall not be enrolled or readmitted to any regular public school of the school system on a probationary basis prior to the completion of the period of expulsion at the school system's alternative education setting until the student produces written documentation that he/she and his/her parent or legal guardian have enrolled and participated or is participating in an appropriate rehabilitation or counseling programs shall be provided by such programs approved by the juvenile or family court having jurisdiction, if applicable, or by the School Board. The requirement for enrollment and participation in a rehabilitation or counseling program shall be waived only upon a documented showing by the student that no appropriate program is available in the area or that the student cannot enroll or participate due to financial hardship.

# Review of Records

A student who has been expelled from any school in or out of state shall not be admitted to a school in the school system except upon the review and approval of the School Board following the request for admission. To facilitate the review and approval for readmittance, the student shall provide to the School Board information on the dates of any expulsions and the reasons therefor. Additionally, the transfer of student records to any school or system shall include information on the dates of any expulsions and the reasons therefor.

# CREDIT FOR SCHOOL WORK MISSED

A student who is expelled and receives educational services at an alternative school site shall be assigned work by a certified teacher and shall receive credit for school work if it is completed satisfactorily and timely as

determined by the teacher. Such work shall be aligned with the curriculum used at the school from which the student was expelled.

# RECUSAL OF ADMINISTRATOR IN DISCIPLINE MATTERS

Any school administrator or administrator's designee who is required to make a recommendation, decide an issue, or take action in a matter involving the discipline of a student shall recuse himself/herself whenever a member of the immediate family of the administrator or administrator's designee is involved in any manner in the discipline matter. In case of recusal, the action to be taken shall be done so by the Superintendent or an impartial designee of the Superintendent.

*Immediate family* means the individual's children, brothers, sisters, parents, and spouse and the children, brothers, sisters, and parents of the spouse.

# EXPULSION OF STUDENTS WITH DISABILITIES OR EXCEPTIONALITIES

Expulsion of students with disabilities or exceptionalities, or an Individualized Education Program or Section 504 Individualized Accommodation Plan, shall be to the extent allowed by applicable state or federal law and regulations or the provisions of the student's specific plan.

# **DANGEROUS WEAPONS**

The Lincoln Parish School Board shall authorize the principal of each school to automatically suspend, and recommend expulsion for, any student found in possession of a dangerous weapon on the school grounds, on school buses and/or at any school-sponsored event, at any time, during or after regular school hours, with limited exception as permitted by state law.

If a student is detained for carrying, or the principal or designee confiscates or seizes a firearm or concealed dangerous weapon from a student while on school property, on a school bus, or at a school function, the principal or school official shall immediately report the detention of the student or seizure of the firearm or weapon to the police department or sheriff's office where the school is located and shall deliver any firearm or weapon seized to that agency.

The failure of any principal or designated administrator to report the confiscation of such implement or material or the failure to retain and secure such implement or material may result in a misdemeanor. When a principal or designated administrator violates any provisions of this policy, a report on such violations shall be made by the complainant to the Superintendent. The Superintendent or his/her designee shall conduct a hearing on the alleged offense.

If a student is detained for carrying a concealed weapon on campus, the principal shall immediately notify the student's parents.

Dangerous weapon means any gas, liquid, or other substance or instrumentality, which in the manner used, is likely to produce death or great bodily harm. When the student is found in possession of a weapon, the Superintendent shall be immediately notified and the principal shall take appropriate disciplinary action.

Firearm means any pistol, revolver, rifle, shotgun, machine gun, submachine gun, blackpowder weapon, or assault rifle that is designed to fire or is capable of firing fixed cartridge ammunition or from which a shot or projectile is discharged by an explosive.

# FIREARM-FREE ZONES

It is unlawful for a student or nonstudent to intentionally possess a firearm or dangerous weapon on school property at a school sponsored function or within 1000 feet of school property or while on a school bus at any time. The area surrounding the school campus or within 1000 feet of any such school campus, or within a school bus shall be designated *firearm-free zones*, wherein the possession of firearms is prohibited, except as specifically set forth in La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§14:95.2 and 14:95.6. The School Board, in cooperation with local governmental agencies, and the Louisiana Department of Education, shall designate and mark *firearm-free zones* which surround all schools and school property.

## DRESS CODE VIOLATIONS

A student enrolled in grades prekindergarten through five shall not be expelled from school for a uniform violation that is not tied to willful disregard of school policies.

# READMITTANCE FOLLOWING EXPULSION

# Required Parent Conference

In each case of expulsion, the school principal, or his or her designee, shall contact the parent, tutor, or legal guardian of the pupil to notify them of the expulsion, and establish a date and time for a conference with the principal or designee as a requirement for readmitting the pupil. Notice shall be given by sending a certified letter to the address shown on the pupil's registration card. Also, additional notification may be made by contacting the parent, tutor, or legal guardian by telephone at the telephone number shown on the pupil's registration card.

If the parent, tutor, or legal guardian fails to attend the required conference within five (5) school days of notification, the student may be considered a truant and dealt with according to all applicable statutory provisions. On not more than one occasion each school year when the parents, tutor, or legal guardian refuses to respond, the principal may determine whether readmitting the pupil is in the best interest of the pupil. On any subsequent occasions in the same school year, the pupil shall not be readmitted unless the parent, tutor, or legal guardian, court, or other appointed representative responds.

In any case where a teacher, principal, or other school employee is authorized to require the parent, tutor, or legal guardian of a pupil to attend a conference or meeting regarding the pupil's behavior and after notice, the parent, tutor, or legal guardian willfully refuses to attend, the principal or his or her designee shall file a complaint, in accordance with statutory provisions, with a court exercising juvenile jurisdiction.

## Readmittance After All Expulsions

Any pupil expelled may be readmitted to school on a probationary basis at any time during the expulsion period on such terms and conditions as may be stipulated by the School Board. Readmission to school on a probationary basis shall be contingent on the pupil and legal guardian or custodian agreeing in writing to the conditions stipulated. Any such agreement shall contain a provision for immediate removal of the pupil from school premises without benefit of a hearing or other procedure upon the principal or Superintendent determining the pupil has violated any term or condition of the agreement. Immediately thereafter, the principal or designee shall provide proper notification in writing of the determination and reasons for removal to the Superintendent and the pupil's parent or legal guardian.

# Readmittance After Expulsion for Firearms, Knives, Weapons, or Drugs

In addition to the readmittance provisions for all expulsions stated above, a pupil that has been expelled for possessing on school property or on a bus, a firearm, knife, or other dangerous weapon, or possessing or possession with intent to distribute or distributing, selling, giving, or loaning while on school property or a school bus any controlled dangerous substance shall not be enrolled or readmitted to any such school on a probationary basis prior to the completion of the period of expulsion until the pupil produces written documentation that he/she and his/her parent or legal guardian have enrolled and participated or is participating in an appropriate rehabilitation or counseling program related to the reason(s) for the pupil's expulsion. The rehabilitation or counseling programs shall be provided by such programs approved by the juvenile or family court having jurisdiction, if applicable, or by the School Board. The requirement for enrollment and participation in a rehabilitation or counseling program shall be waived only upon a documented showing by the pupil that no appropriate program is available in the area or that the pupil cannot enroll or participate due to financial hardship.

## Review of Records

A pupil who has been expelled from any school in or out of state shall not be admitted to a school in the school system except upon the review and approval of the School Board following the request for admission. To facilitate the review and approval for readmittance, the pupil shall provide to the School Board information on the dates of any expulsions and the reasons therefor. Additionally, the transfer of pupil records to any school or system shall include information on the dates of any expulsions and the reasons therefor.

# CREDIT FOR SCHOOL WORK MISSED

A student who is expelled and receives educational services at an alternative school site shall be assigned work by a certified teacher and shall receive credit for school work if it is completed satisfactorily and timely as determined by the teacher. Such work shall be aligned with the curriculum used at the school from which the student was expelled.

# RECUSAL OF ADMINISTRATOR IN DISCIPLINE MATTERS

Any school administrator or administrator's designee who is required to make a recommendation, decide an issue, or take action in a matter involving the discipline of a student shall recuse himself/herself whenever a member of the immediate family of the administrator or administrator's designee is involved in any manner in the discipline matter. In case of recusal, the action to be taken shall be done so by the Superintendent or an impartial designee of the Superintendent.

*Immediate family* means the individual's children, brothers, sisters, parents, and spouse and the children, brothers, sisters, and parents of the spouse.

## **EXPULSION OF STUDENTS WITH DISABILITIES**

Expulsion of students with disabilities shall be in accordance with applicable state or federal law and regulations.

# **GANG ACTIVITY**

It is the policy of the Lincoln Parish School Board to prohibit the existence of gangs and gang activities within its schools, on school property, and at any school-related function. "Gang" means a group that identifies itself through the use of a name, unique appearance or language, including hand signs, the claiming of geographical territory, or the espousing of a distinctive belief system that frequently results in criminal activity.

Gangs that initiate, advocate, or promote activities which threaten the safety or well-being of persons or property on school grounds or which disrupt the school environment are harmful to the educational process. The use of hand signals, graffiti, or the presence of any apparel, jewelry, accessory, or manner of grooming which, by virtue of its color, arrangement, trademark, symbol or any other attribute indicates or implies membership or affiliation with such a group, present a clear and present danger to the school environment and educational objectives of the community, and are therefore forbidden.

Gang activities are forbidden, including, but not limited to, incidents involving initiations, hazing, intimidation, and/or activities of such group affiliations which are likely to cause bodily danger, physical harm, or personal degradation or disgrace resulting in physical or mental harm to students.

It shall also be prohibited for any student to wear, carry, or display gang paraphernalia, or exhibit behavior or gestures which symbolize gang membership, or to cause and/or participate in activities which intimidate or affect the attendance of another student. Any student exhibiting such activities shall be subject to disciplinary action, including suspension and expulsion.

The Superintendent may provide in-service training in gang behavior and characteristics to facilitate staff identification of students at-risk, and to promote membership in authorized school groups and activities as an alternative. The Superintendent may further exchange information and establish mutually supportive efforts with local law enforcement authorities to assist with preventing the influence of gangs in schools.

2023-24 GRADING PERIODS AND SCALES

Mid-Nine Weeks	Nine Weeks Ends	Report Cards Issued	# Days
1) Tues., September 19, 2023	Fri., October 27, 2023	Thurs., November 2, 2023	44.0
2) Tues., December 5, 2023	Fri., January 19, 2024	Thurs., January 25, 2024	42.5
		First Semester Total	86.5
3) Wed., February 21, 2024	Fri., March 22, 2024	Thurs., April 4, 2024	43.0
4) Tues., April 23, 2024	Thurs., May 23, 2024	*Thurs., May 23, 2024	38.0
		Second Semester Total	81.0
*Report cards issued or mailed		Total Days	167.5

REGULAR/HONORS 6-8 GRADING SCALE GRADES K-12	HONORS 9-12/AP/DUAL GRADING SCALE GRADES 9-12
100 - 93 = A	100 - 90 = A
92 - 85 = B	89 - 80 = B
84 - 75 = C	79 - 70 = C
74 - 67 = D	69 - 60 = D
66 - 0 = F	59 - 0 = F
INCOMPLETE = I	INCOMPLETE = I

## HEALTH AND MEDICAL

## **MEDICATION GUIDELINES**

The Louisiana State Legislature passed a law concerning medication administration in public schools. (R.S. 17:436, Act 87) The Lincoln Parish School Board adopted its Medication Guidelines to comply with this law.

#### MEDICATIONS AT SCHOOL:

- will be limited to those which cannot be administered before or after school.
- > must be transported to and from school by a parent or guardian (DO NOT SEND MEDICATION WITH YOUR CHILD) and you must check in at the school office.
- ➤ must have a MEDICATION FORM on file at school. This 2-sided form includes a MEDICATION ORDER from a LA, TX, AR, or MS licensed physician or dentist and a PARENTAL CONSENT. This form is available at schools and local physicians' offices.
- must be in a pharmacy-approved container with a prescription label. This label should include a prescription number, child's name, name of medication, dosage and frequency, physician's name, date, and pharmacist's name.
- > will be limited to a 35 day supply.
- > must be in the correct dosage form. If a student is to receive a ½ pill, the pills should already be cut in half. A medication measuring spoon should accompany all liquids.
- > must have the first dose given at home.
- No antibiotics will be given at school.
- > If a parent or guardian brings medication to give to a child at school, they must first check in at the school office.
- > It is the student's responsibility to remember to come to the office (or other appropriate designated location) to take their medications.

# Students with Type I Diabetes (also known as insulin-dependent diabetes):

Specific guidelines and requirements must be followed for diabetic students to be safe at school. These DIABETIC GUIDELINES are available at the school office or from the school nurse.

# MEDICAL EMERGENCIES

If your child incurs a serious or life-threatening injury or medical emergency, a reasonable attempt to notify parent / guardian will be made by school personnel. Any appropriate first aid will be made and 911 will be called. Your child will be transported by ambulance to the nearest medical hospital. The Lincoln Parish School Board will not be held liable for any resulting medical complications or for any expenses incurred in the transport or provision of emergency care.

# **HEALTH and EMERGENCY DATA**

A Health Information Form is to be filled out for each student for the current school year. This form is available in the school office and at the registration desk at the Lincoln Parish School Board office. The school MUST HAVE current phone numbers, at least one emergency contact phone number, and a current address on file for each student. Parents should notify teachers or the school office of any critical health or medical condition concerning their child. Parents should also notify the school office immediately of any change of address or phone numbers that occur during the school year. Failure to do so will hinder our ability to contact you in case of a health problem or emergency at school.

# Annual Notice Regarding Consent to Bill Medicaid and Share Information with the Louisiana Department of Health

Schools in Louisiana have been approved to receive partial reimbursement from Louisiana Medicaid for the cost of certain health-related services provided by Lincoln Parish Schools to certain students. In order for Lincoln Parish Schools to get back some of the money spent on services, Lincoln Parish Schools needs to share with Louisiana Medicaid the following types of information about certain students: name; date of birth; gender; type of services provided, when and by whom; diagnosis (if any) and Louisiana Medicaid ID. If your child is eligible to receive services to meet his/her needs, the services may be provided by the school system and/or you may take your child to another provider that accepts Medicaid.

With one-time written parental permission, Lincoln Parish Schools seeks partial reimbursement for services provided by Louisiana Medicaid including, among others, a hearing test or eye exam; occupational or speech or physical therapy; some school nurse visits; and counseling services. After the initial permission is given, this annual notice is provided each year.

# Please be advised of the following:

- 1. Lincoln Parish Schools cannot require families to sign up for Louisiana Medicaid in order to receive the health related and/or special education services to which the student is entitled.
- 2. Lincoln Parish Schools cannot require families to pay anything towards the cost of a student's health-related and/or special education services.
- 3. Lincoln Parish Schools is given permission to share information with and request reimbursement from Louisiana Medicaid:
  - a. This will not affect the student's available lifetime coverage or other Louisiana Medicaid; nor will it in any way limit the family's use of Louisiana Medicaid benefits outside of school.
  - b. The permission will not affect the student's special education services or IEP rights in any way, if the student is eligible to receive them.
  - c. The permission will not lead to any changes in the student's Louisiana Medicaid rights; and
  - d. The permission will not lead to any risk of losing eligibility for other Medicaid funded programs.

- 4. Once the permission is given, families have the right to change their mind and withdraw permission at any time.
- 5. If permission is withdrawn, Lincoln Parish Schools will continue to be responsible for providing the student with the services, at no cost to the family.

If a parent wishes to withdraw previously given written consent, please contact Renee Skipper at 318-255-1430 (ext. 232).

# ACCIDENTS and MEDICAL INSURANCE

Every accident in the school building, on the school grounds, at practice sessions, or at any school-sponsored athletic event must be reported immediately to the person in charge and to the school office. An accident report will be filled out by school personnel. Appropriate first aid will be applied and a reasonable attempt will be made by to notify parent/guardian by school personnel. The school and the Lincoln Parish School Board will not be held liable for expenses related to accidents on school premises.

The Lincoln Parish School Board does not offer medical or medical liability insurance to students. If you do not have medical coverage for your child, you may obtain information from the Lincoln Parish Health Unit, or from your personal physician or community healthcare provider.

Your child may qualify for a low- or no-cost insurance with LaChip (Louisiana Children's Health Insurance Program). You may call (877) 252-2447 or go to https://ldh.la.gov/page/222 for further information.

The Lincoln Parish School Board does not provide medical coverage for accidents at school or during certain off-campus activities. Therefore, families may want to consider purchasing student accident insurance.

For this school year, the Lincoln Parish School Board has partnered with K&K Insurance to make student accident insurance available for purchase by parents and guardians on a voluntary basis. The plan has several coverage options for families without other insurance, or it can fill in gaps caused by deductibles and co-pays under the student's existing medical plan. This secondary insurance pays only those specified medical expenses not covered by the student's own medical insurance up to policy limits. Illnesses are not covered by Student Accident Insurance. More information can be found at: <a href="https://www.lincolnschools.org/page/student-accident-insurance">https://www.lincolnschools.org/page/student-accident-insurance</a>

## **IMMUNIZATIONS**

The Louisiana State Legislature passed a law concerning immunizations for school age children (RS 17:170). The Lincoln Parish School Board requires every child to have a current immunization record to comply with this law. These immunization requirements must meet the standards set by the Louisiana DHH (Department of Health and Hospitals), Office of Public Health. Any student failing to meet the immunization standards shall be prohibited from attending school until such time as the immunization standards are met.

# **COMMUNICABLE DISEASES**

The Lincoln Parish School Board follows the policies and guidelines set by the Louisiana DHH and Office of Public Health. Your child may be excluded from school if symptoms are reviewed to be suspicious of contagion or confirmation is received that he or she has a condition, disease, or infection known to be spread by casual contact (contagious). Schools will strive to prevent or contain an outbreak of a communicable disease. School personnel follow the Universal Precautions and Bloodborne Pathogen Standards set by OSHA (Occupational Safety and Health Administration).

# ADMINISTRATION OF MEDICATION

It is the policy of the Lincoln Parish School Board that the administration of medication to students at school shall meet the following conditions and limitations. As used in this policy, the term *medication* shall include all prescription and non-prescription drugs.

# 1. WRITTEN ORDERS, APPROPRIATE CONTAINERS, LABELS, AND INFORMATION

- A. Medication shall not be administered to any student without a completed *Medication Order* from a physician or dentist licensed to practice medicine in Louisiana or an adjacent state, or any other authorized prescriber authorized in the state of Louisiana to prescribe medication or devices, *and* a letter of request with a completed and signed authorization from the student's parent or guardian. The following information shall be included:
  - 1) the student's name
  - 2) the name and signature of the physician/dentist/other authorized prescriber
  - 3) physician's/dentist's/other authorized prescriber's business address, office phone number, and emergency phone numbers
  - 4) relevant diagnosis
  - 5) name, amount of each school dose, time of school administration, route of medication, and reason for use of medication
  - 6) a written statement of the desired effects and the child-specific potential adverse effects

The State of Louisiana School Health Forms (e.g., Health Information, Physician's Authorization for Special Health Care, Medication Order, etc.) have been designated as the preferred methods for obtaining medical orders and relevant student health information pursuant to this policy.

- B. Medication shall be provided to the school by the parent/legal guardian in the container that meets acceptable pharmaceutical standards and shall include the following information:
  - 1) name of pharmacy
  - 2) address and telephone number of pharmacy
  - 3) prescription number
  - 4) date dispensed
  - 5) name of student
  - 6) clear directions for use, including the route, frequency, and other as indicated
  - 7) drug name and strength
  - 8) last name and initial of pharmacist
  - 9) cautionary auxiliary labels, if applicable
  - 10) physician's/dentist's/other authorized prescriber's name

Labels of prepackaged medications, when dispensed, shall contain the following information in addition to the regular pharmacy label:

- 1) drug name
- 2) dosage form
- 3) strength
- 4) quantity

- 5) name of manufacturer and/or distributor
- 6) manufacturer's lot or batch number
- C. Medication policies and procedures shall be available to parents/guardians upon request. School medication forms shall also be available upon request or may be downloaded from the Louisiana Department of Education or Louisiana Department of Health websites.

## 2. ADMINISTRATION OF MEDICATION: GENERAL PROVISIONS

- A. Once trained, the school employee who administers medication may not decline to perform such service at the time indicated, unless exempted in writing by the physician, registered nurse, or school nurse.
- B. During the period when the medication is administered the person administering medication must be relieved of all other duties. This requirement does not include the observation period required in 2.F below.
- C. Except in the case of a trained unlicensed diabetes care assistant administering diabetes medications (if applicable) or in life-threatening situations, trained unlicensed school personnel may not administer injectable medications.
- D. All medications must be stored in a secured locked area or locked drawer with limited access by only authorized, trained school personnel.
- E. Only oral, inhalant, topical ointment for diaper rash, and emergency medications may be administered at school by unlicensed, but trained, school personnel. Oral medications are limited to those prescribed for ADHD, asthma, chronic conditions, life-threatening conditions, and seizures. No antibiotics are to be given by trained unlicensed personnel. Under special circumstances, other medications not mentioned above may be administered as necessary, as approved by the school nurse.
- F. Each student must be observed by a school employee for a period of 45 minutes following the administration of medication. This observation may occur during instruction time.
- G. School medication orders shall be limited to medication which cannot be administered before or after school hours.

## 3. PRINCIPAL

The principal shall designate at least two (2) employees to receive training and administer medications in each school.

## 4. TEACHER

The classroom teacher, who is not otherwise previously contractually required, shall not be assigned to administer medications to students. A teacher may request in writing to volunteer to administer medications to his/her own students. The administration of medications shall not be a condition of employment of teachers employed subsequent to July 1, 1994. A regular education teacher who is assigned a student with an exceptionality under Louisiana Bulletin 1508 shall not be required to administer medications.

#### 5. SCHOOL NURSE

- A. The school nurse, in collaboration with the principal, shall supervise the implementation of the school policies for the administration of medications in schools to ensure the safety, health, and welfare of the students.
- B. The school nurse shall be responsible for the training of non-medical personnel who have been designated by each principal to administer medications in each school. The training must be at least six (6) hours and include, but not be limited to, the following provisions:
  - 1) Proper procedures for administration of medications including controlled substances
  - 2) Storage and disposal of medications
  - 3) Appropriate and correct record keeping
  - 4) Appropriate actions when unusual circumstances or medication reactions occur
  - 5) Appropriate use or resources

## 6. PARENT/LEGAL GUARDIAN

- A. The parent/legal guardian who wishes medication administered to his/her child shall provide the following:
  - 1) A letter of request and authorization that contains the following information:
    - a. the student's name;
    - b. clear instructions for school administration;
    - c. prescription number, if any;
    - d. current date;
    - e. relevant diagnosis;
    - f. name, amount of each school dose, time of school administration, route of medication, and reason for use of medication;
    - g. physician's/dentist's/other authorized prescriber's name;
    - h. the parent's/legal guardian's printed name and signature;
    - i. parent's/legal guardian's emergency phone number;
    - j. statement granting or withholding release of medical information;
  - A written order for each medication to be given at school, including annual renewals at the beginning of the school year. The new orders dated before July of that school year shall not be accepted. No corrections shall be accepted on the physician's *Medication Order* form. Alteration of this form in any way or falsification of the signature is grounds for prosecution. Orders for multiple medications on the same form, an incomplete form, or a form with a physician's/dentist's/ other authorized prescriber's stamp shall not be accepted. Faxed orders may be accepted; original orders must be received within five (5) business days.
  - A current written order for all medications to be administered at school, including medications that might ordinarily be available over-the-counter. **Only** the physician/dentist/other authorized prescriber or his/her staff may write on the *Medication Order* form. This form must be signed by the physician/dentist/other authorized prescriber, including annual renewals at the beginning of the school year.

Over-the-counter medications shall be authorized through the completion of the Lincoln Parish School Board *OTC Medication Administration Standing Medical Orders* form.

- 4) A list of all medications that the student is currently receiving at home and school, if that listing is not a violation of confidentiality or contrary to the request of the parent/legal guardian or student.
- 5) A list of names and telephone numbers of persons to be notified in case of medication emergency in addition to the parent/legal guardian and licensed physician/dentist/other authorized prescriber.
- Arrangements for the safe delivery of the medication to and from school in the properly labeled container as dispensed by the pharmacist; the medication must be delivered by a responsible adult. The parent/ legal guardian will need to get two (2) containers for each prescription from the pharmacist in order that the parent/legal guardian, as well as the school, will have a properly labeled container. If the medication is not properly labeled and does not match the physician's order exactly, it will not be given.
- B. All aerosol medications shall be delivered to the school in pre-measured dosage.
- C. Provide no more than a thirty-five (35) school day supply of medication in a properly labeled container to be kept at school.
- D. The initial dose of a medication shall be administered by the student's parent/legal guardian outside the school jurisdiction with sufficient time for observation for adverse reactions.
- E. The parent/legal guardian shall work with those personnel designated to administer medication as follows:
  - 1) Cooperate in counting the medication with the designated school personnel who receives it and sign the *Drug Receipt* form.
  - 2) Cooperate with school staff to provide for safe, appropriate administration of medications to students, such as positioning, and suggestions for liquids or foods to be given with the medication.
  - 3) Assist in the development of the emergency plan for each student.
  - 4) Comply with written and verbal communication regarding school policies.
  - 5) Grant permission for school nurse/physician/dentist/other authorized prescriber consultation.
  - Remove or give permission to destroy unused, contaminated, discontinued, or out-of-date medications according to the school guidelines.

## 7. STUDENT SELF-MEDICATION

Only those medical conditions which require immediate access to medications to prevent a life-threatening or potentially debilitating situation shall be considered for self-administration of medication. Compliance with the school policy for a drug-free zone shall also be met if possible.

The School Board shall permit self-administration of medications by a student with asthma or diabetes or the use of auto-injectable epinephrine by a student at risk of anaphylaxis, provided the student's parent or other legal guardian provides the school in which the student is enrolled with the following documentation:

- A. Written authorization for the student to carry and self-administer such prescribed medications.
- B. Written certification from a licensed medical physician or other authorized prescriber that the student:
  - 1) has asthma, diabetes, or is at risk of having anaphylaxis
  - 2) has received instruction in the proper method of self-administration of the student's prescribed medications to treat asthma, diabetes, or anaphylaxis
- C. A written treatment plan from the student's licensed physician or authorized prescriber for managing asthma, diabetes, or anaphylactic episodes. The treatment plan shall be signed by the student, the student's parent or other legal guardian, and the student's physician or other authorized prescriber. The treatment plan shall contain the following information:
  - 1) The name, purpose, and prescribed dosage of the medications to be self-administered.
  - 2) The time or times the medications are to be regularly administered and under what additional special circumstances the medications are to be administered.
  - 3) The length of time for which the medications are prescribed.
- D. Any other documentation required by the School Board.

The required documentation shall be maintained in the office of the school nurse or other designated school official.

The School Board shall inform the parent or other legal guardian of the student in writing that the school and its employees shall incur no liability as a result of any injury sustained by the student from the self-administration of medications used to treat asthma, diabetes, or anaphylaxis. The parent or other legal guardian of the student shall sign a statement acknowledging that the school shall incur no liability and that the parent or other legal guardian shall indemnify and hold harmless the school and its employees against any claims that may arise relating to the self-administration of medications used to treat asthma, diabetes, or anaphylaxis.

A student who has been granted permission to self-administer medication by the School Board shall be allowed to carry and store with the school nurse or other designated school official an inhaler, auto-injectable epinephrine, or insulin, at all times.

Permission for the self-administration of asthma or diabetes medications or use of auto-injectable epinephrine by a student shall be effective only for the school year in which permission is granted. The School Board shall grant permission for self-administration of asthma or diabetes medications or the use of auto-injectable epinephrine by a student each subsequent school year, provided all of the requirements of this part of the policy are fulfilled.

Upon obtaining permission to self-administer asthma or diabetes medication or to use auto-injectable epinephrine, the School Board shall permit a student to possess and self-administer such prescribed medication at any time while on school property or while attending a school sponsored activity. A student who uses any medication permitted by this policy in a manner other than as prescribed shall be subject to disciplinary action; however, such disciplinary action shall not limit or restrict such student's immediate access to such prescribed medication.

Auto-injectable epinephrine means a medical device for the immediate self-administration of epinephrine by a person at risk for anaphylaxis.

*Glucagon* means a hormone that raises the level of glucose in the blood. Glucagon, given by injection, is used to treat severe hypoglycemia.

*Inhaler* means a medical device that delivers a metered dose of medication to alleviate the symptoms of asthma.

Insulin Pen means a pen-like device used to put insulin into the body.

*Insulin Pump* means a computerized device that is programmed to deliver small, steady doses of insulin.

# Other Permitted Medications

The School Board may permit self-administration of other medications by a student, provided that:

- A. *Medication Order* from the physician or authorized prescriber and from the student's parent or guardian shall be on file and communication with the prescriber has been established.
- B. The school nurse has evaluated the situation and deemed it to be safe and appropriate and has developed a medical administration plan for general supervision. The administration plan may include observation of the procedure, student health counseling, and health instruction regarding the principles of self-care.
- C. The principal and appropriate staff are informed that the student is self-administering the prescribed medication.
- D. The medication is handled in a safe, appropriate manner.
- E. The school principal and the school-employed registered nurse determine a safe place for storing the medication. The medication must be accessible if the student's health needs require it; this information is included in the medication administration plan.
- F. Certain medications which may be needed in emergencies should have a backup supply readily available.
- G. The student records the medication administration and reports unusual circumstances (as a general rule, the student must record all dates and times he/she is self-medicating during school hours). The medication log shall be kept in the main office where the student shall record this information unless otherwise noted on the student's *Individual Administration Plan*).
- H. The school-employed registered nurse, and/or the designated employee monitors the student.

#### 8. ACCEPTABLE SCHOOL MEDICATIONS

School medication orders shall be limited to medication which cannot be administered before or after school hours. Parents may come to school and administer medication to their children at any time during the school day.

Medications which may be considered as acceptable under this policy:

- A. Medication to modify behavior (e.g., Ritalin, when the sustained action form of this medication is not effective.)
- B. Medication to treat severe allergic reactions must have specific written instructions from a physician.
- C. Anticonvulsive medication.
- D. Medication for asthma or diabetes.
- E. Medication given in extenuating circumstances.
- F. Non-prescription (over-the-counter) drugs may only be administered by school personnel if medical certification of extenuating circumstances and a *OTC Medication Administration Standing Medical Orders* form has been provided to the school nurse and all other requirements of Section 1 have been met.
- G. Antibiotics and other short-term medications will not be given at school, unless so ordered by a physician, dentist, or other authorized prescriber.
- H. The school nurse or trained school employee shall have the authority to administer auto-injectable epinephrine, as defined elsewhere in this policy, to a student who the school nurse or trained school employee believes is having an anaphylactic reaction, whether or not the student has a prescription for epinephrine. At least one employee at each school shall receive training from a registered nurse or licensed medical physician in the administration of epinephrine.
- I. Other specific illnesses that require medication.
- J. The school nurse shall have the authority to maintain a supply of naloxone or other opioid antagonists, and per La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:436.1(M), may administer it to any student or other person on school grounds in the event of an actual or perceived opioid emergency.

A school employee who has received at least six (6) hours of general training for medication administration from a registered nurse or a licensed medical physician that includes the emergency administration of naloxone, shall also be authorized to administer naloxone to any student or other person on school grounds in the event of an actual or perceived opioid emergency.

No school nurse or trained school employee shall be liable for civil damages which may result from acts of omissions relating to the use of the opioid antagonist which may constitute ordinary negligence; nor shall the school personnel be subject to criminal prosecution which may result from acts or omissions in the good faith administration of an opioid antagonist. This immunity does not apply to acts or omissions constituting gross negligence or willful or wanton conduct.

#### 9. DIABETES

Each student with diabetes who seeks care for his/her diabetes while at school or while participating in a school-related activity shall submit a diabetes management and treatment plan on an annual basis. Such plan shall be developed by a physician licensed in Louisiana or adjacent state, or other authorized health care prescriber licensed in Louisiana who is selected by the parent or legal guardian to be responsible for such student's diabetes treatment. *School-related activities* include, but are not limited to, extracurricular activities and sports.

A student's diabetes management and treatment plan shall be kept on file in the school in which the student is enrolled and shall contain:

- A. A detailed evaluation of the student's level of understanding of his/her condition and his/her ability to manage his/her diabetes.
- B. The diabetes-related healthcare services the student may receive or self-administer at school or during a school-related activity.
- C. A timetable, including dosage instructions, of any diabetes medications to be administered to the student or self-administered by the student.
- D. The signature of the student (if age appropriate), the student's parent or legal guardian, and the physician or other authorized health care prescriber responsible for the student's diabetes treatment.

The parent or legal guardian of a student with diabetes shall annually submit a copy of the student's diabetes management and treatment plan to the principal or appropriately designated school personnel of the school where the student is enrolled. The plan shall be reviewed by appropriate school personnel either prior to or within five (5) days after the beginning of each school year, upon enrollment if the student enrolls after the beginning of the school year, as soon as practicable following the student being diagnosed with diabetes, or as warranted by changes in the student's medical condition.

Upon receipt of the student's diabetes management and treatment plan, the school nurse shall conduct a nursing assessment of the student's condition and develop an *Individualized Healthcare Plan* (IHP). The school nurse shall be given not less than five (5) school days to develop the IHP and shall implement the IHP within ten (10) school days of receipt of the diabetes treatment plan. The school nurse must assess the stability of the student's diabetes both at home and in the school setting prior to the development of the IHP for care in the school setting.

The parent or legal guardian shall be responsible for all care related to the student's diabetes management and treatment plan until the IHP is developed, the parents or legal guardian have agreed to and signed the IHP, and the diabetes management and treatment plan is put into place by the school nurse.

The School Board may utilize an unlicensed diabetes care assistant to provide appropriate care to a diabetic student or assist a student with self-care of his/her diabetes, in accordance with the student's diabetes management and treatment plan, the student's IHP, and regulations contained in *Health and* 

Safety, Bulletin 135. An *unlicensed diabetes care assistant* is defined as a school employee who is not a healthcare professional, who is willing to complete training requirements established by BESE, and who is determined competent by the school nurse to provide care and treatment to students with diabetes. An *unlicensed diabetes care assistant* also means an employee of an entity that contracts with the school or school system to provide school nurses who are responsible for providing health care services required by law or the Louisiana Department of Education.

In accordance with the student's diabetes management and treatment plan, the student shall be permitted to self-manage his/her diabetes care as outlined in the student's management and treatment plan.

With written permission of a student's parent or legal guardian, a school may provide a school employee with responsibility for providing transportation for a student with diabetes or supervising a student with diabetes with an off-campus activity. An information sheet with pertinent information about the student's condition and contact information in cases of emergency shall be provided the employee.

# 10. CLASSROOM STORAGE AND ADMINISTRATION OF AUTO-INJECTABLE EPINEPHRINE BY TEACHERS

The School Board shall allow a supply of auto-injectable epinephrine, as defined above, to be maintained in a secure location in each classroom assigned to a student who is deemed by his/her physician to be at high risk for anaphylactic reaction and incapable of self-administration of auto-injectable epinephrine.

The student's parent or other legal guardian shall annually provide the school in which the student is enrolled with all of the following:

- A. The supply of auto-injectable epinephrine to be kept in each classroom.
- B. Written authorization for the student to be administered the medication.
- C. Written certification from the student's licensed medical physician or other authorized prescriber that the student is at high risk of having anaphylaxis and is not capable of self-administration of auto-injectable epinephrine.
- D. A written treatment plan, as defined above from the student's licensed medical physician or other authorized prescriber for managing anaphylactic episodes.

The required documentation required shall be kept on file in the office of the school nurse or other designated school official.

The teacher in each classroom where auto-injectable epinephrine is stored shall be provided information regarding accessing and administering auto-injectable epinephrine, the signs and symptoms of anaphylactic reactions and specific information regarding condition, care, and treatment of the student assigned to the classroom who is at high risk of anaphylactic reaction.

The School Board shall inform the parent or other legal guardian of the student in writing that the school and its employees shall incur no liability as a result of any injury sustained by the student from the good faith administration of auto-injectable epinephrine. The parent or other legal guardian of the student shall

sign a statement acknowledging that the school shall incur no liability and that the parent or other legal guardian shall indemnify and hold harmless the school and its employees against any claims that may arise relating to the good faith administration of auto-injectable epinephrine.

This information shall be included in the student handbook of each school and posted on each school's website. Such policy shall also be disclosed to any parent or other legal guardian who notifies the school in which the student is enrolled, in writing, that the student has a condition which puts him at risk of anaphylaxis.

# 11. ADMINISTRATION OF MEDICATION ON FIELD TRIPS AND OTHER EXTRA-CURRICULAR ACTIVITIES

If a student with an identified medical need is to attend a field trip or other school-sponsored activity, the parents shall be notified to ascertain if any medication must be administered on the field trip or school-sponsored activity away from school. The school nurse shall determine which medications will be administered on a school-sponsored field trip, including scheduled, emergency, and "as needed" medications for participating students.

If the parent/legal guardian does not attend the field trip/activity with his/her child, the parent/legal guardian shall request in writing that the medication be administered on a pending field trip/activity by a non-School Board employee designated by the parent, or another trained person designated by the School Board. Such request shall include supporting documentation as outlined in this policy. The request shall state that the parent/legal guardian gives permission for the designee or another trained person to administer the medication. If the parent does not designate a non-School Board employee to attend the field trip/activity, once the proper documentation has been submitted, the School Board shall assign a trained School Board employee to accompany the student on the field trip or other school-sponsored activity.

# 12. EXTENDED DAY CARE

In the event that a student attends extended day care and requires medication outside school hours (before or after school), medication orders that include the dosage(s), time(s), and medication(s), shall be obtained from the physician/dentist/ other authorized prescriber before any administration of medication may be administered by properly trained personnel.

# 13. SUNSCREEN

In accordance with statutory provisions, *sunscreen* means a compound topically applied to prevent sunburn, and for the purpose of this policy shall not be considered medication. A student may possess and self-apply sunscreen at school, on a school bus, or at a school-sponsored function or activity without parental consent or the authorization of a physician.

If a student is unable to self-apply sunscreen, a school employee may volunteer to apply the sunscreen to the student. However, a school employee may apply sunscreen to a student *only* if his/her parent or legal guardian has provided *written consent* for this application. Neither the School Board nor the school employee shall be held liable for any adverse reaction relating to the employee's application of the sunscreen or his/her cessation of such application.

#### 14. STUDENT CONFIDENTIALITY

All student information shall be kept confidential. The parent/legal guardian shall be required to sign the *Authorization for Release of Confidential Information* form, so that medication orders can be implemented and health information can be shared between the School Board and health care providers, such as hospitals, physician, service agency, school nurse, and/or other health provider.

## HOMELESS CHILDREN AND YOUTH

The Lincoln Parish School Board recognizes that homelessness alone should not be sufficient reason to separate students from the mainstream school environment. Therefore, the School Board, in accordance with state and federal law, shall give special attention to ensure that homeless children in the school district have access to a free and appropriate public education and to hopefully ensure that there are no barriers to the enrollment, transportation, attendance and success in school of homeless children and youth.

# **DEFINITION**

Homeless children and youth means individuals who lack a fixed, regular and adequate nighttime residence and include the following:

- Children and youth who are sharing the housing of other persons due to loss of housing, economic hardship or a similar reason; are living in motels, hotels, trailer parks or camping grounds due to the lack of alternative adequate accommodations; are living in emergency or transitional shelters; are abandoned in hospitals; or are awaiting foster care placement.
- Children and youth who have a primary nighttime residence that is a public or private place not designated for or ordinarily used as a regular sleeping accommodation for human beings.
- Children and youth who are living in cars, parks, public spaces, abandoned buildings, substandard housing, bus or train stations or similar settings.
- Migratory children who meet one of the above-described circumstances are also recognized under this definition.

## ENROLLMENT/PLACEMENT

The best interest of the child, with parental involvement, shall be considered in determining whether the child should be enrolled in the school of origin or the school that non-homeless students who live in the attendance area in which the homeless child or youth is actually living are eligible to attend. To the extent feasible, and in accordance with the child or youth's best interest, the child or youth should continue his or her education in the school of origin. If the youth is unaccompanied by a parent or guardian, the homeless coordinator shall consider the views of the youth in deciding where the youth shall be educated. The choice regarding placement shall be made regardless of whether the child or youth lives with the homeless parents or has been temporarily placed elsewhere.

The school selected shall immediately enroll the homeless child or youth, even if the child or youth is unable to produce records normally required for enrollment, such as previous academic records, immunization records, proof of residency or other documentation. However, the district may require a parent or guardian of a homeless child or youth to submit contact information, such as medical emergency information, contact information regarding the parent, guardian, or caregiver.

The district shall provide a written explanation, including a statement regarding the right of appeal, to the homeless child or youth's parent or guardian, or to the homeless youth if unaccompanied, if the district sends the child or youth to a school other than the school of origin or other than a school requested by the parent or guardian.

If a dispute arises over school selection or enrollment in a school, the child, youth, parent or guardian shall be referred to the district homeless coordinator, who will carry out the dispute resolution process as expeditiously as possible.

For the purposes of this policy, *school of origin* is defined as the school that the student attended when permanently housed or the school in which the student was last enrolled.

## Children in Foster Care

The School Board shall ensure that a student who is in foster care pursuant to placement through the Louisiana Department of Children and Family Services shall be allowed to remain enrolled in the public school in which the child was enrolled at the time he/she entered foster care for the duration of the child's stay in the custody of the state or until he/she completes the highest grade offered at the school if the Department of Children and Family Services determines that remaining in that school is in the best interest of the child.

If foster care placement is outside the jurisdictional boundaries of the public school in which the student is enrolled, the School Board shall be responsible for providing free transportation for the student to and from a designated location which is within that school district and is located nearest to the child's residence and is determined to be appropriate by the Board and the Department of Children and Family Services.

## **SERVICES**

Each homeless child or youth shall be provided services comparable to services offered to other students in the district including, but not limited to, transportation services; educational services for which the child meets the eligibility criteria, such as educational programs for disadvantaged students, students with disabilities and gifted and talented students; vocational programs and technical education; school nutrition programs; preschool programs; before- and after-school care programs; and programs for students with limited English proficiency. Homeless students shall not be segregated in a separate school or in a separate program within a school based on the students' status as homeless.

## TRANSPORTATION

In the event that it is in the best interest of the homeless child or youth to attend the school of origin, transportation to and from that school shall be provided at the request of the parent or guardian or, in the case of an unaccompanied youth, the homeless coordinator. If the student begins living in an area served by another School Board, both School Boards shall agree on a method to apportion the responsibility and costs for transporting the child to and from the school of origin. If an agreement cannot be reached, the costs will be shared equally.

#### RECORDS

Any records ordinarily kept by the school, including immunization records, academic records, birth certificates, guardianship records and evaluations for special services or programs of each homeless child or youth shall be maintained so that appropriate services may be given the student, so that necessary referrals can be made, and so that records may be transferred in a timely fashion when a homeless child or youth enters a new school district. Copies of records shall be made available upon request to students or parents in accordance with the *Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act* and School Board policy.

# **ENROLLMENT DISPUTES**

If a dispute arises over school selection or enrollment in a school:

- (1) Unless otherwise provided for in any desegregation order, the child or youth shall be immediately admitted to the school in which enrollment is sought, pending resolution of the dispute;
- (2) The parent or guardian of the child or youth shall be provided with a written explanation of the school's decision regarding school selection or enrollment, including the rights of the parent, guardian, or youth to appeal the decision;
- (3) The child, youth, parent, or guardian shall be referred to the Board's homeless liaison, who shall carry out the dispute resolution process as expeditiously as possible after receiving notice of the dispute; and
- (4) In the case of an unaccompanied youth, the homeless liaison shall ensure that the youth is immediately enrolled in school pending resolution of the dispute.

#### LIAISON

One individual shall be appointed by the Board to act as the district's homeless liaison. The School Board shall inform school personnel, service providers and advocates working with homeless families of the district homeless liaison.

# DISCIPLINE – NOT REQUIRED TO ENROLL

Nothing in this policy shall require the enrollment of any child not permitted by another school system to attend school, either permanently or temporarily, as a result of disciplinary actions.

# **HOMEWORK ASSISTANCE**

The Louisiana Department of Education has provided a "Family Support Toolbox Library" on their website to serve as a resource for families to download or access "parent guides" to practice lessons and to find more information about the many choices offered by Louisiana to prepare their students for college and careers. The web address for the Family Support Toolbox Library is:

http://www.louisianabelieves.com/resources/library/family-support-toolbox-library

## ILLNESS AND ACCIDENTS

It is the intent of the Lincoln Parish School Board to maintain a safe and healthy educational environment in school buildings, on school campuses, and at school-sponsored functions and activities. School administrators, teachers, volunteers, and other school personnel, however, cannot guarantee that the school environment will be free of illness or accidents.

The Lincoln Parish School Board shall attempt to provide appropriate and reasonable care of students when they become ill or injured. Any treatment rendered should be in accordance with the severity of the illness or injury. When a child becomes seriously sick at school or is seriously injured in an accident, the principal or his/her designee shall be responsible for immediately contacting the parents. If the principal or designee is unable to contact the parents, he/she shall attempt to contact the family's primary care provider as noted on the *Health Information* form submitted by the parents at the beginning of the school year. The principal or designee shall also attempt to contact the person listed as the *emergency contact* on the *Health Information* form.

If treatment is deemed urgent and the primary care provider is not immediately available for consultation, the principal shall call 911 or its equivalent. School personnel shall remain with the child until emergency medical personnel arrive to treat the ill or injured student. If emergency medical personnel deem it necessary to transport the student to a medical facility, school personnel may accompany the student.

Neither the School Board nor the school shall assume any liability for the treatment of a student.

Principals shall notify the Superintendent of all serious accidents to pupils whether they occur on the school grounds, on the school bus, on field trips or during any other student activity.

To facilitate the rendering of health services, the School Board shall require the parent/legal guardian to submit properly completed standardized school health forms as enumerated in *Louisiana Handbook for School Administrators*, Bulletin 741.

No medication shall be administered to any student unless written permission from parents has been granted, and only in accordance with Board policy *JGCD*, *Administration of Medication*.

## FIRST AID

Generally, treatment of injuries should be limited to the rendering of first aid. *First aid* is that immediate help given by the best qualified person at hand in case of accidents or sudden illness. At least one person at each school shall have had basic training in first aid. A master first aid kit shall be kept and properly maintained in each school. For more serious injuries, trained medical personnel should be summoned to assist with such injuries as needed.

## PARENT AND FAMILY ENGAGEMENT

The Lincoln Parish School Board recognizes that parent and family engagement must be a priority of the School Board for children to learn and achieve academic success. Parents and families provide the primary educational environment for children; consequently, parents are vital and necessary partners with the School Board throughout their children's elementary and secondary school careers. The term *parent* shall refer to any caregiver who assumes responsibility for nurturing and caring for children, and includes parents, grandparents, aunts, uncles, foster parents, stepparents, and others. The concept of parent and family engagement shall include programs, services, and/or activities on the school site, as well as contributions of parents outside the normal school setting.

It shall be the policy of the School Board and each public school in Lincoln Parish, in meaningful collaboration with parents, teachers, students, administrators, and other educational resources, to establish, develop, and maintain strategies and programs that are intended to enhance the involvement of parents and other caregivers that reflect the needs of students, parents, and families served by the School Board, in accordance with applicable state and federal laws and regulations. As part of the parent and family engagement program, it shall be the responsibility of every school to create a welcoming environment, conducive to learning and supportive for comprehensive family involvement programs that have been developed jointly with parents/families.

## DISTRICT LEVEL RESPONSIBILITIES

At the district level, the School Board shall:

1. Involve parents and family members in the joint development and amendment of the school district's plan, which includes components of the district's parent and family engagement program, to be submitted to the Louisiana Department of Education.

- 2. Provide coordination of various programs which involve parents, technical assistance, and other support necessary to assist every public school in Lincoln Parish in planning and implementing effective parent and family involvement activities to improve student academic achievement.
- 3. Coordinate and integrate parent and family engagement strategies with other relevant programs that promote parent involvement.
- 4. Conduct, with the meaningful involvement of parents and family members, an annual evaluation of the content and effectiveness of components and strategies of the School Board's parent and family engagement program and assess the components' and strategies' usefulness. The evaluation shall attempt to identify ways of improving the academic quality of the schools served by the School Board, including identifying barriers to greater participation by parents in educational and parent and family engagement activities; particular attention shall be directed to parents who are economically disadvantaged, are disabled, have limited English proficiency, have limited literacy, or are of any racial or ethnic minority background. The School Board and each school shall use findings of such evaluation to design strategies for more effective parental and family involvement, and to revise, if necessary, the parent and family engagement policies and procedures.
- 5. Distribute to parents and families, in a language the parents can understand, information about the Lincoln Parish School Board's parent and family engagement program, as well as provide proper notification to parents about specific services or special programs, as required by state or federal law.

# SCHOOL LEVEL RESPONSIBILITIES

As part of the parent and family engagement program, the School Board shall encourage each public school and require those schools receiving federal Title I funds under the jurisdiction of the Lincoln Parish School Board to:

- 1. Convene an annual meeting, at a convenient time, to which all parents of participating children shall be invited and encouraged to attend, to inform parents of their school's educational programs and to explain components of the parental involvement program, and the right of the parents to be involved.
- 2. Offer a flexible number of engagement meetings at convenient times to maximize parental participation, and may provide transportation, child care, appropriate refreshments, and/or home visits, as such services relate to parental involvement.
- 3. Involve parents in an organized, ongoing, and timely way, in the planning, review, and improvement of parent and family engagement programs, including the planning, development, review, and improvement of the school parent and family engagement policy and the joint development of the school-wide parent and family engagement program plan.
- 4. Provide parents, especially those of participating children:
  - A. timely information about educational and parent and family programs;
  - B. a description and explanation of the curriculum in use at the school, the forms of academic assessment used to measure student progress, and the –achievement levels of state academic standards:
  - C. if requested by parents, opportunities for regular meetings to formulate suggestions and to participate, as appropriate, in decisions relating to the education of their children, and respond to any such suggestions as soon as practicably possible; and,

- D. the School Board's written *Parent and Family Engagement* policy.
- 5. If the school-wide parent and family engagement program plan is not satisfactory to the parents of participating children, submit any parent comments on the plan when the school makes the plan available to school district level personnel.

## SHARED RESPONSIBILITIES

As part of the parent and family engagement program, to build a capacity for involvement, the School Board and each public school under the jurisdiction of the School Board:

- 1. Shall provide assistance to parents of children served by the school or School Board, as appropriate, in understanding such topics as the state's academic content standards, state and local academic assessments, and how to monitor a child's progress and work with educators to improve the achievement of their children.
- 2. Shall provide materials and training to help parents to work with their children to improve their children's achievement, such as literacy training and using technology, as appropriate, to foster parental involvement.
- 3. Shall educate teachers, pupil services personnel, principals, and other staff, with the assistance of parents, in the value and utility of contributions of parents, and in how to reach out to, communicate with, and work with parents as equal partners, implement and coordinate parent programs, and build ties between parents and the school.
- 4. Shall, to the extent feasible and appropriate, coordinate and integrate parent involvement programs and activities with other outreach educational programs, such as Head Start, and public pre-school and other programs, and conduct other activities, such as parent resource centers, that encourage and support parents in more fully participating in the education of their children.
- 5. Shall ensure that information related to school and parent programs, meetings, and other activities is sent to parents in a format and, to the extent practicable, in a language the parents can understand.
- 6. May involve parents in the development of training for teachers, principals, and other educators to improve the effectiveness of such training.
- 7. May provide necessary literacy training from federal and state funds received if the School Board has exhausted all other reasonably available sources of funding for such training.
- 8. May pay reasonable and necessary expenses associated with parental involvement activities, including transportation, and/or child care costs, to enable parents to participate in school-related meetings and training sessions.
- 9. May train parents to enhance the involvement of other parents.
- 10. May arrange school meetings, at a variety of times and places, or conduct in-home conferences between teachers or other educators who work directly with children, with parents who are unable to attend such conferences at school, in order to maximize parental involvement and participation.

- 11. May adopt and implement model approaches to improving parental involvement.
- 12. May establish a district-wide parent advisory council to provide advice on all matters related to parental involvement in programs.
- 13. May develop appropriate roles for community-based organizations and businesses in parental involvement activities.
- 14. Shall provide such other reasonable support for parental involvement activities as parents may request.
- 15. Shall provide, to the extent practicable, full opportunities for the participation of parents with limited English proficiency, parents with disabilities, and parents of migratory children, including providing necessary information and school reports required in a format, and to the extent practicable, in a language such parents understand.

# Statement of Compliance

Each student in grades 4-12 and each parent or guardian of a student in grades 4-12, shall annually sign a *Statement of Compliance*, in accordance with state law. For students, the *Statement of Compliance* shall state that the student agrees to attend school regularly, arrive at school on time, demonstrate significant effort toward completion of homework assignments, and follow school and classroom rules. For parents, the *Statement of Compliance* shall state that the parent or legal guardian agrees to ensure his/her child's daily attendance at school, ensure his/her child's arrival at school on time each day, ensure his/her child completes all assigned homework, and attend all required parent/teacher/principal conferences.

## SCHOOL-PARENT COMPACT

Each school shall jointly develop with parents a school-parent compact that outlines how parents, school staff, and students will share the responsibility for improved student academic achievement and develop a partnership to help children achieve the State's standards. Such compact shall:

- 1. Describe the school's responsibility to provide high-quality curriculum and instruction in a supportive and effective learning environment that enables the children to meet the State's student academic achievement standards, and the ways in which each parent will be responsible for supporting their children's learning, such as monitoring attendance, homework completion, and television watching; volunteering in their child's classroom; contributing services outside the normal school setting; and participating, as appropriate, in decisions relating to the education of their children, and positive use of extracurricular time.
- 2. Address the importance of communication between teachers and parents on an ongoing basis through, at a minimum:
  - A. parent-teacher conferences in elementary schools, at least annually, during which the compact shall be discussed as the compact relates to the individual child's achievement;
  - B. frequent reports to parents on their children's progress;
  - C. reasonable access to staff, opportunities to volunteer and participate in their child's class, and scheduled observation of classroom activities; and
  - D. parental activities and/or contributions away from the school site that enhance academic achievement.

#### OTHER PROGRAMS

In conjunction with the district services rendered under the School Board's parental involvement program, the School Board shall maintain contact and communication with social service and health agencies, faith-based institutions, and community groups to support key family and community services and issues. In particular, the Lincoln Parish School Board has a strong relationship with and support from community and/or governmental organizations such as Families in Need of Services (FINS), Partners in Education, and District Parent/Teacher Association (PTA). One of the primary goals of these groups is to support, supplement, and assist in improving involvement of parents of children in the Lincoln Parish public schools.

# PARENTAL RIGHTS/STUDENT RIGHTS OF PRIVACY

The Lincoln Parish School Board recognizes the rights of parental access to certain information regarding their children and the importance of notifying parents of children enrolled in the district's schools of these rights.

At least annually at the beginning of each school year, parents of each child enrolled in the public schools of Lincoln Parish shall be notified of:

- Their right to view any instructional material used in the curriculum for the student of time after the request is received.
- Their right to view any 3<sup>rd</sup> party surveys (including evaluations) before they are administered to their child, and to opt out of participation for surveys that delve into sensitive subjects identified by the *Protection of Children's Rights* of the *Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act* (FERPA).
- The collection or use of any personal information for the purpose of marketing the information or for selling that information, including arrangements to protect student privacy that are provided by the School Board in the event of collection, disclosure, or use and their right to opt their child out of participation.
- The administration of any non-emergency, invasive physical examination or screening that is: required as a condition of attendance; administered by the school and scheduled by the school in advance; and not necessary to protect the immediate health and safety of the student, or of other students; and their right to opt out of participation.
- Their rights under FERPA, including giving notice to the parent of the categories of information which the School Board has designated as *directory information* with respect to students, and allowing a reasonable period of time after such notice for the parent to inform the School Board that any or all of the information so designated should not be released without the parent's prior consent.

In addition, the School Board shall encourage each public school and require those schools receiving federal Title I funds under the jurisdiction of the Lincoln Parish School Board to notify parents:

- Annually, of their right to request from the School Board information regarding the professional qualifications of the student's classroom teachers, including the following:
  - Whether their child's teacher has met state licensing criteria for the grade level and subject taught.

- Whether their child's teacher is teaching under emergency or provisional status whereby state licensing criteria have been waived.
- Whether the child's teacher is teaching in the field of certification of the teacher.
- Whether the child is provided services by a paraprofessional and, if so, their qualifications.
- The achievement level and academic growth of their child on each of the state academic assessments.
- Timely notice that a student has been assigned, or has been taught for four (4) or more consecutive weeks by a teacher who does not meet state certification requirements at the grade level and subject area in which the teacher has been assigned.

# PUBLIC CONDUCT ON SCHOOL PROPERTY

The Lincoln Parish School Board shall require any person attending any school event or school-related function on or off campus to conduct themselves with politeness, decorum, and proper sportsmanship. Any person entering any school campus or School Board property shall be required to conduct himself/herself in accordance with acceptable standards of conduct and show respect for the law and rights of others. Any person who disrupts the orderly educational process while on a school campus or School Board property may be restricted or banned from such property by the Board. In addition, any person, including an adult, who behaves in an unsportsmanlike manner during an athletic or co-curricular event, may be ejected from the event the person is attending and/or be denied admission to other school events for up to a year. Should a person's conduct while on school property become so disruptive that it threatens the safety of any employee or student, school personnel shall be authorized to notify law enforcement personnel for assistance. The Superintendent shall have the authority to review the circumstances and make the final decision regarding attendance of the individual at any school or school function. Examples of unacceptable conduct include, but are not limited to:

- 1. Using vulgar or obscene language or gestures
- 2. Possessing or being under the influence of any alcoholic beverage or illegal substance
- 3. Possessing a weapon
- 4. Fighting or otherwise striking or threatening another person
- 5. Failing to obey the instructions of a security officer or school district employee
- 6. Interfering in any way with an athletic or co-curricular event
- 7. Engaging in any activity which is disruptive or illegal

Students demonstrating any of the above conduct shall be subject to disciplinary action in accordance with Board policy. Employees exhibiting any of the above conduct may be subject to suspension or termination.

## **SAFETY**

#### Rights

Students have the right to expect that school will be a safe place to obtain an education.

## Responsibilities

In order to ensure the safety of others, students must follow established rules and regulations and conduct themselves in accordance with the rules.

The parent/guardian is responsible to provide the student's school current working telephone numbers and any change in status concerning family information.

Students have the responsibility to alert the teachers and school administrators about any hostile attempts made to a student, as well as any information about possible violations of the Code of Conduct especially matters involving drugs and weapons.

## **EMERGENCY/CRISIS MANAGEMENT**

## CRISIS MANAGEMENT AND RESPONSE

Unanticipated tragic events can quickly escalate into a school-wide catastrophe if not dealt with immediately and effectively. School personnel shall plan in advance for the welfare, safety, and care of students and staff members. Every school shall be required to have a *Crisis Management and Response Plan*. A *Crisis Management and Response Plan* means a plan to address school safety and the incidence of a shooting or other violence at schools, on school buses, and at school-related activities; to respond effectively to such incidents; and to ensure that every student, teacher, and school employee has access to a safe, secure, and orderly school that is conducive to learning. Such plans shall also address the management of any other emergency situation.

The Crisis Management and Response Plan shall be prepared by each public school principal jointly with local law enforcement, fire, public safety, and emergency preparedness officials. In preparing the plan, the principal and such officials shall consider and include, if appropriate, input from students enrolled in the school and their parents, teachers at the school, other school employees, and community leaders. The plan, which shall focus on preventing the loss of life and the injury of students and teachers and other school employees, shall detail the roles and responsibilities of each school employee and the relevant coordination agreements, services, and security measures of a school and provide for parental notification in the event of a shooting or other violent incident or emergency situation. The plan may also provide for the counseling of students by mental health professionals, encouraging peer helper programs, and identifying students who may have experienced rejection or other traumatic life events.

Each principal, jointly with local law enforcement, fire, public safety, school resource officers, and emergency preparedness officials, shall review the plan at least once annually and shall revise the plan as necessary. In reviewing and revising the plan, the principal and such officials shall consider and include input, if appropriate, from students enrolled in the school and their parents, teachers at the school, other school employees, and community leaders. When conducting the annual review for a high school, the school principal shall seek input from the president of the senior class or the president of the student council, and at least one other responsible student selected by the principal as representatives of students enrolled in the high school. Each principal shall submit such plan in writing to the Superintendent for approval at least once annually, including upon each revision, and shall notify all teachers and other school employees of the contents of the plan and any revisions made to it.

Within the first thirty (30) days of each school year, each principal shall conduct a safety drill to rehearse the components of the *Crisis Management and Response Plan*. Not later than seven (7) days after the drill, the principal shall submit a written report summarizing the details of the drill to the Superintendent.

The Superintendent shall make an annual report to the School Board on the status of the plan of each school under the School Board's jurisdiction.

## OTHER EMERGENCY DRILLS

The Lincoln Parish School Board shall require procedures be planned by the principal and faculty of each school to assure orderly movement and evacuation of students to the safest area in the event of fire, weather, or other disasters. Practice drills shall be used to ensure the effectiveness of the procedures.

Every separate administration building shall conduct practice drills as well.

#### SCHOOL AND STUDENT SAFETY

The Lincoln Parish School Board is committed to providing a safe environment for the students and employees of its schools. The School Board shall take immediate action to address any potential threats of violence or terrorism to students and employees as required by the *Louisiana School and Student Safety Act* (La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§17:409.1-17:410).

The School Board shall develop, in consultation with local law enforcement agencies, age appropriate information regarding internet and cell phone safety and online content that is a potential threat to school safety. The information shall include how to recognize and report potential threats to school safety posted on the internet, including but not limited to social media posts. This information shall be distributed or explained to school personnel and students at the beginning of each school year, and posted on an easily accessible page of each school's website, as well as the website of the School Board. Such information shall include instruction on how to detect potential threats to school safety, visual examples of possible threats, and the process for reporting such threats.

## **DEFINITIONS**

Risk is imminent means that the available facts, when viewed in light of surrounding circumstances, would cause a reasonable person to believe that the event stated in the threat is about to happen.

School is as defined by La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:236 as an institution for the teaching of children, consisting of an adequate physical plant, whether owned or leased, instructional staff members, and students, and which operates a minimum session of not less than one hundred eighty (180) days.

Student means any person registered or enrolled at a school.

Threat is credible means that the available facts, when viewed in light of surrounding circumstances, would cause a reasonable person to believe that the person communicating the threat actually intends to carry out the threat.

Threat of terrorism means communication, whether oral, visual, or written, including but not limited to electronic mail, letters, notes, social media posts, text messages, blogs, or posts on any social networking website, of any crime of violence that would reasonably cause any student, teacher, principal, or school employee to be in sustained fear for his safety, cause the evacuation of a building, or cause other serious disruption to the operation of a school.

Threat of violence means communication, whether oral, visual, or written, including but not limited to electronic mail, letters, notes, social media posts, text messages, blogs, or posts on any social networking website, of any intent to kill, maim, or cause great bodily harm to a student, teacher, principal, or school employee on school property or at any school function.

## MANDATORY REPORTING

Any administrator, teacher, counselor, bus operator, or other school employee, whether full-time or part-time, who learns of a threat of violence or threat of terrorism, whether through oral communication, written communication, or electronic communication, shall-immediately report the threat to a local law enforcement agency and, if the employee is not the school administrator, to the school administrator.

Upon being informed of the threat, the school administrator shall make reasonable efforts to attempt to inform all persons who are targets of the threat and shall take all necessary measures to protect their lives and safety.

The school administrator next shall make reasonable efforts to attempt to notify the appropriate personnel within the School District administration.

The school administrator and the School District administrator then shall determine if risk is imminent for any other persons because of the threat, and if so, notify them and make reasonable efforts to attempt to take measures to protect their lives and safety.

The school administrator and the School District administrator then shall determine whether to notify parents of the students at the school.

No person shall have a cause of action against any person for any action taken or statement made in adherence with the requirement for reporting as provided herein. However, the immunity from liability provided in this policy shall not apply to any action or statement if the action or statement was maliciously, willfully, and deliberately intended to cause harm to, harass, or otherwise deceive law enforcement or school officials.

## Reporting Procedures

The Superintendent shall develop and maintain administrative procedures for reporting potential threats to school safety. The reporting procedures, at a minimum, shall include:

- 1. A standardized form to be used by students and school personnel to report potential threats which requests, at a minimum, the following information:
  - A. Name of school, person, or group being threatened.
  - B. Name of student, individual, or group threatening violence.
  - C. Date and time the threat was made.
  - D. Method by which the threat was made, including the social media outlet or website where the threat was posted, a screenshot or recording of the threat, if available, and any printed evidence of the threat.
- 2. A process for allowing school personnel to assist students in completing the standardized form.
- 3. A process for allowing reporting by an automated voice system.
- 4. A process for allowing anonymous reporting and for safeguarding the identity of a person who reports a threat.

5. For every threat reported, a school administrator shall record, on the form provided, the action taken by the school.

If information reported to a school is deemed a threat the school shall present the form and evidence to local law enforcement agencies.

If the information poses an immediate threat, school administrators shall follow procedures provided in the school's *Crisis Management and Response Plan*.

## THREAT ASSESSMENT

When any threat of violence or terrorism has been reported to a school administrator, an investigation shall be made according to administrative procedures which shall include, at a minimum:

- 1. Conducting an interview with the person reporting a threat, the person allegedly making a threat, and all witnesses, and;
- 2. Securing any evidence, including but not limited to statements, writings, recordings, electronic messages, and photographs.

If the investigation results in evidence or information that raises a concern that a threat is credible, the school and School District shall implement measures to provide for ongoing protection of the safety and lives of all students and staff at the school.

## **MANDATORY EXAMINATION**

If a law enforcement agency, based on its investigation as required by La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:409.4, determines that a student's threat is credible and imminent, it shall report it to the district attorney, who may file a petition no later than seven (7) days after receiving such report with the appropriate judicial district court for medical, psychological, and psychiatric examination. Where the district attorney, in his/her discretion, decides not to file the petition or does not file such petition during the requisite period, the student who is the subject of a complaint and investigation shall be permitted to return to school unless\_the student is charged with assault on a teacher as provided in La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §14:38.2 or battery on a teacher as provided in La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §14:34.3. The school shall permit a student who is the subject of a complaint and investigation to return to school if at any point prior to a hearing the threat is determined not to be credible after an investigation by the school administration, a law enforcement agency, or the district attorney or by order of the court after a hearing unless the student is charged with assault on a teacher as provided in La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §14:38.2 or battery on a teacher as provided in La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §14:34.3. The school administrator shall notify any person who was a target of the threat at least two (2) school days prior to the student's return. The school administrator or his/her designee may conduct a search of the student or his property for weapons upon the student's return.

If the person who is reported to a local law enforcement agency is not a student, he or she shall not be permitted to be within five hundred feet (500') of any school until he or she has undergone a formal medical or mental health evaluation and has been deemed by a healthcare professional not to be dangerous to himself/herself or others. After such a determination, the person shall not be permitted in a school unless he has notified the school administrator of his intent to visit the school and he is notified that the administrator has provided at least two (2) school days' notice regarding the visit to anyone in the school who was directly threatened by the person. The school administrator may deny such person the right to visit the school.

## LIABILITY

No person shall have a cause of action against any person for an action taken or statement made in adherence with this policy unless based on conduct that is maliciously, willfully, and deliberately intended to cause harm or harass.

## **Sexual Harassment**

Harassment on the basis of sex is a violation of state and federal law. No school will tolerate any sexual harassment on the part of any student towards another student or staff member.

Harassment does not only depend upon the perpetrator's intention, but also upon how the person who is the target perceives the behavior or is affected by it. Conduct in violation of this prohibition will result in severe disciplinary measures.

## EXAMPLES OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT

## **VERBAL:**

Referring to an adult as girl, hunk, baby or honey

Whistling at someone, making cat calls or kissing sounds

Turning work discussions to sexual topics

Making sexual comments about a person's body

Making sexual innuendos

Telling sexual jokes or stories

Asking about sexual fantasies, preferences or history

Asking questions about a person's social or sexual life

Repeatedly asking out a person who is not interested

Telling lies or spreading rumors about a person's sex life

Asking for sexual favors

Name calling of a sexual nature (hey baby, etc.)

## **NON-VERBAL:**

Looking a person up and down (elevator eyes)

Staring at someone

Blocking a person's path

Standing too close

Preventing someone from leaving an area

Giving personal gifts

Having sexually suggestive materials (posters, calendars, etc.)

Making facial expressions, winking, throwing kisses, licking lips

Making sexual gestures with hands or through body movements

## **PHYSICAL:**

Touching a person's clothing, hair or body

Constantly hanging around a person

Hugging, patting, kissing, or stroking

Touching or rubbing oneself sexually around another person

Standing close or brushing up against another person

Spiking (pulling down someone's pants)

Giving "wedgies" or "snuggies"

These actions in and of themselves are not always considered sexual harassment. If these actions are unwelcome, AS DETERMINED BY THE RECIPIENT, that's the key test as to whether a given behavior constitutes sexual harassment!

Any student complaint about another student engaging in sexual or other types of harassment reported to a teacher or counselor shall be immediately reported to the principal. The principal is responsible for investigating the complaint. The right to confidentiality, both of the complaining student and of the accused student, will be respected. The principal may request assistance of the appropriate Central Office staff in investigating student on student harassment. If the act or acts involve possible criminal conduct, the appropriate police authorities will be notified. A substantiated charge against a student shall subject that student to disciplinary action, including suspension or expulsion, consistent with the school and district Code of Conduct. Student complaints about an employee shall be handled as provided in LPSB Policy.

## TITLE IX SEXUAL HARASSMENT

The Lincoln Parish School Board desires to provide a safe school environment that allows all students equal access and opportunities in the School District's academic, extracurricular, and other educational support programs, services, and activities. The School Board does not discriminate on the basis of sex in the education program or activity that it operates. The School Board is required by Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (Title IX) and Part 106 of Title 34 of the United States Code of Federal Regulations not to discriminate on the basis of sex in the education program or activity that it operates, including admission and employment. The School Board recognizes that sexual harassment is a form of discrimination on the basis of sex and the School Board prohibits sexual harassment as defined by Title IX and Part 106 of Title 34 of the United States Code of Federal Regulations.

Any person may report discrimination based on sex, including sexual harassment, in person, by mail, by telephone, or by electronic mail to the School Board's Title IX Coordinator at any time, including during non-business hours. Any School Board employee who has actual knowledge of sexual harassment must report the conduct to the Title IX Coordinator. The Lincoln Parish School Board's Title IX Coordinator's name and contact information is provided to applicants for admission and employment, students, parents or legal guardians, school students, employees, and published in the *Student Code of Conduct*, and on the School Board's website. Reports of and inquiries regarding unlawful sex discrimination may also be made to the Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights of the U.S. Department of Education, 400 Maryland Ave., SW, Washington, DC 20202-1100, Email: ocr@ed.gov, 1-800-421-3481. The School Board's Title IX Coordinator shall be authorized to coordinate the School Board's Title IX obligations.

## **DEFINITIONS**

As used in this policy:

Actual knowledge means notice of sexual harassment or allegations of sexual harassment to the any employee of the School Board. Imputation of knowledge based solely on vicarious liability or constructive notice is insufficient to constitute actual knowledge. This standard is not met when the only official of the School Board with actual knowledge is the respondent.

Complainant means an individual who is alleged to be the victim of conduct that could constitute sexual harassment.

Formal complaint means a document filed by a complainant or signed by the Title IX Coordinator alleging sexual harassment against a respondent and requesting that the School Board investigate the allegation of sexual harassment. At the time of filing a formal complaint, a complainant must be participating in or attempting to participate in the education program or activity of the Lincoln Parish School Board with which the formal complaint is filed. A formal complaint may be filed with the Title IX Coordinator in person, by mail, or by electronic mail, by using the contact information required to be listed for the Title IX Coordinator under and by

any additional method designated by the School Board. As used in this paragraph, the phrase *document filed by a complainant* means a document or electronic submission (such as by electronic mail or through an online portal provided for this purpose by the School Board) that contains the complainant's physical or digital signature, or otherwise indicates that the complainant is the person filing the formal complaint. Where the Title IX Coordinator signs a formal complaint, the Title IX Coordinator shall not be a complainant or otherwise a party to any grievance procedure, and shall at all times comply with Title IX and Part 106 of Title 34 of the United States Code of Federal Regulations.

*Notice* means whenever any employee: witnesses sexual harassment; hears about sexual harassment or sexual harassment allegations from a complainant (i.e., a person alleged to be the victim) or a third party (e.g., the complainant's parent, friend, or peer); receives a written or verbal complaint about sexual harassment or sexual harassment allegations; or by any other means.

Respondent means an individual who has been reported to be the perpetrator of conduct that could constitute sexual harassment.

Sexual harassment means conduct on the basis of sex that satisfies one or more of the following:

- 1. An employee of the Lincoln Parish School Board conditioning the provision of an aid, benefit, or service of the Lincoln Parish School Board on an individual's participation in unwelcome sexual conduct;
- 2. Unwelcome conduct determined by a reasonable person to be so severe, pervasive, and objectively offensive that it effectively denies a person equal access to the Lincoln Parish School Board's education program or activity; or
- 3. Sexual assault as defined in 20 USC 1092, dating violence as defined in 34 USC 12291, domestic violence as defined in 34 USC 12291, or "stalking" as defined in 34 USC 12291.

Supportive measures means non-disciplinary, non-punitive individualized services offered as appropriate, as reasonably available, and without fee or charge to the complainant or the respondent before or after the filing of a formal complaint or where no formal complaint has been filed. Such measures are designed to restore or preserve equal access to the School Board's education program or activity without unreasonably burdening the other party, including measures designed to protect the safety of all parties or the School Board's educational environment, or deter sexual harassment. Supportive measures may include counseling, extensions of deadlines or other course-related adjustments, modifications of work or class schedules, campus escort services, mutual restrictions on contact between the parties, changes in work or housing locations, leaves of absence, increased security and monitoring of certain areas of the campus, and other similar measures. The School Board shall maintain as confidential any supportive measures provided to the complainant or respondent, to the extent that maintaining such confidentiality would not impair the ability of the School Board to provide the supportive measures. The Title IX Coordinator shall be responsible for coordinating the effective implementation of supportive measures.

## COVERAGE

This policy applies to all students, employees and non-employee volunteers, to the elected members of the School Board, and to all students of the Lincoln Parish School District. It applies at school, and locations, events, or circumstances over which the School Board has exercised substantial control over both the respondent and the context in which sexual harassment occurs.

## TITLE IX COORDINATOR

The Superintendent shall designate and authorize a "Title IX Coordinator" to coordinate the Lincoln Parish School Board's efforts to comply with Title IX and Part 106 of Title 34 of the United States Code of Federal Regulations. The Title IX Coordinator shall undergo and receive all training required by Part 106 of Title 34 of the United States Code of Federal Regulations. The name, office address, electronic mail address, and telephone number of the Title IX Coordinator shall be published as required by Part 106 of Title 34 of the United States Code of Federal Regulations.

## RESPONSE TO SEXUAL HARASSMENT

If the Lincoln Parish School Board has actual knowledge of sexual harassment in an education program or activity, then the Title IX Coordinator shall be informed and the Title IX Coordinator shall offer supportive measures and follow the grievance procedures adopted pursuant to this policy.

The Superintendent and/or the Title IX Coordinator shall develop and maintain a Title IX Grievance Procedure that complies with 34 CFR §106.45, including investigation of any incident of which it has actual knowledge. The Title IX Grievance Procedure shall include the procedures to appeal any determination regarding sexual harassment under Title IX.

Nothing shall preclude the School Board from removing a respondent from the School Board's education program or activity on an emergency basis, provided that an individualized safety and risk analysis determines an immediate threat to the physical health or safety of a complainant, student, or other individual arising from the allegations of sexual harassment justifies immediate removal. Neither shall the School Board be precluded from placing a non-student employee respondent on administrative leave during the pendency of the grievance process developed according to this policy. In both such instances the respondent shall be provided with notice and an opportunity to challenge the decision contemporaneously with or immediately following the removal. This provision shall not be construed to modify any rights under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 or the Americans with Disabilities Act or regulations promulgated thereunder.

## TITLE IX RECORDKEEPING

The Lincoln Parish School Board shall retain for a period of seven (7) years records of each sexual harassment investigation including any determination regarding responsibility, any appeal and the result therefrom, any informal resolution and the result therefrom, and all materials used to train Title IX Coordinators, investigators, decision-makers, and any person who facilitates an informal resolution process.

For any response to actual knowledge of sexual harassment, the Title IX Coordinator shall create and maintain for a period of seven (7) years, records of any actions, including supportive measures, taken in response to a report or formal complaint of sexual harassment. In each instance the Title IX Coordinator shall document the basis for a conclusion that its response was not deliberately indifferent and document the measures designed to restore or preserve equal access to the School Board's education program or activity. If no supportive measures were provided to a complainant, then the Title IX Coordinator shall document the reasons why such a response was not clearly unreasonable in light of the known circumstances.

## **NONRETALIATION**

Neither the Lincoln Parish School Board nor any other person may intimidate, threaten, coerce, or discriminate against any individual for the purpose of interfering with any right or privilege secured by Title IX or Part 106 of Title 34 of the United States Code of Federal Regulations, or because the individual has made a report or complaint, testified, assisted, or participated or refused to participate in any manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing under this part. Intimidation, threats, coercion, or discrimination, including charges against an individual for other policy violations that do not involve sex discrimination or sexual harassment, but

arise out of the same facts or circumstances as a report or complaint of sex discrimination, or a report or formal complaint of sexual harassment, for the purpose of interfering with any right or privilege secured by Title IX or Part 106 of Title 34 of the United States Code of Federal Regulations, constitutes retaliation.

The exercise of rights protected under the First Amendment of the United States Constitution does not constitute retaliation prohibited by this policy. Charging an individual with a policy violation for making a materially false statement in bad faith in the course of a grievance proceeding under this part does not constitute retaliation, provided, however, that a determination regarding responsibility, alone, is not sufficient to conclude that any party made a materially false statement in bad faith.

## CONFIDENTIALITY

The Lincoln Parish School Board shall keep confidential the identity of any individual who has made a report or complaint of sex discrimination, including any individual who has made a report or filed a formal complaint of sexual harassment, any complainant, any individual who has been reported to be the perpetrator of sex discrimination, any respondent, and any witness, except as may be permitted by the FERPA statute, 20 USC 1232g, or FERPA regulations, 34 CFR part 99, or as required by law, or to carry out the purposes of 34 CFR part 106, including the conduct of any investigation, hearing, or judicial proceeding arising thereunder. Complaints alleging retaliation may be filed according to the grievance procedures for sex discrimination as set forth in this policy.

## SUSPECTED CHILD ABUSE

If the victim of the alleged sexual harassment is a minor student and if the alleged harassment falls within the definition of *abuse* as found in School Board policy *JGCE*, *Child Abuse*, then all school employees with knowledge shall be considered *mandatory reporters* and the allegations must be reported to child protection or law enforcement as provided by state law and School Board policy. Such reporting shall be made in addition to any procedures for handling sexual harassment complaints.

## **SEARCHES**

The Lincoln Parish School Board is the exclusive owner of any public school building and any desk or locker utilized by any student contained therein or any other area that may be set aside for the personal use of the students. Any teacher, principal, administrator, or school security guard employed by the School Board, having a reasonable belief that any public school building, desk, locker, area or grounds of any public school contains any weapons, illegal drugs, alcoholic beverages, nitrate based inhalants, stolen goods, or other items the possession of which is prohibited by any law, School Board policy, or school rule, may search such building, desk, locker, area or grounds of said public school. The acceptance and use of locker facilities or the parking of privately owned vehicles on school campuses by students shall constitute consent by the student to the search of such locker facilities or vehicles by authorized school personnel.

Any teacher, principal, administrator, or school security guard employed by the School Board, may search the person of a student or his/her personal effects when based on the attendant circumstances at the time of the search, there are reasonable grounds to suspect that the search will reveal evidence that the student has violated the law, School Board policy, or a school rule. Such a search shall be conducted in a manner that is reasonably related to the purpose of the search and the nature of the suspected offense. Such factors to be considered in determining the manner in which searches may be conducted are:

- 1. Age and sex of student
- 2. Behavior record of student
- 3. Need for search
- 4. Purpose of search
- 5. Type of search
- 6. Reliability of the information used to conduct search
- 7. The relative importance of making the search without delay
- 8. Nature and severity of problem in overall school environment

Random searches with a metal detector of a student or his/her personal effects may be conducted at any time, provided such searches are conducted without deliberate touching of the student.

Any search of student's person shall be done privately by a teacher, administrator, or security guard of the same sex as the student to be searched. At least one witness who is of the same sex as said student shall be present throughout the search. Detailed documentation shall be made of all searches. If requested, notification of the search shall be sent to the parents of the student involved.

Any automobile parked on School Board property by a student may also be searched at any time by school officials who have articulable facts which lead them reasonably to believe that items in violation of state law, School Board policy or school rule are contained therein. If the automobile is locked, the student shall unlock the vehicle. If the student refuses to unlock the vehicle, proper law enforcement authorities shall be summoned and the student shall be subject to disciplinary action.

No actions taken pursuant to this policy by any teacher, principal, administrator, or school security guard employed by the School Board shall be taken maliciously or with willful and deliberate intent to harass, embarrass or intimidate any student.

Upon proper school personnel confiscating any firearm, bomb, knife, or other implement which could be used as a weapon, or any controlled dangerous substance, the principal or designee shall report the confiscation to the appropriate law enforcement officials. Any implement or material confiscated shall be retained, catalogued, and secured by the principal so as to prevent the destruction, alteration, or disappearance until such time as the implement or material is given to law enforcement personnel for disposal. Any principal or designee failing to report any prohibited weapon or confiscated material or implement to law enforcement personnel or failing to properly secure any weapon or confiscated material or implement shall be subject to appropriate disciplinary action as may be determined by the Superintendent and/or Board.

If any teacher, principal, administrator, or school security guard employed by the School Board should be sued for damages by any student, the parent of such student or by any other person on behalf of such student, based upon a search conducted in compliance with this policy, the School Board shall provide such teacher, principal, administrator, or school security guard with a legal defense thereto, including reasonable attorney's fees, investigative costs and other related expenses. In such suit, the School Board shall indemnify him/her fully against said judgment including principal, interest and costs.

If in any suit brought against any teacher, principal, administrator, or school security guard employed by the School Board, as stated above, there is a specific finding that the action of the teacher, principal, administrator, or school security guard was malicious and willfully and deliberately intended to harass, embarrass or intimidate the student, the School Board shall not indemnify such teacher, principal, administrator, or school security guard in the event a judgment for damages shall be rendered against him/her. Whenever any search is conducted pursuant to this policy, a written record shall be made thereof by at least

two (2) adult employees of the Board who conducted the search and shall include names of the persons involved, the circumstances leading to the search and the results of the search.

## SERVICE ANIMALS IN SCHOOLS

The Lincoln Parish School Board does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, disability, or age in its programs and activities and acknowledges its responsibility to permit students and/or other individuals with disabilities the opportunity to participate in and benefit from School Board services, programs, and activities. The School Board shall permit the use of service animals by students and other individuals with disabilities when necessary in order to avoid discrimination on the basis of disability in accordance with the requirements of Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Amendments Act of 2008 (ADAAA) and its implementing regulations at 28 C.F.R. Part 35.

A service animal is defined as any dog that is individually trained to do work or perform tasks for the benefit of an individual with a disability, including a physical, sensory, psychiatric, intellectual, or other mental disability. Service animals are working animals, not pets. The work or task a dog has been trained to provide must be directly related to the person's disability. Dogs whose sole function is to provide comfort, emotional support, well-being, or companionship or whose presence is to provide a crime deterrent effect do not qualify as service animals under the ADAAA or this policy. Under appropriate circumstances and as determined on an individual basis, the School Board shall make reasonable modifications to its practices and procedures to permit the use of a miniature horse by an individual with a disability if the miniature horse has been individually trained to do work or perform tasks for the benefit of the individual with a disability. Other species of animals, whether wild or domestic, trained or untrained, shall not be considered service animals.

Service animals must be harnessed, leashed, or tethered, unless these devices interfere with the service animal's work or the individual's disability prevents the use of such devices. The individual with a disability must maintain control of the animal through voice, signal, or other effective commands when the use of harnesses or other such devices cannot be utilized due to interference with functional use of the service animal.

Because the School Board is responsible for the health and safety of school-age minors with and without disabilities who have limited options regarding classroom and school assignments, requests for an individual with a disability to be accompanied by a service animal on school premises or during school-related activities must first: (1) be submitted in writing to the Superintendent or his/her designee; (2) specify the need for use of the service animal; and (3) identify the work or tasks performed for the individual with a disability by the service animal. Such written request shall be required not less than ten (10) school days prior to the proposed use of the service animal and prior to bringing the service animal onto School board property or to a school-related activity. A determination as to whether a service animal is permitted on School Board property or at school-related activities shall be based on multiple factors and shall be determined on a case-by case basis following procedures approved by the Superintendent or his designee(s).

Individuals with disabilities shall be permitted to be accompanied by a service animal in those areas of School Board property that are generally open to the public or to participants in School Board programs, services, or activities.

The School Board reserves its right to request removal of a service animal from its premises and/or its programs, services, and activities if: (1) the animal is out of control and the handler does not take effective action to control it; or (2) the animal is not housebroken. Any individual with a disability whose service animal is excluded by the School Board shall be offered an opportunity to participate in such programs, services, or activities without the service animal.

A service animal shall be considered the personal property of the individual with a disability. The School Board shall not be responsible for the training, daily care, feeding, healthcare, or supervision of a service animal. Consistent with general policies of the School Board, an individual with a disability may be responsible for damages caused by his/her service animal while on school property or during school-related activities.

The School Board reserves its right to require proof that all dogs (including service animals), cats, and ferrets with whom children may come into contact while at school have been vaccinated against rabies by a licensed veterinarian in accordance with State law and administrative regulations promulgated by the Louisiana Department of Public Health.

Other regulations and/or procedures shall be maintained by the Superintendent and designated staff. Affected individuals may obtain additional information by contacting the School Board's Section 504/ADA/ADAAA Coordinator [and/or by visiting the School Board's official website.

## STUDENT PRIVACY AND EDUCATION RECORDS

The Lincoln Parish School Board acknowledges and affirms that parents, guardians, and students eighteen (18) years of age or older (eligible students) have certain rights under the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) and Louisiana law with respect to the privacy, inspection, review, and disclosure of personally identifiable information contained in the student's education records.

## **DEFINITIONS**

- 1. *Disclosure* shall mean to provide or permit access to, or the release, transfer, or other communication of personally identifiable information (PII) contained in education records by any means, including oral, written, or electronic means, to any party except the party identified as the party that provided or created the record.
- 2. Educational records shall be defined as records which are directly related to a student and are maintained by the Lincoln Parish School Board or school or by a person acting for the School Board or school. Excluded from the term educational records are records of instructional, supervisory or administrative personnel which are in the sole possession of the maker and are not accessible or revealed to any other individual except a temporary substitute for the maker of the record; records of a law enforcement unit of the School Board (if any); records created or received by the School Board after an individual is no longer a student in attendance and that are not directly related to the individual's attendance as a student; and grades on peer-graded papers before they are collected and recorded by a teacher.
- 3. *Eligible Student* means a student who has reached eighteen (18) years of age or is attending an institution of postsecondary education.
- 4. Legitimate educational interest shall be defined as the interest that requires regular access for purposes of adding material, periodic review, filing new student data and/or removing inadequate, ambiguous, no longer relevant data; the interest having the educational wellbeing of the student in mind for purposes of continuing, improving or changing the education program of the student and the interest in which the person has a legitimate need to know. The Superintendent shall have the authority to determine those individuals who have legitimate educational interests for purposes of this policy, except that any such authorization must be consistent with federal law (FERPA).

- 5. Parent or legal guardian shall mean a student's natural parent, legal guardian, or other person or entity responsible for the student in the absence of a parent or legal guardian.
- 6. *Personally identifiable information* shall be defined as information about an individual that may be used on its own or with other information to identify, contact, or locate a single individual, including but not limited to the following:
  - A. The student's name;
  - B. The name of the student's parent or other family members;
  - C. The address of the student or student's family member;
  - D. A personal identifier that can be used to distinguish or trace an individual's identity such as social security number, date and place of birth, mother's maiden name, or biometric records.
  - E. Any other information that is linked or linkable to a specific student such as medical, educational, financial, and employment information.
  - F. Two (2) or more pieces of information that separately or when linked together can be used to reasonably ascertain the identity of the person.
- 7. School official shall be defined as a teacher, school principal, counselor, attorney, accountant, human resources professional, information systems specialist, support or clerical personnel, school resource officer, authorized volunteer, or any school system employee who is authorized to perform a function or service on behalf of the Lincoln Parish School Board. A contractor, consultant, volunteer, or other party to whom a school or institution has outsourced institutional services or functions is also considered a school official provided that they are performing an institutional service or function for which the School Board would otherwise use employees and is under the direct control of the School Board with respect to the use and maintenance of education records. See 34 CFR §99.31(a)(1)(i)(B).

## FERPA PRIVACY RIGHTS

1. The right to inspect and review the student's education records within forty-five (45) days of the day the Lincoln Parish School Board receives a request for access.

Parents or eligible students who wish to inspect their child's or their education records should submit to the school principal [or appropriate school official] a written request that identifies the records they wish to inspect. The school official will make arrangements for access and notify the parent or eligible student of the time and place where the records may be inspected.

2. The right to request an amendment to the student's education records that the parent or eligible student believes is inaccurate or misleading, or otherwise in violation of the student's privacy rights.

Parents or eligible students who wish to ask the school to amend their child's or their education records should write the school principal [or appropriate school official] indicating their desire, clearly identify the part of the records they believe to be inaccurate or misleading, and specify why it should be amended. If the decision is not to amend the record as requested, the Superintendent, or designee, shall notify the parent or eligible student of the decision and of his/her right to a hearing regarding the request for amendment. Additional information regarding the hearing procedures will be provided to the parent or eligible student when notified of the right to a hearing.

3. The right to provide written consent to the disclosure of personally identifiable information (PII) contained within the student's education records, except to the extent that FERPA and Louisiana law authorize the disclosure without consent.

4. The right to file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Education concerning alleged failures by the School Board to comply with the requirements of FERPA.

## STUDENT IDENTIFICATION NUMBERS

To protect the privacy of its students, the Lincoln Parish School Board will utilize and assign to each student in its jurisdiction a unique student identification number in accordance with La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:3914(C)(3). The student identification numbers shall not include or be based on social security numbers.

## STUDENT INFORMATION DISCLOSURES

- 1. In accordance with La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:3914(H) and FERPA, access to student PII may be authorized by the Superintendent without parent/eligible student consent to *school officials* with legitimate educational interests. Disclosure of personally identifiable information from students' education records is also authorized without consent of the parent or eligible student, if the disclosure meets other conditions set forth below. The School Board is required to record disclosures of PII, except for disclosures to school officials, disclosures related to judicial orders or lawfully issued subpoenas, disclosures of directory information, and disclosures to the parent or eligible student. Parents and eligible students have a right to inspect and review the record of disclosures.
- 2. The Superintendent is authorized to disclose PII from the education records of a student, without obtaining prior written consent of the parents or the eligible student, as follows:
  - A. To other *school officials* whom the school has determined to have legitimate educational interests in accordance with the annual notification of FERPA rights. For contractors, the student PII may be transferred to computers operated and maintained by the contractor and the contractor shall not allow access to or release student PII to any person or entity except as specified in the contract.
  - B. Upon request, to officials of another school, school system or institution of postsecondary education where the student seeks or intends to enroll, or where the student is already enrolled if the disclosure is for purposes related to the student's enrollment or transfer. In accordance with the *Individuals with Disabilities Education Act* (IDEA), if a student with a disability is enrolled, or is going to enroll in a private school that is not located in the geographic jurisdiction of the Lincoln Parish School Board of the parent's residence, parental consent must be obtained before any personally identifiable information about the student is released between the School Board and the private school.
  - C. To authorized representatives of the U. S. Comptroller General, the U. S. Attorney General, the U.S. Secretary of Education, or the Louisiana Department of Education. Disclosures may be made in connection with an audit or evaluation of Federal- or State-supported education programs, or for the enforcement of or compliance with federal and State legal requirements that relate to those programs. Student information provided to School Board members, the Louisiana Department of Education (LDE), or the Louisiana Board of Elementary and Secondary Education (BESE) shall be identifiable only by a student's identification number and aggregate data and shall be disclosed solely for the purpose of satisfying state and federal reporting requirements. These entities may make further disclosures of PII to outside entities that are designated by them as their authorized representatives to conduct any audit, evaluation, or enforcement or compliance activity on their behalf, if applicable requirements are met.
  - D. In connection with financial aid for which the student has applied or which the student has received, if the information is necessary for such purposes to determine eligibility for the aid, determine the amount of the aid, determine the conditions of the aid, or enforce the terms and

conditions of the aid. Once the parent, guardian, or student of majority age has granted written consent for collection of certain data in accordance with La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:3914(K), such data shall be disclosed solely for purposes of processing a student's application to a Louisiana postsecondary education institution or to the Louisiana Office of Student Financial Assistance for receipt of financial aid pursuant to such consent. Failure to provide such consent may result in delays or prevent successful application for admission to a postsecondary educational institution and state and federal student aid. Consent provided under La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:3914(K) shall continue unless withdrawn in writing. Notice of a parent's right to withdraw their previously provided consent will be provided annually.

- E. To State and local officials or authorities to whom information is specifically allowed to be reported or disclosed as authorized a State statute that concerns the juvenile justice system and the system's ability to effectively serve, prior to adjudication, the student whose records were released.
- F. To organizations conducting studies for, or on behalf of, the school, in order to: (a) develop, validate, or administer predictive tests; (b) administer student aid programs; or (c) improve instruction, if applicable requirements are met. In no case shall a contractor be permitted to use student information to conduct predictive modeling for the purpose of limiting the educational opportunities of students.
- G. To accrediting organizations to carry out their accrediting functions.
- H. To parents of an eligible student, if the student is a dependent for IRS tax purposes.
- I. To comply with a judicial order or lawfully issued subpoena, subject to the requirements of federal and State law.
- J. To appropriate officials in connection with a health or safety emergency, subject to the requirements of federal and State law.
- K. To an agency caseworker or other representative of a State or local child welfare agency or tribal organization who is authorized to access a student's case plan when such agency or organization is legally responsible, in accordance with State or tribal law, for the care and protection of the student in foster care placement.
- L. To the Secretary of Agriculture or authorized representatives of the Food and Nutrition Service for purposes of conducting program monitoring, evaluations, and performance measurements of programs authorized under the Richard B. Russell National School Lunch Act or the Child Nutrition Act of 1966, under certain conditions.
- M. Information provided in accordance with a contract between the School Board and a public or private entity which has been contracted to perform student or education services, but only to the extent provided for in such a contract. Pursuant to La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:3913, information concerning the release of PII pursuant to any contract shall be available at the School Board's central office.
- N. Information required to be reported pursuant to Article 609 of the Louisiana Children's Code.

## **DIRECTORY INFORMATION**

Unless directed in writing otherwise by a student's parent, legal guardian or a student who has reached the age of majority, the Lincoln Parish School Board approves a person employed in a school or person authorized by the Superintendent to provide access to certain student personally identifiable information to further a legitimate educational purpose, in accordance with FERPA and La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:3914 as follows:

- 1. Information to facilitate a student's participation in a school-sanctioned extracurricular activity, including but not limited to a sport, organization or club;
- 2. Information to facilitate the operation and daily activities within district facilities, including but not limited to the display and use of student information in and around student facilities;
- 3. Programs and activities related to school-sanctioned performances or productions, events, award programs, and graduations;
- 4. University transcript requests, scholarships, and admissions;
- 5. LHSAA, NCAA, and other related sports programs or sanctioning entities;
- 6. Online resources and educational tools;
- 7. School photography and yearbook providers;
- 8. Any other information considered "Directory Information", to the extent allowed in FERPA.

In addition, two federal laws require School Boards receiving assistance under the *Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965*, as amended (ESEA) to provide military recruiters, upon request, with the following information – names, addresses and telephone listings – unless parents have advised the School Board that they do not want their student's information disclosed without their prior written consent. [Note: These laws are Section 9528 of the ESEA (20 U.S.C. §7908) and 10 U.S.C. §503(c).]. In accordance with federal statutory provisions, the School Board shall honor the requests of military recruiters for names, addresses and phone numbers of high school students, unless parents have specified that such information not be released to military recruiters. Opt-out procedures will be provided in the student handbook.

#### ELECTRONIC DATA GOVERNANCE

Except as provided below, no person or public or private entity shall access a public school computer system on which student information is stored. No official or employee of a public school system shall authorize access to such a computer system to any person or public or private entity except as authorized in this policy.

The following persons may access a public school computer system on which student information for students at a particular school is stored:

- 1. A student who has reached the age of eighteen or is judicially emancipated or emancipated by marriage and the parent or legal guardian of a student who is under the age of eighteen (18) and not emancipated. For a student who has reached the age of eighteen (18) or is emancipated, such access is limited to information about the student. For the parent or legal guardian of a student who has not reached the age of eighteen and is not emancipated, such access shall be limited to information about the student. A student who has reached the age of eighteen or is emancipated and the parent or legal guardian of a student who has not reached the age of eighteen and is not emancipated may authorize, in writing, another person to access such information.
- 2. A teacher of record. Such access shall be limited to information about his/her current students.

- 3. The school principal and school registrar.
- 4. A school system employee employed at the school and designated by the principal. Such access shall be limited to student information necessary to perform his/her duties.
- 5. A person authorized by the Superintendent to maintain or repair the computer system or to provide services that the school system would otherwise provide.
- 6. A person authorized by the state to audit student records. La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:3914(D)(2).

The following persons may access a computer system of a city, parish, or other local public school system on which student information for students from throughout the system is stored:

- 1. The Superintendent of the school system.
- 2. A school system employee designated by the Superintendent. Such access shall be limited to student information necessary to perform his/her duties.
- 3. A person authorized by the Superintendent to maintain or repair the computer system or to provide services that the school system would otherwise provide.
- 4. A person authorized by the state to audit student records. La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:3914(D)(3).

Any person who is authorized to access a public school computer system, except a parent or legal guardian, shall maintain the confidentiality of any student information to which he/she has access.

## PROTECTION OF PUPIL RIGHTS AMENDMENT (PPRA)

The Lincoln Parish School Board shall notify and permit parents/guardians/eligible students the opportunity to opt out of participation in student surveys, analyses, or evaluations that concern one or more of the following eight areas ("protected information surveys"): political affiliations or beliefs of the student or student's parent; mental or psychological problems of the student or family; sex behavior or attitudes; illegal, anti-social, self-incriminating, or demeaning behavior; critical appraisals of others with whom students have close family relationships; legally recognized privileged relationships (such as lawyers, doctors, or ministers); religious practices, affiliations, or beliefs; or income (other than required by law to determine program eligibility. This requirement applies to the collection, disclosure, or use of student information for marketing purposes. Protected information survey opt-out forms shall be published in the student handbook and on the Lincoln Parish School Board's website.

## **CREATION OF PROCEDURES**

The Lincoln Parish School Board recognizes its responsibility for establishing procedures governing the privacy of student records, consistent with federal and state laws and regulations. The School Board directs the Superintendent, or designee, to develop and maintain procedures for ensuring and exercising rights provided under this policy. Copies of implementing procedures shall be available at the School Board's central office and in each school office. Any access or disclosure and release of personally identifiable student information by the School Board and its assigns must be in accordance with federal and state law and regulations and authorized by the Superintendent.

## **EXEMPTION**

This policy shall not apply to the completion or correction of required submissions to the Louisiana Department of Education or response(s) to financial audits commenced prior to the 2015-2016 school year.

## REQUIREMENT FOR WRITTEN CONSENT

Written parental/eligible student consent shall be obtained prior to the release of any PII, unless the release of such PII is expressly authorized without written consent by this policy or by law.

## STUDENT FEES, FINES AND CHARGES

The Lincoln Parish School Board may impose certain student fees or charges to help offset special costs incurred in the operation of specific classrooms or subjects. Generally, students should not be denied or delayed admission nor denied access to any instructional activity due to failure or inability of their parent or guardian to pay a fee. Report cards and other academic records cannot be withheld for failure to pay a fee, pursuant to La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:112(C).

The School Board shall publish the *Student Fees, Fines and Charges* policy and procedures on its website. Each school shall publish the policy on its website and include it in the school's student handbook which shall be provided to each student and his/her parent or legal guardian at the beginning of each school year in the manner determined by the School Board.

The Student Fees, Fines and Charges policy shall be reviewed annually and revised as necessary.

## **DEFINITIONS**

Fees shall mean any monetary payment or supplies required as a condition of a student being enrolled in school or participating in any curricular or co-curricular activity. Fees shall not include supplies or monetary payment for extracurricular activities. Fees shall not mean the cost of school meals.

Curricular and co-curricular activities are activities that are relevant, supportive, that are an integral part of the program of studies in which the student is enrolled, and that are under the supervision and/or coordination of the school instructional staff.

Extracurricular activities are those activities which are not directly related to the program of studies, which are under the supervision and/or coordination of the school instructional staff, and which are considered valuable for the overall development of the student.

## **REGULATIONS**

- 1. A school shall not charge or assess a fee unless the fee has been set and included in the School Board's approved *Schedule of Fees*.
- 2. Fees charged for the same item or service shall be consistent among all schools under the jurisdiction of the School Board.
- 3. Failure by a student, or parent on behalf of their child, to pay any required fee shall not result in the withholding of a student's educational record.

## SCHEDULE OF FEES

A list of authorized fees, including their purpose, use, amount or authorized range, and how each fee is collected, shall be as listed on the *Schedule of Fees* (Appendix A) attached to this policy.

## **Economic Hardship Waivers**

A student or his/her parent or legal guardian may request and receive a waiver of payment of a fee due to economic hardship. Waivers of fees shall be granted based on objective criteria which shall include the following, relative to the student or his/her family:

- Family or student is homeless.
- One or both parents receive unemployment benefits.
- Parent is incarcerated.
- One or both parents are active or retired military.
- Student has been emancipated.
- Multiple student fees due within the same household.
- Single parent household.
- Student qualifies for free or reduced meals at school.
- Family receives Medicaid.
- Family receives SNAP (Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program).
- Foster children in the household.
- Family receives SSI.
- Family receives TANF (Temporary Assistance for Needy Families).

A completed *Student Fee Hardship Waiver* form shall be submitted to the principal of the school or his/her designee for consideration. Proof of eligibility shall be included with the *Student Fee Hardship Waiver form*. A written decision on the waiver request shall be rendered by October 1 or within ten (10) days if submitted after October 1. Should the initial request to the principal of the school for a waiver be denied, a written appeal may be made to the Superintendent or his/her designee, who shall respond to the appeal in writing within ten (10) school days of the receipt of the appeal.

All requests for economic hardship waivers of student fees and any and all supporting documentation used in considering the validity of any request for a waiver shall be *confidential*.

All records associated with a fee waiver request due to economic hardship shall not constitute a *public record*, but may be audited to ensure compliance with the School Board's policy. A student's *personally identifiable information* associated with such a waiver request shall **not** be made public.

## SCHOOL SUPPLIES

School supplies requested by classroom teachers of a student's parent or legal guardian shall not exceed a published amount per student per school year as determined by the School Board. Each school principal shall approve all school supplies requested by classroom teachers. Prior to assessing a fee for school supplies or developing a school supply list, consideration shall be given to the existing school supply inventory. A student shall not be denied the opportunity to participate in a classroom activity due to his or her inability to provide requested supplies.

## DAMAGE TO TEXTBOOKS/INSTRUCTIONAL MATERIALS

The School Board may require parents and/or legal guardians to compensate the school district for lost, destroyed, or unnecessarily damaged books and materials, and for any books which are not returned to the proper schools at the end of each school year or upon withdrawal of their dependent child. Under no circumstances may a student of school age be held financially responsible for fees associated with textbook replacement.

Compensation by parents or guardians may be in the form of monetary fees or community/school service activities, as determined by the School Board. In the case of monetary fees, fines shall be limited to no more than the replacement cost of the textbook or material, but may, at the discretion of the School Board, be adjusted according to the physical condition of the lost or destroyed textbook. A school system may waive or

reduce the payment required if the student is from a family of low income and may provide for a method of payment other than lump-sum payment.

Under no circumstances may a school or school district refuse the parent/guardian the right to inspect relevant grades or records pertaining to the child nor may the school or school district refuse to promptly transfer the records of any child withdrawing or transferring from the school, per requirements of the *Federal Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act*.

Under no circumstances may a school or school district deny a student promotional opportunities, as a result of failure to compensate the school district for lost or damaged textbooks. Students shall not be denied continual enrollment each grading period nor re-entry in succeeding school years as a result of lost or damaged books.

Students shall not be denied the use of a textbook or technology during school hours each day. The school system shall annually inform parents and/or legal guardians of the locally adopted procedures pursuant to state law and regulation, regarding reasonable and proper control of textbooks.

# Appendix A – Lincoln Parish School Board Schedule of Fees

Amount Not to Exceed	Use of Fee	Collection Method
	Instructional Materials	Due at beginning of school; can
\$15	* * *	be on payment plan if needed
	Copies/paper	
		Due at beginning of school; can
*-·		be on payment plan if needed
\$25 Non-Title 1 Schools	1 1 1 1	
\$10		Due at beginning of year
	expenses, flower arrangements	
\$20 or purchase from vendor	Student PE uniform	Beginning of year; can be put on
		payment plan if needed
Cost of replacement	Replace or lost damaged	Due by end of school year
•	property	
Cost of trip	Event costs and bus fees	Due in advance of field trip;
A40 1 6 1	GI : I : O	school pays if educational trip
\$40 or purchase from vendor	E 1	Monthly rental of instrument
A.5.0		5 .1
\$50		Due at beginning of school;
		school helps provide if needed
	,	Due by date of jean opportunity
¢1		Due by date of Jean opportunity
\$1		Due by various predetermined
Cost of avant or item	_	dates
Cost of event of item		dates
	club materials, etc.	
	\$15  \$20 Title 1 Schools \$25 Non-Title 1 Schools \$10  \$20 or purchase from vendor  Cost of replacement	\$15  Instructional Materials Classroom/Art Supplies Copies/paper Copier Supplies/Expenses Instructional Materials Classroom/Art Supplies (Classroom/Art Supplies (Classroom/Art Supplies (Copies/paper Copier Supplies/Expenses (Copies/paper Copier Supplies/Expenses (Copier Supplies/Expenses (Copier Supplies/Expenses) (Copier Supplies (Copier Supplies (Classroom/Art Supplies (Copier Supplies (Capplies/Expenses) (Copier Supplies (Copier Supplies (Classroom/Art Supplies (Classroom/Art Supplies (Classroom/Art Supplies (Classroom/Art Supplies (Classroom/Art Supplies (Cappers/Expenses) (Papers (Copier Supplies/Expenses) (Copier Supplies (Copier Supplies (Classroom/Art Supplies (Classroom/Art Supplies (Classroom/Art Supplies (Cappers/Expenses) (Cappers/Expenses (Classroom/Art Supplies (Cappers/Expenses) (Papers (Copier Supplies/Expenses) (Cappers/Expenses) (Cappers/Expenses) (Classroom/Art Supplies (Classroom/Art Supplies (Classroom/Art Supplies (Classroom/Art Supplies (Cappers/Expenses) (Papers (Copier Supplies (Cappers) (Copier Supplies (Co

## **SUSPENSION**

The Lincoln Parish School Board recognizes its authority to maintain good order and discipline within the schools of the school district. Therefore, the School Board recognizes the principal's authority to suspend a student for a specified period of time in accordance with statutory provisions.

Prior to any out-of-school suspension or assignment to alternative placement, the school principal or his/her designee shall advise the student of the particular misconduct of which he/she is accused as well as the basis for such accusation, and the student shall be given an opportunity at that time to explain his/her version of the facts. The principal/designee shall contact the parent or legal guardian of the student to notify them of the suspension, and establish a date and time for a conference with the principal or designee as a requirement for readmitting the student. *Notice* shall be given by contacting the parent or legal guardian by telephone at the telephone number shown on the student 's registration card, or by electronic communication or by a certified letter sent to the address shown on the student's registration card. The principal shall promptly advise the Superintendent or designee of all such suspensions, stating the reasons for the suspensions.

A student who is suspended for longer than ten (10) days shall be provided with academic instruction at an alternative setting in accordance with La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:416.2.

No suspended student shall be allowed to leave the school premises during the school day until the parent, guardian, or other proper authorities assume responsibility for him/her, unless immediate removal from school due to danger or threat of disruption to academic process is warranted.

If the parent, or legal guardian fails to attend the required conference within five (5) school days of notification, the truancy laws shall be effective. On not more than one occasion each school year when the parent, or legal guardian refuses to respond to the notice, the principal may determine whether readmitting the student is in the best interest of the student. On any subsequent occasions in the same school year, the student shall not be readmitted unless the parent, or legal guardian, court, or other appointed representative responds.

If a teacher, principal, or other school employee is authorized to require the parent, or legal guardian of a student to attend a conference or meeting regarding the student's behavior and after notice, the parent, or legal guardian willfully refuses to attend, the principal or his/her designee shall file a complaint, in accordance with statutory provisions, with a court exercising juvenile jurisdiction.

When a student is suspended for a second time within one school year, the principal may require a counseling session be held with the parent and student by the school counselor. In the event there is no school counselor assigned to that school, the principal may require a conference between the parent, student and all the student 's teachers and the principal or other administrator.

Any student, after being suspended on three (3) occasions for committing drugs or weapons offenses during the same school year, **shall** upon committing the fourth offense, be expelled from all the public schools of the system until the beginning of the next regular school year, and the student 's reinstatement shall be subject to the review and approval of the School Board.

A student suspended for damages to any property belonging to the school system or to property contracted to the school system or any property on school grounds owned by a school employee or student shall not be readmitted until payment in full has been made for such damage, an alternative restitution arrangement has been executed, an alternative payment plan has been arranged, or until directed by the Superintendent. If the property damaged is a school bus owned by, contracted to, or jointly owned by any school board, a student suspended for such damage shall not be permitted to enter or ride any school bus until payment in full has been made for the damage, an alternative restitution arrangement has been executed, an alternative payment plan has been arranged, or until directed by the Superintendent.

The principal and other appropriate personnel shall be required to file written documentation of all suspensions. Said documentation shall include the circumstances surrounding any suspension, the reason for suspension, and any other pertinent facts concerning the disciplinary action. The principal shall file copies of his/her report with the Superintendent, other appropriate personnel and the parent or guardian and retain a copy for his/her records.

Upon the seizure by any teacher, principal, school security guard, or other school administrator of any firearm, knife, or other dangerous implement which could be used as a weapon or inflict injury, the principal or his or her designee shall be required to report the confiscation to appropriate law enforcement officials.

## **Appeal**

Any parent, or legal guardian of a student suspended shall have the right to appeal to the Superintendent or his/her designee, who shall conduct a hearing on the merits. If the parent or legal guardian is not present for the hearing after having been properly notified, the hearing may proceed and the results of the hearing shall be mailed to the parent or legal guardian within three (3) school days by certified mail, return receipt requested. The decision of the Superintendent on the merits of the case, as well as the term of the out-of-school suspension, shall be final, reserving to the Superintendent the right to remit any portion of the time of out-of-school suspension.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parent or legal guardian of a student who has been recommended for expulsion but suspended instead following a hearing conducted by the Superintendent or his/her designee shall have the right to request review by the School Board of the findings of the Superintendent or designee at a time set by the School Board. Such request must be made within five (5) days after the decision is rendered, or the decision of the Superintendent or designee shall be final. The School Board may affirm, modify, or reverse the action previously taken.

The parent or legal guardian of the student may, within ten (10) school days, appeal to the judicial district court an adverse ruling of the School Board in upholding the action of the Superintendent or designee. The court may reverse or revise the ruling of the School Board upon a finding that the ruling of the School Board was based on an absence of any relevant evidence in support thereof.

## **MANDATORY SUSPENSION**

## Firearms, Knives, Other Dangerous Instrumentalities, Drugs

The principal or his/her designee shall be required to suspend a student who:

- 1. is found carrying or possessing a firearm or a knife with a blade two and one-half (2 ½) inches or longer, or another dangerous instrumentality, except as provided below under the section entitled *Suspension Not Applicable*; or
- 2. possesses, distributes, sells, gives, or loans any controlled dangerous substance governed by state law, in any form.

Additionally, the principal or his/her designee shall immediately recommend the student's expulsion to the Superintendent, for the above offenses, except in the case of a student less than eleven (11) years of age in pre-kindergarten through grade 5 who is found carrying or possessing a knife with a blade two and one half (2  $\frac{1}{2}$ ) inches or longer, the principal may recommend the student's expulsion. A student found carrying or possessing a knife with a blade less than two and one half (2  $\frac{1}{2}$ ) inches in length may be suspended by the school principal, but, in appropriate cases, at a minimum, shall be placed in *in-school suspension*.

## Assault or Battery of School Employees

Whenever a student is formally accused of violating state law or school disciplinary regulations, or both, by committing assault or battery on any school employee, the principal shall suspend the student from school immediately and the student shall be removed immediately from the school premises without the benefit of required out-of-school suspension procedures; however, the necessary notifications and other procedures shall be implemented as soon as practicable. The student shall not be readmitted to the school to which the employee is assigned until all hearings and appeals associated with the alleged violation have been exhausted.

## SUSPENSION NOT APPLICABLE

Suspension of a student shall not apply to the following:

- 1. A student carrying or possessing a firearm or knife for purposes of involvement in a school class, course, or school-approved cocurricular or extracurricular activity or any other activity approved by appropriate school officials.
- 2. A student possessing any controlled dangerous substance that has been obtained directly or due to a valid prescription or order from a licensed medical provider. However, the student shall carry evidence of the prescription or medical provider's order on his/her person at all times when in possession of any controlled dangerous substance which shall be subject to verification. Evidence of the prescription or medical provider's order includes possession of the controlled dangerous substance in its original packaging as received from the pharmacy.

In addition, school officials, in accordance with statutory provisions, shall have total discretion and shall exercise such discretion in imposing on a student any disciplinary actions authorized by state law for possession by a student of a firearm or knife on school property when such firearm or knife is stored in a motor vehicle and there is no evidence of the student 's intent to use the firearm or knife in a criminal manner.

## DRESS CODE VIOLATIONS

A student enrolled in grades prekindergarten through five shall not be suspended from school or suspended from riding on any school bus for a uniform violation that is not tied to willful disregard of school policies.

## CREDIT FOR SCHOOL WORK MISSED

A student who is suspended for ten (10) days or fewer shall be assigned school work missed while he/she is suspended and shall receive the same credit originally available for such work, upon the recommendation of the student's teacher, if it is completed satisfactorily and timely as determined by the principal or his/her designee.

A student who is suspended for more than ten (10) days and receives educational services at an alternative school site, shall be assigned work by a certified teacher and shall receive credit for school work if it is completed satisfactorily and timely as determined by the teacher. Such work shall be aligned with the curriculum used at the school from which the student is suspended.

## RECUSAL OF ADMINISTRATOR IN DISCIPLINE MATTERS

Any school administrator or administrator's designee who is required to make a recommendation, decide an issue, or take action in a matter involving the discipline of a student shall recuse himself/herself whenever a member of the immediate family of the administrator or administrator's designee is involved in any manner in

the discipline matter. In case of recusal, the action to be taken shall be done so by the Superintendent or an impartial designee of the Superintendent.

*Immediate family* means the individual's children, brothers, sisters, parents, and spouse and the children, brothers, sisters, and parents of the spouse.

## SUSPENSION OF STUDENTS WITH DISABILITIES OR EXCEPTIONALITIES

Suspension of students with disabilities or exceptionalities, or an Individualized Education Program, or Section 504 Individualized Accommodation Plan shall be to the extent allowed by applicable state or federal law and regulations or the provisions of the student's specific plan.

## TITLE IX

The Lincoln Parish School Board and all offices under its jurisdiction declare that no person shall, on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, disability, or age, be discriminated against in admission or access to or treatment or employment in, its programs and activities. The School Board is an equal employment opportunity agency and is dedicated to a policy of nondiscrimination in employment or training. Qualified persons, applicants or employees shall not be excluded from any course or activity because of age, race, creed, color, sex, religion, national origin, or qualified disability.

The Superintendent and/or his/her appropriate representative investigate any and all complaints that may be brought against any individual school in the school district in regard to any alleged discriminatory action for appropriate treatment by the School Board.

Any inquiries, concerns, or complaints related to discrimination based on sex should be brought to the attention of the Lincoln Parish School Board's Title IX Coordinator. The Title IX Coordinator may be contacted, as follows:

John Young, Assistant Superintendent 410 South Farmerville St. Ruston, LA 71270 318-255-1430 Email: john.young@lincolnschools.org

## STUDENT USE OF TOBACCO PRODUCTS

Student possession or use of any tobacco product, smokeless tobacco, or any smoking object/device, including but not limited to electronic cigarettes, advanced personal vaporizers, vape pens, vape mods and similar devices, shall be prohibited on and in all Lincoln Parish School Board property and vehicles, and at all school-sponsored or school-approved functions.

School Board property shall include any elementary or secondary school buildings or grounds, buildings, portable buildings, field houses, stadiums, equipment storage areas, vacant land, or any other property owned, operated, or leased by the School Board.

Parental permission to smoke does not exempt a student from this policy.

## TRANSFER GUIDELINES

Students in the Lincoln Parish School District must attend school in the attendance area in which the legal residence of their legal guardian is located unless granted a transfer by appropriate District staff. Parents/guardians may request a transfer for their children based *only* on the five reasons outlined below. To request a transfer of any nature, parents/guardians must provide <u>all</u> of the following:

- 1. This completed Transfer Request Form (incomplete forms will not be considered);
- 2. A notarized affidavit (provided on this form) including a detailed explanation of the reason for the transfer request; and
- 3. All documentation required by the applicable provision below or otherwise supporting the request.

All Transfer Request forms and supporting documents must be submitted to the Lincoln Parish School Board Office, 410 S. Farmerville St., Ruston, LA 71270, between May 1 and July 31 each year. Transfer applications received outside of that period will only be considered if such requests are based upon one of the reasons outlined below which did not arise or was not known to the applicant prior to the deadline, as evidenced by supporting documentation, and if the request otherwise complies with all other policy terms. All approved transfers are valid for one school year only and must be renewed by application for subsequent years. Once a transfer request is approved, the student must remain at the requested school for the entire school year unless otherwise approved by the district Child Welfare Attendance Officer. Parents must fill out a separate transfer form for each sibling for whom a transfer is requested. Transportation will not be provided for students granted a transfer. Falsifying any information on a transfer requests shall result in revocation of transfer approval. Changes in circumstances which allowed the transfer may require the student to return to the school in their residential attendance zone. The legal guardian and student who is approved for a transfer shall be required to sign a contract at the receiving school regarding attendance and discipline. If the terms of that contract are broken by the parent or student, the Superintendent/Child Welfare Attendance Officer shall have the right to take appropriate action, including, but not limited to, the return of the student to his/her school of residence.

• Specialized Academic, Vocational, Athletic, or Special Education Curriculum not offered in the student's assigned school. Documentation required: (1) verification from the principal of the sending school that the specific program and/or curriculum is not available at his/her school, and (2) from the principal of the receiving school that the specific program or curriculum is available at his/her school and that the student qualifies for such program or curriculum. Such a transfer for non-academic programs may be denied if capacity at the receiving school does not exist.

## • <u>Health of the student</u>

A transfer may be granted to a student where attendance at the student's assigned school would place the student's physical or mental health in jeopardy and where attendance at another school would better meet the student's health needs. <u>Documentation required</u>: A statement of support from at least two (2) non-associated medical doctors (M.D.s) or mental health providers certifying the student's health condition, explaining in detail why attendance at the sending school places the student's health in jeopardy, and why attendance at the requested school is better for the student's health condition. At least one of the doctors providing a supporting letter must be the student's treating physician.

- <u>Safety of the student</u> A transfer may be granted to a student whose safety or well-being is at jeopardy in the student's assigned school.
   <u>Documentation required</u>: A statement signed by the student's parent/guardian and the principal of the sending school outlining the potential harm to the student in that school, together with any supporting documentation that may be available, and a statement on how the receiving school will address the student's specific safety concerns.
- <u>Child of a full-time/board-hired teacher or administrator</u> The child of a full-time, Board-hired, certified staff member who is verified as actually living with said employee, may attend the school of applicable grade level within the attendance zone of the school where the parent works

as long as the transfer does not impede desegregation obligations. <u>Documentation required</u>: A letter from the LPSB personnel office stating the job title and school assignment of the employee verifying full-time/board-hired status and job assignment.

## • Exceptional hardship

<u>Documentation required</u>: (1) A signed, dated, and notarized statement from the parent providing a detailed explanation of (a) the exceptional hardship of the student that necessitates the transfer of the student (i.e., incarceration or terminal illness of a parent, domestic abuse or neglect affecting the student or parent, natural disaster, an event that places the student in physical, mental, or academic jeopardy, etc.), (b) why the hardship requires a transfer from the sending school, and (c) why the receiving school can best accommodate the hardship; and (2) supporting documentation such as a signed letter(s) of support from doctor, governmental authority, or others confirming the existence of the hardship and that the receiving school can best accommodate the hardship.

NOTE: Before or after school childcare needs will not qualify as an exceptional hardship.

## **TRUANCY**

The Lincoln Parish School Board recognizes truancy as absence from class or school for any portion of a period or day without permission from home or school. Students shall not be allowed to leave the campus without proper permission at any time during the school day, including before school begins, after school while waiting for their bus, or any disciplinary session which the student has been directed to attend. Students shall remain on the campus at all times unless granted permission to be off-campus, or be subject to disciplinary action. Violations of attendance laws and regulations may lead to suspension and/or expulsion from school.

School personnel shall be expected to make every reasonable effort to assist a child who is habitually absent or tardy. A student shall be considered habitually absent or habitually tardy when either condition continues to exist after all reasonable efforts by any school personnel, truant officer, or other law enforcement personnel have failed to correct the condition after the fifth (5th) unexcused absence or fifth (5th) unexcused occurrence of being tardy within any school semester. Any student who is a juvenile and who is considered habitually absent from school or habitually tardy shall be reported by visiting teachers and Supervisors of Child Welfare and Attendance to the family or juvenile court of the parish or city as a truant child. Upon the third tardy to school, a parent will receive a letter from the attendance officer that will serve notice to the parent that upon the fifth tardy to school, the parent may be subject to a citation from an SRO officer or his designee.

*Tardy*, for the purpose of notification, shall include, but not be limited to being late to school, or leaving or checking out of school unexcused prior to the regularly scheduled dismissal time at the end of the school day. However, it shall not include reporting late to class when transferring from one class to another during the school day.

## **GUARDIAN RESPONSIBLE**

With regard to any student in grades kindergarten (K) through eighth (8th) grade who is considered habitually absent or tardy, in any case where the student is the subject of a court ordered custody or visitation plan, the parent or legal guardian who is lawfully exercising actual physical custody or visitation of the student shall be responsible for the student's attendance at school on those days and shall be solely responsible for any absence or tardiness of the child on such days.

## **VISITORS**

Principals shall be responsible for establishing procedures that ensure the proper protection of instructional time and the welfare of the students and employees. In accordance with state law, no person is allowed on school grounds or in school buildings or facilities without authorization from the appropriate school official. Therefore, all visitors shall report to the principal's office immediately upon coming onto school grounds for their visit. Office personnel, principal, counselor, etc., shall be made aware of the purpose of the visit. If at all possible, all visits should be pre-arranged. Principals are authorized to take the necessary steps in dealing with unauthorized visitors.

The Board, in accordance with state law, shall authorize principals, school administrators, or school security guards to search the person, and any item in the possession of a person who is not a student enrolled in school, or any school employee, while in or on any school property. The search may be conducted at random with a metal detector, or physically when there is reasonable suspicion that such person has any weapons, illegal drugs, alcohol, stolen goods, or other materials which violate Board policy.

## The Crimestoppers Safe Schools Louisiana App

Students, parents, and teachers can download the Crimestoppers "Safe School Louisiana" App in the app store to their smartphone. Next, create a password, complete the form with information about a crime or potentially dangerous situation on their school campus, add pictures and videos if applicable, and simply, "Submit" the tip. The tip is routed through P3 Campus - Anderson Software, the leading online tip solution provider, which notifies Crimestoppers as well as a school administrator. The school administrator and/or the designated school's Safe School Coordinator investigates the tip and then sends a disposition to Crimestoppers to close out the case. Tipsters are ONLY identified by their tip number which is received after the tip has been submitted. The tipster's identity is completely anonymous.

Tipsters may also maintain a "real time" dialogue with the Call Center by leaving their chat box open. This is critical for students who are threatening self harm or active shooters.

The Crimestoppers Call Center technicians will process tips 24 hours a day/7 days a week. Emergency tips are a priority and a "Life Safety Process"can be implemented with designated school liaisons to ensure timely handling of these situations.

# Signature Page for Lincoln Parish School Board Student Handbooks and Assurances 2023-24

## Students and Parents,

A separate copy of this assurance has been provided by your school. Please sign and return that copy so that the school will have a record that you have received and reviewed this handbook. Notwithstanding, ignorance of this handbook or its contents shall not constitute a defense or excuse.

We hereby acknowledge that we have read the student handbook. We agree that the student shall be accountable for ALL rules and regulations in this handbook including district guidelines, policies, and procedures. Furthermore, we agree that the student will:

- -attend school daily (except when absent for reasons due to illness or other excused reasons)
- -arrive at school on time each day
- -complete all required classwork and homework assignments
- -follow the school and classroom rules

## Parents agree to the following:

- 1. As parent/guardian, we also agree to attend all required parent and teacher or principal conferences.
- 2. Promptly pick up a student who is having symptoms of a respiratory illness, fever of 100.4 or greater, or any other illness deemed necessary by the school nurse.
- 3. As a parent/guardian, we also agree to health screenings conducted by school nurses, with examples being vision, hearing, scoliosis, bugs/pests, etc.
- 4. As a parent/guardian, we also agree to the mental health screeners as required by LDOE for my child. I understand students in grades K-2 may be screened by the teacher or complete a self-screener if capable. Students in grades 3-12 will complete a self-screener. *Panorama Education* will be utilized to complete the screenings twice per year. Furthermore, I understand LPSB will use the results of this screener to establish support for their students as deemed necessary. All screening data is considered confidential.
- 5. Discuss the Bullying and Hazing Policy with your student. All students will participate in an anti-bullying program. This program will be administered using the *Vector Solutions/Safe Schools* digital platform for grades 6-12 and by school counselors in grades K-5.
- 6. Due to ACT 567 of the 2022 Regular Session, school districts are now required to share a student's data for the sole purpose of evaluating state and federal programs that prepare students for postsecondary education, workforce training, and employment. Parents must opt-in or opt-out of sharing their child's information with the Louisiana Workforce Commission. This form is available at all high schools and only applies to students in grades 9-12.
- 7. We have read the Lincoln Parish School Board's <u>Acceptable Use Policy for School Computer Systems and the Internet Student Use</u>. We hereby release the Lincoln Parish School Board, its personnel, and any institutions with which it is affiliated, from any and all claims and damages of any nature arising from the child's misuse or inability to use, the Lincoln Parish School Board's system, including, but not limited to claims that may arise from the unauthorized use of the system to purchase products or services. This release includes students who have been issued school devices to use at home or at school, as well as devices located on school property.
- 8. My child has permission to communicate virtually through technology with his/her teachers, paras, or other school personnel for instructional or evaluation purposes which may be in the form of video and/or audio conferencing. I understand the teacher/resident may wear cameras in order to be observed virtually, and my child may appear in an audio or video for the purpose of standard observation requirements for the teacher/resident. Furthermore, I understand that LPSB will make every effort to avoid displaying my child's name or picture when using technology to instruct other students.
- 9. I also acknowledge I have received the LPSB policy on Parent & Family Engagement and that parents/guardians should play an integral role in assisting with their child's learning. Furthermore I will be provided with on-going engagement activities and opportunities to provide feedback in order to improve my child's academic achievement. As a parent/guardian, I also have the right to request information about the qualifications of my child's teachers/paraprofessionals, may request to be notified if my child is being taught for 4 or more consecutive weeks by an uncertified teacher, as well as request an explanation of standards, curriculum, and assessments.

We give permission for the student's name, photo, videos, writing, artwork, etc. be published on the World Wide Web, local newspaper, local cable channels, or other public forums throughout the year.

We understand that this school, as part of the Lincoln Parish School System, collects personally identifiable information: full name, date of birth, social security number, and student transcript data. We further understand that this school and the Lincoln Parish School System maintain the confidentiality of this information as set forth by Louisiana ACT No. 837. The Lincoln Parish School Board will follow all local, state, and federal data security rules and only share the data that is required for the purposes stated.

We understand that by our signature we are giving consent for the school and Lincoln Parish School Board to disclose pertinent information to Louisiana postsecondary educational institutions; the Office of Student Financial Assistance to be used solely for the purpose of processing applications for admission and for state and federal financial aid; LHSAA; NCAA; clubs and organizations, programs for graduations; performances and award programs; photography providers; curriculum vendor systems, etc.

We understand that failure to provide written consent for the collection and disclosure of the student's information may result in delays or may prevent successful application for admission to a postsecondary educational institution and for state and federal student financial aid.

We also want to ensure parents know that we are providing class wide Social Emotional Learning (SEL) to all students. This will be provided via Google Classroom, Face:Face, and possibly via recording. The school based Mental Health Counselors, School Psychologists, Interns and Teachers will provide these lessons. Legislative mandates such as *Erin's Law* (sexual abuse awareness) and the *Suicide, Safety, and Violence Education Act* will be addressed using age appropriate materials and instruction. Louisiana requires that all public schools implement a prevention oriented child sexual abuse program.

If any parent/guardian does not agree to any specific use of student information or the administration of the *Panorama Education* screeners as described herein, please express any objections in writing, in a separate letter, and submit it to the principal.

Parent/Guardian Signature	Date	
Student Name (Print)		
Student Signature	Homeroom Teacher	